Public Document Pack

A meeting of the Health & Social Care Integration Joint Board Audit Committee will be
held on Monday, 9th December, 2019 at 2.00 pm in the Board Room, Newstead,
Melrose
AGENDA
Time

No

Lead

Paper

14.00

1

ANNOUNCEMENTS &
APOLOGIES

Chair

Verbal

14.01

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Chair

Verbal

14.02

3

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS
MEETING
Monday 12 August 2019

Chair

(Pages 3 6)

14.05

4

MATTERS ARISING
Action Tracker

Chair

(Pages 7 10)

14.10

5

MID-YEAR PROGRESS UPDATE
ON INTERNAL AUDIT WORK

Chief Internal
Auditor

(Pages 11 20)

14.25

6

PROGRESS ON
IMPLEMENTATION BY
MANAGEMENT OF INTERNAL
AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS

Chief Internal
Auditor

(Pages 21 26)

14.40

7

AUDITOR GENERAL FOR
SCOTLAND - BRIEFING:
PLANNING FOR OUTCOMES

Chief Officer

(Pages 27 42)

14.55

8

AUDIT SCOTLAND REPORT NHS WORKFORCE PLANNING

Chief Officer

(Pages 43 80)

15.10

9

AUDIT SCOTLAND REPORT -

Chief Officer

(Pages 81 -

NHS IN SCOTLAND 2019

126)

15.15

10

ANY OTHER BUSINESS

Chair

Verbal

15.30

11

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT
MEETING
Monday 9 March 2020
2.00pm to 4.00pm
Committee Room 4, Scottish
Borders Council HQ

Chair

Verbal

Membership of Committee:- Councillor J Greenwell, Councillor T
Weatherston (Chair), Mr M Dickson and Mrs K Hamilton (NonExecutive Directors NHS Borders) and Mr A Clark (External Member)

Louise Ramage
Business Lead for Health & Social Care
Scottish Borders Health & Social Care Partnership
Tel: 01896 828290 (NHS Borders); 01835 826685 (Scottish Borders
Council)
Email: Louise.Ramage@borders.scot.nhs.uk

Agenda Item 3

Minutes of a meeting of the Scottish Borders Health and Social Care Integration Joint
Board Audit Committee held on Monday 12 August 2019 at 2.00pm in Committee Room 1,
Scottish Borders Council, Newtown St Boswells.
Present:

Cllr T Weatherston (Chair)
Mr M Dickson

Cllr J Greenwell
Mrs K Hamilton

In attendance: Mrs J Stacey (Chief Internal Auditor)
Mr M Porteous (Chief Finance Officer)
Mr R McCulloch-Graham (Chief Officer) Mr G Samson (Audit Scotland)
Mrs G Woolman (Audit Scotland)
Miss L Ramage (Business Lead)
1.

Apologies and Announcements

Apologies had been received from Ms Sue Holmes (Principal Internal Auditor) and Mr Anson
Clark (Independent Member).
The Chair confirmed the meeting was quorate.
2.

Declarations of Interest

The Chair sought any verbal declarations of interest pertaining to items on the agenda.
The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
AUDIT COMMITTEE noted there were none.
3.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 5 June 2019 were approved.
4.

Matters Arising

The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
AUDIT COMMITTEE updated and noted the action tracker.

Page13of 3
Page

5.
External Audit Annual Audit Report 2018/19 for the Scottish Borders Health and
Social Care Integration Joint Board
Mrs Gillian Woolman presented the Independent Auditor’s report on the Annual Accounts
2018/19, with an unqualified audit opinion.
Members discussed the content of the report and were asked to note that no changes were
expected with the submission of the report.
Cllr John Greenwell asked for clarification on the Integration Joint Board’s (IJB) Reserves.
Mrs Gillian Woolman explained the possibility of the IJB carrying forward general funds, if
under spent via a local Reserves Policy which is in development.
Queries were raised regarding the appropriate signposting of meeting papers on Scottish
Borders Council and NHS Borders websites, as per page 16; point 57. Mrs Jill Stacey
confirmed all IJB meeting information is published online for public viewing.
The Chair asked if the attendance details of members on the websites can be reviewed, as
there remains a lot of an inaccuracy.
Mrs Jill Stacey referenced page 19; point 6 and the intention that the internal audit plans of
the partner organisations will be summarised into key messages and shared with the IJB
Audit Committee to provide reassurance and oversight on integrated areas. Mr Malcolm
Dickson also asked for links to be made national reports.
The Chair thanked the auditors for their time and support in preparing the report.
The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
AUDIT COMMITTEE noted the report and unqualified audit opinion prior to IJB approval.
6.
Final Audited Annual Report and Statutory Accounts 2018/19 For The Scottish
Borders Health And Social Care Integration Joint Board
Mr Mike Porteous presented the Audited Annual Report, highlighted the key aspects and
recognised the unqualified audit opinion.
Mr Rob McCulloch-Graham responded to queries regarding the current interim position of the
Chief Finance Officer and advised it would be recruited to on a permanent basis in December
2019.
Mr Mike Porteous provided an update on the progress of joint financial planning and advised
a joint budget would be presented to the IJB for approval by 31 March 2020. Members agreed
this was a positive step forward for local integration. Mr Malcolm Dickson asked if it would be
possible to elaborate on the extent of the shift in the balance of care in future years’ reports.
Queries were also raised regarding the confusion over a defined understanding of Set Aside.

Page
Page
2 of43

Mr Mike Porteous thanked colleagues in the finance departments of both NHS Borders and
Scottish Borders Council for their support in the preparation of the report and accounts.
The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD
AUDIT COMMITTEE recommended the independent auditor’s 2018/19 Annual Audit Report
(AAR) is submitted to the IJB for approval at its meeting on 14 August 2019 along with the
Statutory Accounts 2018/19 for approval.
7.

Any Other Business

Nothing was raised.
8.

Date and Time of next meeting

The Chair advised that the next meeting of the Scottish Borders Health and Social Care
Integration Joint Board Audit Committee was due to be held on Monday 11 November 2019,
2pm to 4pm in the Council Chamber, SBC HQ.
The formal meeting concluded at 3.05pm.
The IJB Audit Committee reconvened immediately after the formal business for an Informal
Session held in private. The primary focus of the Informal Session was to provide an
opportunity for the members of the IJB Audit Committee to be involved in the annual review
2019/20 of the IJB’s Local Code of Corporate Governance.

Signature: .................................................
Chairman

Page35of 3
Page

This page is intentionally left blank

SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE: Action Tracker
Meeting held 17 December 2018
Agenda Item: Strategic Risk Register

Page 7

Action by:

Timescale

Progress

Rob
McCullochGraham /
Jill Stacey

February
2020

3

Rob
McCullochGraham /
Louise
Ramage

December
2019

In Progress: annual review
of IJB Strategic Risk Register
scheduled in the workplan for
the Audit Committee for
February each year to reflect
the timing of IJB review in
June and December each
year.
In progress: Risk Register
added to IJB Business Plan
for review in June and
December each year.

5

The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH
AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION
JOINT BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE
agreed:(c)
To request that the IJB Full Board
review the IJB Strategic Risk
Register on a six monthly basis.

Page 1 of 3

Update: The Risk Register
review report was approved
in October 2019 (delayed
from June 2019) and further
risk review to be reported in
December 2019 to IJB; intend
to follow the recommended
cycle next year.

RAG
Status
G

G

Agenda Item 4

Action
Reference Action
Number in Minutes
2
5
The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH
AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION
JOINT BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE
agreed:(b)
To receive a review of the IJB
Strategic Risk Register on at
least an annual basis;

Agenda Item: Accounts Commission Report November 2018: Health and Social Care Integration Update on Progress

Page 8

Action
Reference Action
Number in Minutes
4
7
The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH
AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION
JOINT BOARD’S AUDIT COMMITTEE:
(a)
Noted the publication by
Accounts Commission carried out
by Audit Scotland on the
progress with integration ‘Health
and Social Care Integration – An
Update on Progress’.
(b)
Agreed the proposal to report to
a future meeting of IJB any
lessons and actions required
within Scottish Borders Health
and Social Care IJB as a result of
the report.

Action by:

Timescale

Progress

Rob
McCullochGraham /
Louise
Ramage

2019

In progress: Item on Action
Plan arising from Ministerial
and Self-Evaluation reviews
IJB meeting to be scheduled.

RAG
Status
G

Update: Agreement that,
considering wider ministerial
and self-evaluation reviews in
May 2019, the combination of
action trackers into a master
document should be created
as an opportunity for Audit
Committee to scrutinise and
challenge the performance
against action plans.

Meeting held 5 June 2019
Agenda Item: Audit Scotland Report March 2018 – Auditing Best Value – Integration Joint Boards
Action
Reference Action
Number in Minutes
8
8
The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH
AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION
JOINT BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE
agreed at a future IJB Audit Committee
meeting to review the key points relating
to health and social care integration
within the Scottish Borders Council Best
Value Assurance Report, when
published, within the context of Scottish
Borders IJB.

Action by:

Timescale

Progress

Jill Stacey

end 2019

In progress: The Scottish
Borders Council Best Value
Assurance Report is
expected to be published in
October 2019. Scheduled in
the workplan for the Audit
Committee for November
2019.

Page 2 of 3

RAG
Status
G

Meeting held 12 August 2019
Agenda Item: Final Audited Annual Report and Statutory Accounts 2018/19 for the Scottish Borders Health and Social Care Integration
Joint Board
Action
Reference Action
Number in Minutes
9
6
The SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH
AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION
JOINT BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE
recommended the independent auditor’s
2018/19 Annual Audit Report (AAR) is
submitted to the IJB for approval at its
meeting on 14 August 2019 alongwith
the Statutory Accounts 2018/19 for
approval.

Action by:

Timescale

Progress

Rob
McCullochGraham /
Mike
Porteous

September
2019

Complete: Approved at IJB
14 August 2019

Page 9

KEY:
R

A

G

Blue

Overdue / timescale TBA
<2 weeks to timescale
>2 weeks to timescale
Complete – Items removed from
action tracker once noted as
complete at each H&SC IJB Audit
Committee meeting

Page 3 of 3

RAG
Status

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Appendix-2019- Agenda Item 5

Scottish Borders Health & Social Care
Integration Joint Board Audit Committee
Meeting Date: 9 December 2019
Report By
Contact
Telephone:

SB IJB Chief Internal Auditor
Jill Stacey
01835 825036

PROGRESS UPDATE ON DELIVERY OF SCOTTISH BORDERS HEALTH AND
SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL PLAN
2019/20
Purpose of Report:

To present an update on progress with the delivery of the
Internal Audit Annual Plan 2019/20 for the Scottish Borders
Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board (SBIJB) and to
set out a list of Internal Audit reports by partners’ Internal
Auditors presented to their respective Audit Committees which
are relevant to SBIJB for assurance purposes.

Recommendations:

The Scottish Borders Health & Social Care Integration Joint
Board Audit Committee is asked to:
(a) consider whether it is satisfied with the progress made in
the first six months of the year to deliver the approved
Scottish Borders Health and Social Care Integration Joint
Board Internal Audit Annual Plan 2019/20 (Appendix 1);
and
(b) consider the list of Internal Audit reports by partners’
Internal Auditors presented to their respective Audit
Committees that are relevant to SBIJB for assurance
purposes (Appendix 2), consider the assurances contained
therein, and provide any commentary thereon.

Personnel:

The Internal Audit service to SBIJB is provided by Scottish
Borders Council’s Internal Audit team. Staff assigned to perform
the SBIJB Internal Audit work hold relevant professional
qualifications and have the necessary experience, knowledge,
skills and competencies (such as the Code of Ethics set out in
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)) needed to
deliver the plan.

Carers:

There is no direct impact on carers arising from the contents of
this report.

Page1 11
Page
of 3

Appendix-2019- Agenda Item 5
Equalities:

There are no direct equalities and diversities implications
arising from the contents of this report.

Financial:

There are no direct financial implications arising from the
contents of this report.

Legal:

The Scottish Borders Health and Social Care Integration Joint
Board (SBIJB), established as a separate legal entity as
required by the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act
2014, is responsible for the strategic planning and
commissioning of a wide range of integrated health and social
care services across the Scottish Borders partnership area,
based on resources which have been delegated to it by the
partners, Scottish Borders Council and NHS Borders.
The SBIJB is therefore expected to operate under public sector
good practice governance arrangements which are
proportionate to its transactions and responsibilities to ensure
the achievement of the objectives of Integration. The
establishment of robust Risk Management and Audit
arrangements is one of the key components of good
governance and will be critical to the capacity of the SBIJB to
function effectively.

Risk Implications:

Key components of the audit planning process include a clear
understanding of the SBIJB’s functions, associated risks, and
potential range and breadth of audit areas for inclusion within
the plan. As in previous years, the SBIJB Internal Audit Annual
Plan 2019/20 has been informed by the risks, controls and
mitigation actions as set out within the SBIJB’s Strategic Risk
Register to ensure that Internal Audit plans are risk-based and
provide relevant assurance. Furthermore, key stakeholders
have been consulted and the Audit Plan has been informed by
key developments at both a national and local level and other
relevant background information, for example the Strategic
Plan. Discussions with the SBIJB’s Chief Officer and Chief
Finance Officer will continue on a regular basis to ensure
Internal Audit assurance meet the needs of the SBIJB and
Management and other key stakeholders.
The PSIAS require Internal Audit to evaluate the effectiveness
of the SBIJB’s Risk Management arrangements and contribute
to improvements in the process. Each Internal Audit assignment
will be risk-based and will test the SBIJB’s management of risk.
The SBIJB Internal Audit Annual Plan 2019/20 should be
considered to be flexible and has been periodically reviewed to
ensure it reflects any new arrangement or changing risks and
priorities. There are no amendments at this time relating to the
SBIJB Internal Audit Annual Plan 2019/20 that require approval
by the SBIJB Audit Committee.
It is anticipated that improvements in the management and
mitigation of risks will arise as a direct result of SBIJB
Page
123
Page
2 of

Appendix-2019- Agenda Item 5
Management implementing the Internal Audit recommendations
made during the year or outstanding from previous years.
In addition to its own governance arrangements, the SBIJB
places reliance on the governance arrangements adopted by
NHS Borders and Scottish Borders Council, the partners.
Where appropriate, existing mechanisms embedded within both
NHS Borders and Scottish Borders Council have been used to
provide assurance to the SBIJB.
Background
1.1

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require the SBIJB’s Chief
Internal Auditor to prepare an annual report that incorporates the statutory audit
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of SBIJB’s framework of governance,
risk management and control, a summary of the work that supports the opinion, and
a statement on conformance with the PSIAS.

1.2

The Scottish Borders IJB Internal Audit Annual Plan 2019/20 approved by the
SBIJB Audit Committee on 11 February 2019 includes sufficient work to enable the
SBIJB Chief Internal Auditor to prepare the statutory independent and objective
audit opinion to the year ending 31 March 2020.

1.3

In addition to its own governance arrangements, the SBIJB places reliance on the
governance arrangements adopted by NHS Borders and Scottish Borders Council,
the partners. This includes the existing mechanisms embedded within both NHS
Borders and Scottish Borders Council for provision of Internal Audit assurances to
their respective Audit Committees.

2 Progress Update
2.1

The Appendix 1 to this report provides details of the half yearly progress by Internal
Audit with its work activity to deliver the approved SBIJB Internal Audit Annual Plan
2019/20. Those audits which are underway to reflect their continuous audit
approach are highlighted in light shading and those scheduled for the second half of
the year are not shaded. The SBIJB Internal Audit Annual Plan 2019/20 should be
considered to be flexible and has been periodically reviewed to ensure it reflects
any new arrangement or changing risks and priorities. There are no amendments at
this time relating to the SBIJB Internal Audit Annual Plan 2019/20 that require
approval by the SBIJB Audit Committee though there is a change of format.

2.2

The continuous audit approach which is applied to Internal Audit work for the SBIJB
enables Internal Audit to provide added value advice on internal controls and
governance and ‘critical friend’ consultancy services as the SBIJB continues to
develop its governance and transforms its service delivery.

2.3

The Appendix 2 to this report provides the list of Internal Audit reports by partners’
Internal Auditors presented to their respective Audit Committees that are relevant to
SBIJB for assurance purposes with a summary of assurances contained therein.
The SBIJB Chief Internal Auditor will take account of these assurances from
partners’ Internal Auditors to provide assurance to the SBIJB.

Page3 13
Page
of 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Progress Update on SBIJB Internal Audit Annual Plan 2019/20
Ref

Category

1.

Assurance

Audit
Annual Assessment
of Internal Control,
Governance and
Risk Management

Commentary
Assess the SBIJB’s corporate governance arrangements in
place to deliver services to meet the needs of service users
and the strategic priorities for health and social care
integration set out in the revised Strategic Plan. Test a
sample of the key elements in the SBIJB Local Code of
Corporate Governance (updated and approved by SBIJB 17
September 2018 on recommendation by the SBIJB Audit
Committee 25 June 2018) as an integrated toolkit to
determine whether these are operating effectively.

Appendix 1
Status
Ongoing follow-up on implementation of actions on
Areas of Improvement set out in the Annual Governance
Statement 2018/19.
Annual evaluation of compliance with and effectiveness
of SBIJB’s Local Code of Corporate Governance and
annual evaluation of effectiveness of SBIJB’s internal
controls and governance arrangements scheduled 4th
Quarter.

Page 15

Prepare an annual assurance report for SBIJB Management
and SBIJB Audit Committee that includes the statutory
internal audit opinion on the adequacy of the SBIJB’s
arrangements for risk management, governance and internal
control for delegated resources. This will be used to inform
the SBIJB’s Annual Governance Statement.
2.

3.

Assurance

Assurance

Financial
Management

Transformation,
Change and
Workforce
Development

Assess the SBIJB’s processes in place to ensure appropriate
accountability for financial management of financial resources
delegated to the partnership and to facilitate the delivery of
efficient and effective services, including progress in
achieving savings.

Continuous audit on financial planning and reporting
processes.

Assess the SBIJB’s corporate governance arrangements in
place to transform service delivery to meet the needs of
service users and assess progress in commissioning
redesigned health and social care services and their fit with
priorities set out in the Strategic Plan.

Continuous audit on transformation and change
processes including Directions.

Assess the SBIJB’s approach to workforce planning and
development in alignment with business and financial
planning processes to provide skills, knowledge and
competency requirements for redesigned services.

Reliance will be placed on relevant work of partners’
Internal Audit providers.

Workforce Development review scheduled 3rd Quarter.
Reliance will be placed on relevant work of partners’
Internal Audit providers.

Ref

Category

Audit

4.

Assurance

Performance
Management

Commentary
Assess whether there is appropriate alignment of
performance measures in the SBIJB‟s Performance
Management Framework to key priorities and outcomes of
the Strategic Plan and validate the evidence of improvement
of health and wellbeing within Scottish Borders through
integrating health and social care services.

Status
Scheduled 3rd Quarter.
Reliance will be placed on relevant work of partners’
Internal Audit providers on the effectiveness of the
performance monitoring and reporting controls in
operation to fulfil their partners’ roles and
responsibilities.

Review and evaluate the source systems, data and
processes to produce the annual performance report required
by the Scottish Government.
5.

Other

Recommendations
Follow Up Review

Follow-up on progress by Management with implementation
Audit Actions by the agreed date relating to areas of
improvement recommended in 2018/19 audit assurance work
and check on the adequacy of new internal controls.

Ongoing.
Report scheduled 3rd Quarter.
Reliance will be placed on relevant work of partners’
Internal Audit providers.

Page 16

6.

Other

Administration of
Audit Scotland
Reports

Monitor publication of Audit Scotland reports and co-ordinate
submission by Management of relevant Audit Scotland
Reports to the SBIJB Audit and Risk Committee / Board.

Ongoing coordination of relevant Management
presenting reports to SBIJB or its Audit Committee to
ensure transparency of best practice and lessons
learned from other organisations to enable Management
to evidence improvements in health and social care
integration practices on a continuous basis.

7.

Other

Audit Committee
Self-Assessment

Provide assistance to Chair in undertaking a self-assessment
of the SBIJB Audit Committee against the CIPFA best
practice guidance.

SBIJB Chief Internal Auditor facilitated inaugural SBIJB
Audit Committee Self-Assessment on 12 February 2019
that resulted in the Chair's Report to SBIJB Audit
Committee 5 June 2019 and to SBIJB 19 June 2019.
Actions in progress on identified Areas of Improvement.

8.

Other

Attendance at
Boards / Committees

Attend IJB meetings to observe planning, approval,
monitoring and review activity of business and performance.
Prepare for and attend SBIJB Audit Committee meetings.

Ongoing.

Audit Planning for
2020/21

Renew risk assessment, develop and consult on proposed
coverage within the SBIJB Internal Audit Annual Plan
2020/21.

Scheduled 4th Quarter.

9.

Other

Scottish Borders Council’s Internal Audit function will provide 45 days to support the delivery of the Plan.

In addition SBIJB Chief Internal Auditor meets with Chair
of SBIJB Audit Committee prior to each meeting.

Partners’ Internal Audit Assurance 2019/20

Appendix 2

Below is the list of Internal Audit reports by partners’ Internal Audit providers (SBC Internal Audit for Scottish Borders Council; Grant Thornton
for NHS Borders from 2019/20) that have been presented to their respective Audit Committees which are relevant to SBIJB for assurance
purposes, with a summary of assurances contained therein.
Partner Committee

Audit Title

Audit Objective

Internal Audit Summary Findings and Conclusions

Scottish Borders Council
Audit and Scrutiny
Committee

Internal Audit
Annual
Assurance
Report 2018/19

Provision of statutory annual internal audit opinion

The systems of internal control, governance and risk
management within the Council are operating satisfactorily.
Internal Audit reports during the year confirm improvements
in internal controls, governance, and risk management
through Management-initiated improvements complemented
by the implementation of audit recommendations. The most
significant of these improved controls related to the Business
World ERP system. Further improvements in internal controls,
governance, and risk management have been agreed by
Management as highlighted in Internal Audit reports during
the year. Has been used to inform the Chief Executive’s
Annual Governance Statement 2018/19.

Performance
Management
(LGBF)

To validate the Council’s Performance Indicators
which are reported on an annual basis to the
Improvement Service as part of the Local
Government Benchmarking Framework (LGBF).

Substantial assurance: Largely satisfactory risk, control, and
governance systems are in place. Three recommendations (2
Medium; 1 Low) have been agreed with Management to
improve monitoring of performance indicators in general and
validation of performance indicators in specific areas.

Members
Allowances

To assess whether adequate controls are in place to
ensure members’ remuneration, allowances and
expenses are accurate; are paid correctly and timely,
and disclosed in accordance with regulations.

Substantial assurance. There is some scope for improvement
such as process automation and accuracy of systemgenerated monitoring reports. No recommendations as there
are Management Actions underway.

13 May 2019

Page 17

(Source: Agenda,
Reports and Minutes
published on website
modern.gov)

Scottish Borders Council
Audit and Scrutiny
Committee
23 September 2019
(Source: Agenda,
Reports and Minutes
published on website
modern.gov)
Scottish Borders Council

Partner Committee

Audit Title

Audit Objective

Internal Audit Summary Findings and Conclusions

Looked After
Children at
Home

To ensure that governance processes are
appropriate to meet service delivery needs for
Looked after Children and that adequate controls
are in place which evidence sound budgetary
control.

Substantial assurance. The Service is taking appropriate
measures to monitor closely the budget position, and had
considered some alternative measures to meet Service need
at lower cost. Two recommendations (2 Medium) have been
agreed with Management to plan policy and procedure
reviews and to improve monitoring and review of sample
cases within the statutory timescales.

ICT Business
Systems

To establish that governance and processes are in
place to review and redesign computer based
systems/business applications out with the ICT
Contract with CGI to ensure they are fit for purpose
to support service delivery.

Substantial assurance. Risk, control, and governance systems
are in place for Technology Forge (Asset Register), Routewise
(Passenger Transport planning, costing and recharging system)
and Servitor (Roads job costing system). No recommendations
as there are Management Actions underway. Progress needs
to be made to address the identified risks.

Partner Committee

Audit Title

Audit Objective

Internal Audit Summary Findings and Conclusions

NHS Borders Audit
Committee

Internal Audit
Report – Estates
& Facilities Time
& Attendance

Planned assurance audit 2018/19

An overall medium risk rating. Four medium rated and one
low rated findings arising from the audit to improve formality
around processes and arrangements in place. In the current
financial climate it may be worth considering if any other
areas across the organisation have these weaknesses.

Internal Audit
Report – Staff
Recruitment

Planned assurance audit 2018/19

An overall low risk rating. One medium rated and three low
rated findings arising from the audit to enhance management
information underpinning processes for recruitment KPIs and
to put in place a new vacancy control process.

Internal Audit
Annual Report
2018/19

Provision of statutory annual internal audit opinion

The Internal Audit opinion for 2018/19 was that controls were
generally satisfactory with some improvement required. The
report highlighted areas where improvement could be made.
It was advised that the Internal Audit opinion is based on what
has been undertaken during the year but stressed that the
Board cannot lose sight of the challenge that lies ahead.

Audit and Scrutiny
Committee
23 September 2019
(cont’d)

Page 18

17 June 2019
(Source: Minutes of
meeting issued to SB IJB
CIA on agreement from
Chair of NHS Borders
Audit Committee)

Partner Committee

NHS Borders Audit
Committee

Audit Title

Audit Objective

Internal Audit Summary Findings and Conclusions

Internal Audit
Plan 2019/20

Planned programme of Internal Audit work for the
year

Note: The Board has entered into a shared arrangement with
NHS Lothian and Grant Thornton for Internal Audit services.

17 June 2019

The process to produce the draft plan had included reviewing
the strategic risk register and previous audit plans to avoid
duplication. It was noted that the plan reflects the
transformation work that is being undertaken. A total of 150
days was recorded to undertake the audits and follow-up.

(cont’d)

NHS Borders Audit
Committee
16 September 2019

Page 19

(Source: Audit
Committee Update
report by Chair to NHS
Borders Health Board
meeting 3 October
2019)

revised Internal
Audit Plan for
2019/20

Planned programme of Internal Audit work for the
year (revised)

Plan was influenced largely by the strategic risk register, audits
in recent years, and other relevant scrutiny to which the Board
has been subjected. Since this year’s process has been
constrained into a shorter period due to the appointment of
new Internal Auditors it was agreed that a workshop involving
Audit Committee members and key personnel should be
arranged to support the development of the 2020/21 Audit
Plan.

Internal Audit
Charter

Terms of Reference of Internal Audit as required by
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Grant Thornton presented the Internal Audit Charter which
details the purpose, aim, standards, quality, role, scope and
responsibilities of the Internal Audit function.

National Fraud
Initiative

Public sector organisations participation in data
sharing, data matching and analysis work to identify
fraud and error.

No significant issues were highlighted to date relating to the
National Fraud Initiative exercise which is currently ongoing.
The Audit Committee asked for the format of the report to be
revised for the next meeting.

The SBIJB Chief Internal Auditor will take account of these assurances from partners’ Internal Audit providers to provide Internal Audit
assurance to the SBIJB.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Appendix-2019- Agenda Item 6

Scottish Borders Health & Social Care
Integration Joint Board Audit Committee
Meeting Date: 9 December 2019
Report By
Contact
Telephone:

SB IJB Chief Internal Auditor
Jill Stacey
01835 825036

PROGRESS ON IMPLEMENTATION OF INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS
Purpose of Report:

To provide an update to Members of the IJB Audit Committee
on the status of the implementation by Management of
recommendations made and agreed in the Internal Audit
Annual Assurance Report 2018/19 for the Scottish Borders
Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board.

Recommendations:

The Scottish Borders Health & Social Care Integration Joint
Board’s Audit Committee is asked to:
a) Acknowledge the progress made by
Management in implementing Internal Audit
recommendations to improve internal controls
and governance, and mitigate risks;
b) Consider whether it is satisfied with the progress or
whether any further action is required; and
c) Notes that Internal Audit will continue to monitor for
completion the outstanding recommendations and will
provide update reports to this Committee.

Personnel:

The Internal Audit service to SBIJB is provided by Scottish
Borders Council’s Internal Audit team. Staff assigned to perform
the SBIJB Internal Audit work hold relevant professional
qualifications and have the necessary experience, knowledge,
skills and competencies (such as the Code of Ethics set out in
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)) needed to
deliver the plan.

Carers:

There is no direct impact on carers arising from the contents of
this report.

Equalities:

There are no direct equalities and diversities implications
arising from the contents of this report.

Financial:

There are no direct financial implications arising from the
contents of this report.

Page1 21
Page
of 3

Appendix-2019- Agenda Item 6
Legal:

The Scottish Borders Health and Social Care Integration Joint
Board (SBIJB), established as a separate legal entity as
required by the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act
2014, is responsible for the strategic planning and
commissioning of a wide range of integrated health and social
care services across the Scottish Borders partnership area,
based on resources which have been delegated to it by the
partners, Scottish Borders Council and NHS Borders.
The SBIJB is therefore expected to operate under public sector
good practice governance arrangements which are
proportionate to its transactions and responsibilities to ensure
the achievement of the objectives of Integration. This includes
implementation of audit recommendations to demonstrate
continuous improvement in its internal controls, governance
arrangements and risk management.

Risk Implications:

Internal Audit provides assurance to SB IJB Management and
the Audit Committee on the adequacy and effectiveness of
internal controls and governance within the Council, including
risk management, highlights good practice and makes
recommendations.
It is anticipated that improvements in the management and
mitigation of risks will arise as a direct result of SBIJB
Management implementing the Internal Audit recommendations
made during the year or outstanding from previous years.
In addition to its own governance arrangements, the SBIJB
places reliance on the governance arrangements adopted by
NHS Borders and Scottish Borders Council, the partners.

Background
2.1

Internal Audit is an independent appraisal function established for the review of the
internal control system, delivered by Scottish Borders Council Internal Audit team as
a service to the Scottish Borders Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board to
provide the statutory Internal Audit annual assurance and opinion. It objectively
examines, evaluates and reports on the adequacy of internal control as a contribution
to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources and the management
of risk.

2.2

The Internal Audit activity adds value to the organisation (and its stakeholders) when
it considers strategies, objectives, and risks; strives to offer ways to enhance
governance, risk management and control processes (by way of making audit
recommendations); and objectively provides relevant assurance.

2.3

Management has the responsibility for ensuring that agreed audit actions are
implemented to address the identified weaknesses and mitigate risks. At Internal
Audit Final Report stage, the Audit Recommendations are input to Pentana, the
Council’s corporate performance management system. This is designed to assist
with Management tracking of implementation, link with relevant risks and evidence
improvement.
Page
223
Page
2 of

Appendix-2019- Agenda Item 6
2.4

The Remit of the IJB Audit Committee includes the function to “receive reports and
oversee and review progress on actions taken on audit recommendations and report
to the IJB on these as appropriate”, as part of its high level oversight of the framework
of internal control, risk management and governance within the Scottish Borders
Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board. The Internal Audit Recommendations
2018/19 were included within the Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2018/19
presented to the IJB Audit Committee on 5 June 2019.

2.5

Internal Audit continues to perform its standard quarterly follow-up activity to check
that audit recommendations have been implemented and to ensure that the new
controls had the desired effect on improving internal control and governance, and
reducing risk. Internal Audit meets regularly with the IJB Chief Officer and IJB Chief
Financial Officer to address any audit actions, and bring any matters to the attention
of the IJB Audit Committee on a 6-monthly basis.

Summary
3.1

Details on the two Internal Audit recommendations made in 2018/19 are shown in
Appendix 1. The outcome is some progress by the IJB Chief Officer, though it will
take longer than originally anticipated to fully implement the two Internal Audit
recommendations. The IJB Chief Officer has requested extensions to their due dates
which have been approved by Internal Audit based on the further work required to
implement these recommendations in full, as highlighted in the Appendix. The
Pentana Risk system has been updated accordingly.

3.2

A further update on progress with the implementation of audit recommendations will
be included within the Internal Audit Annual Assurance Report 2019/20 for the
Scottish Borders Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board which is scheduled
for presentation to the IJB Audit Committee in June 2020.

Page3 23
Page
of 3

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1
Health & Social Care Integration Joint Board - Internal Audit recommendations – Update on Progress as at 27.11.19
Code

Title

Priority

Status

Progress
27.11.19

Original
Due
Date

Due
Date

Managed By

Assigned To

Update
27.11.19

Chief Officer
Health & Social
Care Integration

The Chief Financial Officer secondment
had been extended to end December
2019, and a further 3 months extension
has been made to end March 2020.
Going to advertise vacancy in December
2019. Interviews to be held and hope to
appoint during January 2020.

Scottish Borders Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board (Final Report Issued 27 May 2019)
AUDIT.084

(2018 HSC IJB Rec 1)
Corporate Governance – Chief
Financial Officer

2

31/08/19

31/08/19

Overdue

The Chief Financial Officer role is
being fulfilled on an interim basis by
a secondee until August 2019. Steps
are required to recruit to the IJB CFO
role on a permanent basis.

Page 25

AUDIT.085

(2018 HSC IJB Rec 2)
Corporate Governance – Risk
Management
Ensure IJB strategic risks are
considered and reviewed regularly at
IJB meetings.

Chief
Officer Health
& Social Care
Integration

An extension to 31 March 2020 is
therefore requested and has been
agreed by IJB Chief Internal Auditor.

2

31/08/19
Overdue

31/08/19

Chief
Officer Health
& Social Care
Integration

Chief Officer
Health & Social
Care Integration

IJB high level risks (red risks) were
reviewed July 2019, and presented to the
IJB Board 25 September 2019 (deferred
from IJB Board Meeting 14 August 2019).
A further risk review is due to take place
in December 2019 for presentation to the
IJB Board Meeting 17 December 2019.
Regular risk reviews need to be
established by the IJB Chief Officer with
support by Scottish Borders Council’s
Corporate Risk Officer, to ensure regular
reivew and updating of risks takes place
in order to fully embed risk management
into the culture of the IJB.
An extension to 31 December 2019 is
therefore requested and has been
agreed by IJB Chief Internal Auditor.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Briefing

Planning for
outcomes

Prepared for the Auditor General for Scotland
June 2019

Page 27

Auditor General for Scotland
The Auditor General’s role is to:
•

appoint auditors to Scotland’s central government and NHS bodies

•

examine how public bodies spend public money

•

help them to manage their finances to the highest standards

•

check whether they achieve value for money.

The Auditor General is independent and reports to the Scottish Parliament
on the performance of:
•

directorates of the Scottish Government

•

government agencies, eg the Scottish Prison Service,
Historic Environment Scotland

•

NHS bodies

•

further education colleges

•

Scottish Water

•

NDPBs and others, eg Scottish Police Authority, Scottish Fire and
Rescue Service.

You can find out more about the work of the Auditor General on our website:
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/about-us/auditor-general

Audit Scotland is a statutory body set up in April 2000 under the Public
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. We help the Auditor General
for Scotland and the Accounts Commission check that organisations
spending public money use it properly, efficiently and
effectively.
Page
28

Planning for outcomes Briefing paper | 3

Contents
Purpose of briefing

4

The Scottish approach

5

Challenges to an outcomes-based approach

7

Making it a reality

8

Page 29

4|

Purpose of briefing
1. This paper supports parliamentary scrutiny of outcomes. It sets out the main
factors that support planning for outcomes, with reference to recommendations
from the Budget Process Review Group (BPRG). It draws together learning from
our previous reports, and wider knowledge of good practice and activity in this
area.
2. Auditing public spending and assessing value for money is at the heart of our
work. Building on existing spending powers, the Scotland Acts of 2012 and 2016
bring new opportunities to use fiscal levers to support inclusive and sustainable
growth and to influence the size of future budgets.
3. Taxes and public spending decisions are a means to an end, not an end in
themselves. Ultimately, public services are about improving outcomes and it is
critical that we are able measure the impact of financial decisions on people and
communities. As Bruce Crawford, Convener of the Finance and Constitution
Committee, said during the Parliamentary debate on the new budget process: ‘We
need to move from a position of judging success based on the number of police on
the streets or the number of nurses in our national health service to one that
involves measuring the sustainable outcomes that are achieved by public spending
in Scotland.’1
4. The new Parliamentary budget process implements the BPRG's
recommendations to adopt an outcomes-based approach to budgeting and budget
scrutiny. This includes the recommendation that the Scottish Government and
public bodies should strengthen their performance planning and reporting to
provide a greater focus on the delivery of outcomes.2
5. The new National Performance Framework, launched jointly by the Scottish
Government and CoSLA in June 2018, is a major step towards this shift in focus. It
provides a structure around which public bodies and their partners can align
activities and decisions towards shared objectives. Its success will rely upon
considered and consistent planning and evaluation, as well as a commitment from
public sector leaders, including politicians, towards long-term goals despite shortterm pressures.
6. This paper begins by setting out briefly the Scottish approach to reform and the
challenges that an outcomes-based approach inevitably brings. It then outlines
how an outcomes-based approach can work in practice.

1
2

Scottish Parliament Official Report (2018, May 08). Budget
PageProcess
30 (Written Agreement).
Budget Process Review Group Final Report, June 2017.

The Scottish approach | 5

The Scottish approach
7. The Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 puts the outcomes approach
to public services on a statutory footing. It requires Scottish ministers to, 'consult
on, develop and publish a new set of National Outcomes for Scotland and to
regularly report on progress'. The Act requires that national outcomes need to be
reviewed at least every five years. The Scottish Government embarked on an
extensive consultation exercise with the public and interested stakeholder groups
in 2016 and 2017, culminating in the National Outcomes for Scotland document3,
which was laid in Parliament in March 2018. The Local Government and
Communities Committee was the lead scrutiny committee and the Committee's
report was debated in Parliament on 24 May 2018.
8. The new National Performance Framework (NPF) was launched jointly by the
Scottish Government and COSLA in June 2018. At its core are the national
purpose and values. It sets out eleven long-term outcomes for Scotland,
underpinned by 81 national performance indicators against which progress can be
measured (Exhibit 1). The new NPF is aligned to the UN sustainable development
goals (SDGs), 17 global goals set by the UN Development Programme.

Exhibit 1
There are 11 National Performance Framework outcomes which the public sector
and its partners work towards

Source: Scottish Government

3

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Local_Gov/Inquiries/Updated_National_Outcomes.pdf

Page 31

6|

9. This focus on outcomes when planning and delivering services is also known as
the Scottish Approach to Public Service Reform.4 This approach has evolved over
time and is built on principles designed to ensure that the design and delivery of
public services is collaborative, inclusive and empathetic.5
10. The NPF itself builds on previous developments, including:
• The 2007 National Performance Framework.
• The 2008 Concordat with the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities
(COSLA), which agreed that councils would have Single Outcome
Agreements based on national outcomes.
• The 2011 Christie Commission Report6 on public service reform, which
emphasised the importance of local and national outcomes working
together.

4

Northern Exposure – Lessons from the first twelve years of devolved government in Scotland, Elvidge, J, 2011.
https://resources.mygov.scot/37f87d5/designing-public-services-in-scotland/why-we-need-design-for-public-services-inscotland/design-principles/
Page 32
6
Report on the Future Delivery of Public Services by the Commission Chaired by Campbell Christie, 2011.
5

Challenges to an outcomes-based approach | 7

Challenges to an
outcomes-based approach
11. The benefits of planning activities towards long-term improvements in people's
lives are clear, but an outcomes-based approach brings challenges which should
be considered early. Public bodies need to work closely together towards shared
long-term goals. This requires closer collaboration, which sets out how activities
and finances work together, and how progress will be measured.
12. An initial challenge is to understand how national outcomes will work in
conjunction with, and at times against, each other. For example, how will
environmental outcomes be considered or prioritised against plans for economic
growth? Also, long-term outcomes may bring difficult decisions into sharper focus;
for example, if long-term health and wellbeing outcomes rely on increasing the
pace at which services move to a community setting, what are the implications for
resources and activities in acute hospitals?
13. Collaboration between public bodies working towards multiple long-term
outcomes is a complex task. Many of the challenges that we have raised for
integration authorities in health and social care, for example, will apply to broader
collaborative working. These include issues arising from a lack of collaborative
leadership and strategic capacity; a high turnover in leadership teams;
disagreement over governance arrangements; and an inability or unwillingness to
safely share data with staff and the public. It is vital that our systems of
accountability and incentives for people leading and working in public services are
designed to encourage them to act over the long term and 'do the right thing'.
14. It is difficult to separate out what impact public services have on outcomes, as
many factors are outside the direct control of the public sector. For example, we
have reported that it is difficult to measure the impact of economic development
activity because of the long-term nature of some investments, time-lags from
investment to seeing results, and the need to make assumptions about what might
have been achieved in the absence of public sector economic development
support.7 The challenge to the public sector is how it can be clear about its
intended impact, and gather the evidence to support and measure this effectively.
15. It will take time to see the impact that outcome-focused planning has for people
and communities. Where finances and public services are under pressure, the
temptation to resort to short-term measures in place of a long-term focus is
understandably strong. And outcomes are more difficult to measure than short-term
targets or outputs, which again may put long-term objectives at risk if appropriate
measurement criteria and a strong evidence base is not put in place.
16. An outcomes approach will therefore need dedicated and sustained leadership
across the public sector, as well as through the budget scrutiny cycle in Parliament.

7

Page 33

Supporting Scotland's economic growth, Audit Scotland, July 2016.

8|

Making it a reality
Effective joined-up working is vital to achieving outcomes
17. Partnership working across public services is not new. Different parts of the
public sector have been working together towards shared goals for many years.
Collaboration is central to addressing long-term complex issues, but it is not easy.
Achieving shared outcomes requires much closer partnership arrangements, with
strategies, plans and spending decisions aligned behind long-term goals.
Arrangements for scrutiny and evidence-based progress reporting must be agreed
and reflect each partner's contribution. And, crucially, public bodies working in
collaboration will need to sustain meaningful engagement with communities,
services users and staff. We set this out in our recent report on the integration of
health and social care (Exhibit 2).

Exhibit 2

Source: Audit Scotland

Public sector bodies must create the conditions to support
outcomes-based decisions
18. An outcomes-based approach applies to all public services, not just new policy
initiatives. A focus on creating a collaborative culture, including initially small-scale
initiatives, encourages the wider public sector workforce to engage with change
and spread it more widely.
19. In 2013, the Scottish Government developed a 3-step improvement framework
to help public services implement reform and work towards common goals
following the Christie Review.8 The framework asks leaders to be clear about their
aims, methods and measurement of change and their capacity to deliver before
planning how to implement change and communicate good practice. A key aspect

8

Page 34

The 3-Step Improvement Framework for Scotland's Public Services, Scottish Government, April 2013.

Making it a reality | 9

of the framework is to ‘aim big – start small’, with an improvement model to support
it (Exhibit 3).

Exhibit 3
A model for improvement

Source: Scottish Government

20. The NHS Patient Safety Programme is one example of such a model. The
initial focus of the programme was on improving patient safety in acute hospitals,
introducing pre-operative checklists to help reduce post-operative death rates. Now
administered through Healthcare Improvement Scotland, the PSP approach has
grown to cover innovative working across maternity services, mental health and
primary care among others.9
21. This started with a commitment to outcomes, and a willingness to support
collaborative innovation. According to former Chief Medical Officer Sir Harry Burns:
‘Ministers and government officials were committed to making healthcare better.
They were influenced by evidence from three small projects [which suggested] that
positive changes occurred when frontline staff were given freedom to test their own
ideas.’10 Benefits include reductions in post-operative mortality and in stillbirth rates
in Scotland.

9

Further information is available at https://ihub.scot/improvement-programmes/scottish-patient-safety-programmespsp/spsp-about-us/
Page 35
10
Inside Health, The Scotsman, Harry Burns, 23 May 2019.

10 |

Intentions, measurement and evidence supporting outcomes
should be considered early in the planning process
22. The Budget Process Review Group Final Report recommended that new
policies, strategies or plans should set out the outcomes they are aiming to achieve
and the intermediate outputs, measures and milestones. Aligning activities with
outcomes involves considering what a proposed new strategy is aiming to achieve
at the outset and being clear what success will look like.
23. The Scottish Government published an evaluation framework guide in 2016,
based on a 5-step approach to evaluation11:
• Identifying the problem – set out why an activity is needed, and what
outcome it will benefit.
• Review the evidence – consider what existing data and evidence tells you
about the problem, and what gaps in evidence exist.
• Draw a logic model – this plan details the resources you need, the activities
you will do, and what interim and long-term outcomes you expect to see.
• Identify the indicators that you will use, and the data you will collect.
• Evaluate the success of the model.
24. The Scottish Government's Justice Analytical Services used the 5-step
approach as the basis for planning and evaluating interventions to reduce
reoffending. This was part of an overarching Community Justice Outcomes and
Performance Framework detailing how it will use outcomes and indicators, how it is
working collaboratively, and its approach to governance and scrutiny.12
25. The approach was also used to evaluate the legacy of the 2014
Commonwealth Games. The Scottish Government and Glasgow City Council
established clear plans for realising legacy benefits from the Games at local, citywide and national levels.13 They developed an evaluation framework to measure
and monitor progress against outcomes. This included plans to improve the
economy, the health and wellbeing of citizens, international roles, and the
environment.
26. The Scottish Government reported against these outcomes up until 2018.14
Using the framework approach, it was clear at the outset what indicators would be
used to judge success and what evidence would be used to support these
judgements (Exhibit 4, page 11).
27. The April 2018 legacy report recognises that it is difficult to fully separate out
what impact was achieved from the Commonwealth Games investment compared
to wider regeneration initiatives. However, because it used a planning framework,
the report could use the measures and outcomes it had set, including:
• The number of participants who felt they could influence decisions affecting
their local area increased from 37 per cent in 2012 to 45 per cent in 2016.
This is nearly twice the national rate.
• The number of participants who said that they felt safe walking in their
neighbourhood after dark increased from 52 per cent in 2012 to 72 per cent
in 2016.

11

The 5-Step Approach to Intervention: Designing and Evaluating Behavioural Change Interventions, Scottish
Government, May 2016.
12
Community Justice Outcomes, Performance and Improvement Framework, 2016.
13
Commonwealth Games 2014: third report, Audit Scotland,
PageMarch
36 2015.
14
Glasgow 2014 Commonwealth Games legacy: final evaluation, Scottish Government, April 2018.

Making it a reality | 11

Exhibit 4
The Games legacy evaluation framework

Source: Scottish Government; and Audit Scotland

28. The Office for Students has set out a similar approach in its guidance for
English higher education institutions on preparing access and participation plans,
which are expected to include:
• A detailed and robust assessment of performance.
• Ambitious targets which are related to the assessment of performance,
including consideration of national evidence.
• A description of the measures to be taken to achieve the targets, including
an evaluation strategy.
• Details of how the plan will be monitored.
• A description of the investment to be made in resourcing the measures to be
taken and improving access.15
29. However, this type of framework is not used routinely, making it harder to plan
for and measure progress towards outcomes. For example, the expansion of early
learning and childcare to 600 free hours was aimed at improving outcomes for
children. In our Early Learning and Childcare report, we noted that the Scottish
Government did not identify what measures would show whether the policy was
achieving its aims, and it did not ensure that baseline data was available. This

15

https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/media/0bcce522-df4b-4517-a4fd-101c2468444a/regulatory-notice-1-access-andparticipation-plan-guidance.pdf

Page 37

12 |

made it difficult to assess the cost and impact of the increase in funded hours and
whether the policy was delivering value for money.16

A clear assessment of gaps in evidence is needed
30. The examples above emphasise the importance of considering what evidence
and data are available at an early stage. This enables leaders and people
delivering services to consider the impact of gaps on their ability to measure
success, and helps service delivery teams consider the level of detail required.
31. For equalities and poverty outcomes, public bodies should consider whether
the data they have is sufficient to measure the impact of decisions about services,
funding and taxation on different equality groups affected. The Budget Process
Review Group recommended that the Scottish Government should explore the
feasibility of providing a distributional analysis, by equality characteristic, of the
taxation, expenditure and social security proposals contained in the budget.17 The
Scottish Government produced a scoping paper and an expert seminar considering
this in December 201818 and work is continuing.
32. If gaps in evidence are identified early, leaders can consider whether new data
should be collected, or whether alternative data is held by partners. Sharing data
across the public sector can be a useful means of addressing any gaps. The EPCC
(formerly the Edinburgh Parallel Computing Centre), part of Edinburgh University,
is working with the Scottish Administrative Data Research Partnership (S-ADRP) to
gather data that will help inform decision-making to support the National
Performance Framework outcomes. This includes key data sources for health,
education, police and justice. Such data sources will help public bodies to share
evidence supporting outcomes.
33. Given that outcomes are long-term in nature, milestones are helpful in judging
progress. This will include regular review and reporting of the 81 indicators which
support the National Performance Framework outcomes. More widely, public sector
leaders will need to consider the indicators that will demonstrate progress towards
their own outcomes.

Financial reporting should show the link between financial
decisions and outcomes
34. The new parliamentary budget process has outcomes at its centre. Pre-budget
scrutiny debates and reports have considered the impact of finances on outcomes,
and raised questions about the clarity of the link between spending and impact.
35. The Budget Process Review Group considered whether the Scottish Budget
should be realigned to provide a direct read across to national outcomes.19 It
concluded that this approach was impractical because most public bodies work
towards several outcomes.
36. Instead, it recommended that Scottish budgets should be clear about how
spending on particular policies or activities is expected to contribute towards
improving specific national outcomes in the NPF, including cross-cutting issues
such as equalities.
37. Pre-budget scrutiny reports for the 2019/20 budget from parliamentary
committees noted the complexities of reflecting cross-cutting issues such as culture
and equalities in the budgets of different organisations20, and the Health and Sport

16

Early Learning and Childcare, Audit Scotland, February 2018.
Budget Process Review Group Final Report, June 2017.
18
For more information please see https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/Browse/SocialWelfare/IncomePoverty/PovertyandEquality/dist
19
Budget Process Review Group Final Report, June 2017.
Page 38
20
Equalities and Human Rights Committee; Culture, Tourism Europe and External Affairs Committee.
17

Making it a reality | 13

Committee commented that integration authorities should clearly reflect health and
social care outcomes in their budgets.
38. Public bodies will need to be clear in their financial reports about any potential
impact of financial pressures on outcomes. The Scottish Government, in turn, will
need to consider the cumulative impact of these pressures for future budgets and
outcomes. As improving outcomes is a long-term goal, financial planning should
also have a longer-term lens. An honest assessment of gaps in funding will help
identify any future threats to achieving outcomes.

Scrutiny must consider how service and financial pressures affect
outcomes
39. In May 2018, the Scottish Government published a five-year financial plan,
Scotland’s Fiscal Outlook. This set out different scenarios for the effect of future
changes in revenue funding on future budgets. In October 2018, the Scottish
Government produced its Medium-Term Health and Social Care Financial
Framework. This estimated expenditure of £20.6 billion by 2023/24, against
estimated revenue of £18.8 billion. Once planned savings have been taken into
account, a gap of £159 million remains.
40. It is not clear how the figures in the two medium term plans relate, as the NHS
framework focuses on frontline costs rather than all NHS expenditure. This makes
it difficult to be clear about the size of the funding gap to be met or to fully assess
the impact. It is also not clear what impact efficiency savings are expected to have
on outcomes, or on other services and portfolios.
41. As public service leaders and delivery teams increasingly work across
boundaries, it is likely to become more difficult to determine what impact should be
attributed to individual organisations or portfolios. Indeed, it may feel contrary to
the process of collaboration to attempt to do so. However, it is important to
maintain clear lines of responsibility and to continue to hold each public body to
account for its performance. The key is to ensure that performance reporting
focuses on the delivery of longer-term outcomes, rather than short term targets.
42. The BPRG suggested a broader approach to budget scrutiny that considers
outcomes. This means shifting the focus from annual changes to inputs to the
difference spending makes. Key scrutiny questions could include:
• What funding has the Scottish Government allocated through time to this
policy/priority and what is this intended to achieve?
• To what extent are the strategies and financial plans of the Scottish
Government and relevant public bodies having their intended effect?
• What contribution is being made towards improving National Outcomes?
What are spending and performance trends over time?
• What changes to future resource allocations, priorities or policies might be
needed?
• What progress has been made in advancing equality and in tackling
underlying inequalities?
43. Where progress against outcomes is slower than expected this should be
reported clearly to enable scrutiny and consider if any changes in approach are
needed. For example, in January 2019, Scottish Government highlighted an
increase in Scotland's exports since 2012. It was less clear that the target to
increase the value of international exports by 50 per cent between 2010 and 2017
had been missed; growth over this period was 35 per cent, or £3.7 billion short of
the target. It is also not clear what this means for progress against Scotland's
economic outcomes over the longer term.

Page 39

14 |

44. Individual public bodies are likely to have different priorities and pressures
which will need to be balanced when they agree shared outcomes. For example, a
decision to prioritise economic development and associated transport routes could
conflict with outcomes related to protecting and enhancing the environment. In
addition, cross-cutting areas, such as human rights and equalities, will apply to
more than one outcome. These difficult choices should be clearly documented,
showing the trade-offs involved and how the different outcomes have been
prioritised.

Meaningful and sustained engagement is needed to deliver longterm impact on people's lives
45. Communities are more likely to experience better outcomes when people have
more control over their lives, so meaningful and sustained engagement is central to
the design and delivery of public services. Planning for outcomes is a continuing
process, as public bodies implement their improvement plans and learn from the
experience.
46. Much of the necessary intelligence will come from the people and communities
involved, and the public sector workers they engage with. What Works Scotland
has highlighted the role that community-led anchor organisations can play enabling
in local community development, representing community interests, and working in
partnership with the public sector.21
47. Audit Scotland has also raised the importance of a focus on outcomes in front
line service delivery, as well as at more strategic planning levels. Our audit on SelfDirected Support recommended that staff should be provided with further training
and help on identifying and planning for outcomes; public bodies should monitor
and report the extent to which people’s personal outcomes are being met and use
this information to help plan for future processes and services.
48. Sustained engagement also means sharing good practice. The Scottish
Government has a key role to play in identifying and sharing successful
approaches. It currently funds a number of improvement teams and services, as
well as research programmes like What Works Scotland, but there may be scope
to join these up across the public sector and focus them more clearly on outcomes.
For example, in England, the Office for Students (OfS) has established an
Evidence and Impact Exchange (EIX) programme, which aims to identify
programmes that have successfully promoted access for underrepresented student
groups, to help higher education providers, government and the third sector to
work towards eliminating equality gaps in higher education.
49. Meaningful and sustained engagement is not just about finding out what works.
It is also about listening to people's experiences of what matters to them, and
understanding that priorities may change. For example, environmental issues may
become more important to the public, or human rights considerations more
prevalent. The challenge of an outcomes approach is to maintain the focus on
long-term goals, while constantly assessing progress and fine-tuning plans to
achieve the outcomes that the people of Scotland want to see for the future.

21

Page 40

Key messages about public service reform in Scotland, What Works Scotland.

Planning for outcomes
Briefing
This report is available in PDF and RTF formats,
along with a podcast summary at:
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk
If you require this publication in an alternative
format and/or language, please contact us to
discuss your needs: 0131 625 1500
or info@audit-scotland.gov.uk
For the latest news, reports
and updates, follow us on:

Audit Scotland, 4th Floor, 102 West Port, Edinburgh EH3 9DN
T: 0131 625 1500 E: info@audit-scotland.gov.uk
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

NHS workforce
planning – part 2
The clinical workforce in general practice

Prepared by Audit Scotland
August 2019

Page 43

Auditor General for Scotland
The Auditor General’s role is to:
•

appoint auditors to Scotland’s central government and NHS bodies

•

examine how public bodies spend public money

•

help them to manage their finances to the highest standards

•

check whether they achieve value for money.

The Auditor General is independent and reports to the Scottish Parliament
on the performance of:
•

directorates of the Scottish Government

•

government agencies, eg the Scottish Prison Service,
Historic Environment Scotland

•

NHS bodies

•

further education colleges

•

Scottish Water

•

NDPBs and others, eg Scottish Police Authority, Scottish Fire and
Rescue Service.

You can find out more about the work of the Auditor General on our website:
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/about-us/auditor-general

Audit Scotland is a statutory body set up in April 2000 under the Public
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. We help the Auditor General
for Scotland and the Accounts Commission check that organisations
spending public money use it properly, efficiently and
effectively.
Page
44

NHS workforce planning – part 2 | 3

Contents
Key facts

4

Summary

5

Part 1. The primary care landscape

12

Part 2. Planning the future workforce

20

Endnotes

32

Appendix 1. Progress on implementing the recommendations
made in NHS workforce planning: The clinical workforce in
secondary care

33

Appendix 2. Methodology

35

Appendix 3. Advisory group members

36

Links
PDF download
Web link
Interactive
Tableau exhibit,
where further
information can
be viewed online

Exhibit data
When viewing this
report online, you can
access background
data by clicking on
the graph icon. The
data file will open in a
new window.

Audit team
The core audit team consisted of:
Mark Ferris, Dharshi Santhakumaran,
Nichola Williams and Erin McGinley, with
support from other colleagues and under
the direction of Claire Sweeney.

Page 45

4|

Key facts

General practice-based
multidisciplinary
workforce (WTE)1

3,575

GPs in
2017

Investment
in GP
recruitment
and retention
since 2015/16

6,194

1,541

nurses in
2017

£15

over
1 in 3

million

Funding paid to GP
practices in 2017/18

£794

over
half

million

Notes:
1. Based on survey data.

Page 46

GPs are
aged 50
or over

Nurses employed by
GP practices are aged
50 or over

Summary | 5

Summary
Key messages

1

Expanding the primary care workforce is central to the government’s
2020 vision of delivering more care at home and in the community.
Primary care services face growing demand from an ageing population
and an increase in the number of people with multiple chronic
conditions. There are also pressures on workforce supply, including an
ageing workforce and problems with recruitment and retention. The
Scottish Government acknowledges these workforce pressures but has
not estimated the impact they will have on primary care services.

2

The Scottish Government is working to improve primary care workforce
data, but progress has been slow. There is a lack of national data on the
current numbers in the workforce, workforce costs, activity and demand.
This makes it difficult to plan the workforce effectively or to monitor
the impact of major policy changes, such as the new General Medical
Services contract.

3

The Scottish Government’s commitments to train additional GPs,
paramedics, nurses and midwives are on track, but it is not clear how
this increase in training will translate into numbers employed in the
primary care workforce. The Scottish Government has implemented
a range of initiatives to improve recruitment and retention of GPs but
these have had limited success to date. UK-wide pressures on the
workforce and increasing demand mean the government will find it
challenging to meet its GP target of an 800 (headcount) increase over
ten years. Meanwhile, similar workforce pressures will make it difficult
for integration authorities to increase the multidisciplinary workforce
by 2021/22.

4

People are generally positive about their experiences of primary care
and would be happy to receive care from professionals other than
doctors in a GP practice if they understood more about their roles.
However, not enough has been done to engage with the public on a
national level about these changes and why they are important.

5

Progress on national workforce planning has been slow, and there
has been a series of delays to planned outputs by the Scottish
Government. Responsibility for planning the primary care workforce
is split across different policy areas, risking duplication of work. This
complexity could further slow progress because of a lack of clarity
about who is responsible for making decisions.

Page 47

6|

Recommendations
The Scottish Government should:
• undertake scenario planning to identify the potential impact of
workforce pressures on all staff groups and set out how it plans
to address these. This should make use of the NHS Education for
Scotland (NES) data platform and include analysis of vacancy rates
and the demographics of the workforce
• work with NHS boards and integration authorities to model how
training and recruitment numbers across all healthcare staff groups
will meet estimated future demand for primary care
• provide a clear breakdown of the costs of meeting projected
demand through additional training and recruitment across all
healthcare staff groups
• implement plans to collect data from GP practices on workforce
numbers, activity, income and expenses. Whole time equivalent
(WTE) as well as headcount data should be collected on workforce
numbers. This data should be used to:
–– better understand the current workforce
–– underpin workforce planning
–– monitor progress against commitments
• collect data on the impact of workforce pressures on staff in primary
care and set out how any issues will be addressed. This should include:
–– workload
–– sickness absence levels
–– staff morale
–– intention to leave the workforce
• work with primary care professionals to develop a coordinated
national approach to engaging with the public about the changes to
how primary care services are delivered
• monitor the impact of the GMS contract, including:
–– progress towards achieving the aim of changing the role of the GP
and reducing GP workload
–– impact on rural and deprived areas
–– impact on staffing of out-of-hours services
–– impact on staff
–– impact on patients, including quality and continuity of care
• monitor progress towards meeting workforce commitments, including
identifying the barriers to meeting the commitments and putting plans
in place to meet demand if they are not achieved
• implement plans to simplify the workforce planning governance
structure and clearly identify roles and responsibilities both nationally
and locally.

Page 48

Summary | 7

Background
1. The Scottish Government’s long-term vision for health and social care is to
shift the balance of care so that there is a greater focus on keeping people well
in their own homes and the community. This vision is set out in a range of policy
documents and plans, going back to 2005, and is central to the government's
2020 Vision, published in 2011 (Exhibit 1, page 8). Primary care plays a
major role in achieving this vision, as primary care professionals can identify
issues early and support people to manage their own health as far as possible.
2. The Scottish Government intends to support the shift in the balance of care
by increasing funding for primary care. In Health and Social Care: medium term
financial framework, it committed to increasing primary care funding by
£500 million over five years, so that, by 2021, 11 per cent of the frontline NHS
Scotland budget should be spent on primary care.1 The financial framework did
not set out how the Scottish Government defines primary care spending, or what
proportion of this increase will be spent on the workforce.
3. As well as increasing funding for primary care, the Scottish Government
also aims to change the way primary care services are delivered. It plans to
expand the primary care workforce, so that care will be provided by a range of
professionals working together in multidisciplinary teams (MDTs). The Scottish
Government wants people to receive care from the most appropriate member
of the MDT. The size and make-up of these MDTs will vary according to local
need, but MDTs may include nurses, advanced nurse practitioners (ANPs),
physiotherapists, pharmacists and paramedics. MDTs may also include nonclinical staff, such as community link workers, who can support patients to
access wider services.
4. MDTs may be based in individual GP practices or work across a cluster of
practices. These teams are the focus of this audit, but they do not work in
isolation. To carry out their role, they need to work closely with other primary
care professionals, for example, district nurses and the wider community nursing
team, and colleagues working in hospitals and in social care. Any changes to the
way that professionals work in the MDT has an impact on those working in the
rest of the system. The Primary Care Clinical Professions Group have set out a
joint statement on their vision for the future of primary care, and how the different
professions will work together, based on 21 principles.2
5. Reform of primary care is complex and challenging. It is not solely the
responsibility of the Scottish Government; NHS boards and integration authorities
(IAs), which are partnerships between NHS boards and councils, have a crucial
role. The voluntary sector also has a role to play, particularly in the development
of the community link worker workforce. Locally, IAs are responsible for planning
and resourcing primary care services. As the multidisciplinary workforce grows,
the aim is that members of MDTs will be employed by NHS boards rather than
GP practices. In the longer term, NHS boards will also take on more responsibility
for owning practice premises.

Page 49

8|

Exhibit 1

Policy timeline
The Scottish Government’s vision to shift the balance of care has been in place since 2011.

Earlier documents include:
A National Framework for Service
Change in the NHS in Scotland

2020 Vision
September 2011

2012

June 2005

2013
Everyone Matters:
2020 Workforce vision
June 2013

2014

2015
Main report of the National
Review of Primary Care Out
of Hours Services
November 2015

2016

Health and Social
Care Delivery Plan
December 2016

National Health and Social
Care Workforce Plan:
Part one
June 2017

National Health and Social
Care Workforce Plan:
Part two
December 2017

Improving Together: A
National Framework for
Quality and GP Clusters in
Scotland
January 2017

2017

GMS Contract
November 2017

2018

2019

National Health and Social
Care Workforce Plan:
Part three

PCIPs published
June 2018

Health and Social Care:
Medium Term Financial
Framework
October 2018

Primary Care Monitoring
and Evaluation Framework

April 2018

March 2019

Future
Integrated National
Health and Social Care
Workforce Plan

Phase 2:
GMS Contract

To be published

To be published

Note: PCIPs – primary care improvement plans, produced by integration authorities.
Source: Audit Scotland

Page 50

Summary | 9

6. These changes to primary care will require effective national and local
workforce planning to make sure the right workforce is in place to meet the
needs of Scotland's population. In our 2013 report, Scotland’s public sector
workforce , we define workforce planning as ‘the process that organisations
use to make sure they have the right people with the right skills in the right place
at the right time’. For primary care, this means that the Scottish Government,
NHS boards and IAs have to understand the needs of the population, both now
and in the future, and plan the workforce to meet demand. We have previously
highlighted the risk that the NHS workforce is being planned in response to
budget pressures rather than strategic needs.3
7. Primary care is usually a person’s first point of contact with the NHS. It is
provided in the community by generalist health professionals, and includes
general practice, community pharmacy, dentistry and optometry services. It
covers both physical and mental health, and all age groups and health conditions.
8. Most GPs are self-employed. GP partners are GPs who own and run practices,
usually in partnership. Historically, they have been responsible for employing their
own staff, including other salaried GPs. Practices are contracted by NHS boards
to provide primary care services.
9. Data on the size and make-up of the primary care workforce is limited
(paragraphs 57–58), so workforce estimates are based on available survey
data (Exhibit 2, page 10).
10. In April 2018, the new General Medical Services (GMS) contract came into
effect. This contract aims to:
• refocus the role of GPs as expert medical generalists
• reduce GP workload and allow them to concentrate on patients with more
complex care needs
• provide better care and improved access for patients
• improve infrastructure and reduce risk.
11. The contract is accompanied by a memorandum of understanding (MOU),
which sets out the role of the GP as the senior clinical decision-maker at the
head of the MDT. The increased role of other professional groups in the practice
is intended to free up GP time and make it easier for patients to access the
most appropriate care. The MOU also sets out priorities for reform to support
the implementation of Phase 1 of the contract, from 1 April 2018 to 31 March
2021. As part of the contract, all IAs were required to work with NHS boards and
GPs to develop primary care improvement plans (PCIPs). These plans should
explain how the priorities set out in the MOU will be implemented locally. More
information on the background and aims of the GMS contract is provided in our
General Medical Services contract in Scotland: a short guide .4

Page 51

10 |

Exhibit 2

The multidisciplinary primary care workforce in Scotland
A number of professional groups make up the MDTs based in GP practices.

6,194

MDT primary care
clinical workforce

GPs

Nurses

Pharmacy
staff

Mental health
workers

3,575

411

1,541

Healthcare support
workers

399

268

x100 WTE

care workforce
114,220 Secondary
Notes:
1. Figures given are whole time equivalent.
2. The figures for GPs, nurses and healthcare support workers are estimates made as part of the 2017 National Primary Care Workforce
Survey carried out by ISD Scotland. These figures will only include staff members employed by the GP practice. Allied health
professional data is not available.
3. The secondary care WTE figure excludes administrative staff and may include some staff employed by the NHS board but working in
a GP practice, as it is not possible to separately identify these staff members.
Sources: Secondary care, ISD Scotland workforce trend data for March 2017 (2017 data used to be consistent with the latest primary
care workforce survey); Pharmacy staff data provided by the Scottish Government, as at March 2019; Mental health workers, Mental
health worker quarterly performance report, as at July 2019 (2019 data used for pharmacists and mental health workers, as 2017 data not
available); Other staff groups, ISD Scotland National Primary Care Workforce Survey 2017.

Page 52

Key facts | 11

About this audit
12. In July 2017, the Auditor General published the first in a series of audit reports
on NHS workforce planning.5 That report focused on clinical staff in a hospital
setting and concluded that:
• the Scottish Government and NHS boards had not planned effectively for
the long term
• responsibility for NHS workforce planning was confused
• there was a risk of further fragmentation as health and social care planning
and planning for specialist medical centres developed.
It found that NHS staff were raising concerns about workload, and that NHS
services were under increasing pressure. The Scottish Government expects
demand for health and social care to increase but is yet to provide a clear analysis
of the skills and workforce numbers needed to meet this demand. A summary
of progress against the recommendations made in the first report is set out in
Appendix 1 (page 33).
13. The aim of this audit was to establish how effectively the Scottish Government
is planning and developing the primary care clinical workforce to meet the needs
of the Scottish population. We set out to answer four key questions:
• How effectively is national workforce planning for the primary care clinical
workforce addressing current pressures on staff and patient care?
• How well are national primary care clinical workforce planning
arrangements considering the future needs of the Scottish population?
• What are the anticipated workforce costs to meet demand for primary care
services and how effectively are these being planned for?
• What impact will the new GMS contract have on the Scottish
Government’s ability to deliver its vision of primary care?
14. This audit looked mainly at the national approach to workforce planning
and how well it supports planning at regional and local levels. It focused on the
general practice-based workforce of GPs and the wider clinical MDT, including
nurses, allied health professionals (AHPs), pharmacists and others, as they are
central to the implementation of the new GMS contract. AHP is a term which
covers a range of healthcare professionals including paramedics, physiotherapists,
occupational therapists and podiatrists. For the purposes of this report, when we
refer to the primary care workforce, we mean the general practice-based clinical
workforce. Although the dentistry, optometry, community nursing and care home
workforce fell outwith the scope of this audit, they are an important part of the
overall primary care workforce, and many of the issues highlighted in this report
are also relevant to planning for the wider workforce.
15. This report is in two parts:
• Part 1 examines current pressures on the primary care workforce.
• Part 2 focuses on planning the future workforce to meet the needs of the
Scottish population.

Page 53

12 |

Part 1
The primary care landscape

There are significant pressures facing the primary care workforce
Demographic issues put increasing pressure on primary care services
16. Scotland’s population is ageing. People aged over 75 are projected to be the
fastest-growing age group in Scotland, expected to grow by 27 per cent between
2016 and 2026. The average number of patients registered at a GP practice is
increasing. Between 2013 and 2018, the average practice list size across Scotland
increased by eight per cent, from 5,602 to 6,073 patients.6 Scotland’s ageing
population means that more people will be living longer with multiple long-term
conditions, putting increasing pressure on the NHS.7 This places pressure on
general practice as GPs manage growing numbers of patients with multiple and
complex health needs.
17. There are significant health inequalities across Scotland. People living in the
most deprived areas have a lower life expectancy than those living in more
affluent areas. They are also likely to spend more years living with ill health. From
2015 to 2017, the difference in healthy life expectancy between the ten per cent
most deprived and ten per cent least deprived areas was 22.5 years for males
and 23 years for females.8 Primary care services in deprived areas face particular
issues in meeting the complex needs of their patients, who are more likely to
have multiple chronic conditions linked with poverty.
Recruitment and retention issues create pressures on the workforce
18. Recruitment and retention difficulties are one of the key issues facing the
primary care workforce (Exhibit 3, page 13). Although there has been a slight
increase in the overall headcount of GPs, the number of GPs who are partners
has decreased, from 3,721 in 2013 to 3,396 in 2018. The number of practices
being taken over by NHS boards has been rising.9 This means that the practice
is run by the NHS board instead of by GP partners as independent contractors,
often because of difficulties recruiting new partners or retaining existing ones.
The Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) Scotland recently reported that
26 per cent of GPs think they are unlikely to be working in general practice in
five years’ time.10
19. Until 2017, the main source of data on staff and vacancies in GP practices
was a primary care workforce survey, run by ISD Scotland, on behalf of the
Scottish Government. This was completed by GP practices and run every two
years. The survey was voluntary and had a response rate of 82 per cent in 2017,
up from 58 per cent in the previous survey, run in 2015. Fifty-nine per cent of GP
vacancies that occurred in 2017 were filled, but 27 per cent of those took more
than six months to fill. Commonly reported challenges in filling GP vacancies in
2017 included a shortage of applicants and the fact that the practice was in a
rural area. The most commonly reported reasons for difficulty in filling nursing
positions were a lack of candidates and the quality
of the
Page
54 candidates applying.

Part 1. The primary care landscape | 13

Exhibit 3

Pressures on the primary care workforce
The available data shows workforce numbers increasing, but there is wide variation in vacancy rates across the country.

Workforce in post

4,994

GPs in 2018

3,575 WTE
GPs in 2017

Up 2.4% since 2013 Down 4.3% since 2013

Absences

Practices that said they often
could not fill absences, 2017
Planned
absence

1,541WTE

Up 8.1% since 2013

Up 8.5% since 2013

Nurses in 2018

Nurses in 2017

Age of workforce

(50 years or over in 2017)

Unplanned
absence

GP

1/5

1/2

Nurse

1/10

1/4

Vacancies

2,297

50+

Over 1 in 3 GPs

5.6%

Over half of nurses

employed by GP practices

2.4%

vacancy rate for GPs
across Scotland

vacancy rate for nurses
in GP practices
across Scotland

Highest: 32.9%
NHS Shetland

Lowest: 2.4%
NHS Borders

Highest: 4.7%
NHS Lanarkshire

Lowest: 0%
NHS Borders, Orkney,
Shetland and Western Isles

practices reported

1 in 4 a GP vacancy in 2017

Interactive data
available on
our website

Notes:
1. The GP total includes 564 third-year trainees in 2018 and 490 third-year trainees in 2013. The figure for nurses includes only those
employed by a GP practice, and not those employed by an NHS board.
2. WTE – Whole-time equivalent.
3. Trend data not used for vacancies and age of workforce, as these figures are based on a survey with large differences in response
rates between years.
4. This level of detail is only available for GPs and nurses.
Source: Audit Scotland using ISD Scotland data

Page 55

14 |

20. Out-of-hours services are a fundamental part of the health system, providing
primary care services outwith GP practice opening times. Pressures on the
primary care workforce are also reflected in the delivery of out-of-hours services.
NHS boards completed the part of the primary care workforce survey that
asked about out-of-hours care. Boards reported that 90 per cent of out-of-hours
shifts were filled but noted the amount of effort this took. The most commonly
reported actions taken to fill shifts were the use of financial incentives such as
increased rates and staff working longer shifts. Other issues reported included:
• instances of both nurses covering GPs’ shifts and GPs covering nurses’
shifts
• out-of-hours services being delivered through NHS 24 and a hospital ward
because of difficulties in filling shifts
• a reduction in the number of locations where out-of-hours services were
provided.11
The primary care workforce is changing
21. The primary care workforce survey data is used to estimate the whole-time
equivalent (WTE) GP workforce across the country. The data shows a fall in the
WTE GP workforce from 3,645 in 2015 to 3,575 in 2017. This suggests that,
although the overall number of GPs may be increasing, more are choosing not
to work full-time. A GP session is about five hours, and one WTE represents
eight sessions a week. The demographics and changing working patterns of the
primary care workforce pose a challenge to future supply:
• A higher proportion of GPs aged between 50 and 59 are working eight or
more sessions a week.
• Those aged 25-49 years are more likely to be working four to seven
sessions a week.
• Partners are often working more sessions a week than salaried GPs.
The increase in the proportion of GPs who are salaried rather than partners, and
the pattern of younger GPs increasingly working part-time, is likely to mean that
for every GP that retires more than one will need to be trained and recruited to
replace them.
22. Recent changes to pension and tax arrangements may have an impact on
GP recruitment and retention. The British Medical Association (BMA) has raised
concerns that limits on annual and lifetime allowances, which govern how much
GPs can contribute to their pension funds before incurring a tax charge, will lead
to GPs retiring early or reducing their workloads. The BMA has also expressed
concerns about the impact of UK Government changes to increase employer
pension contributions by six percentage points, from 14.9 per cent to 20.9 per
cent, from April 2019. The UK Government has committed to provide funding to
cover some of the cost of increased pension contributions to the NHS. In June
2019, the Scottish Government confirmed that it would provide additional funding
to cover the remaining £48.4 million for 2019/20.
23. The Scottish Government has identified EU withdrawal as having a major
impact on the health and social care workforce, but it has not set out potential
scenarios or how it plans to respond. AlthoughPage
data on56
the nationality of doctors

Part 1. The primary care landscape | 15

is available only for those who took up a licence to practice in the UK from June
2017, the General Medical Council (GMC) holds data on country of qualification
for all doctors. This data shows that, in 2018, 3.7 per cent of Scottish GPs had
graduated in a European Economic Area (EEA) member country. Remote and
rural areas of Scotland, including Argyll and Bute, Orkney, Shetland and the
Western Isles are more reliant than other areas on non-UK-licensed doctors.12 The
GMC has looked at the relationship between where medical students qualified
and their nationality. It concluded that using place of qualification as a proxy for
nationality is likely to result in an underestimate of the number of doctors who
were EU nationals working in the UK.13
24. As at March 2018, five per cent of nurses and midwives in the UK had first
registered in the EEA. Between 2016/17 and 2017/18, there was a drop of 87
per cent in the number of EEA-qualified nurses and midwives joining the UK
register, and an increase of 29 per cent in those leaving it.14 This suggests that EU
withdrawal will exacerbate existing workforce pressures.
The Scottish Government does not collect enough information on the
impact that primary care workforce pressures are having on staff
25. There is a lack of data on the impact of workload pressures on staff in primary
care. The Scottish Government’s national staff survey is completed only by staff
employed by NHS boards, and not those employed by GP practices, or most GPs
themselves.
26. The GMC runs an annual survey of trainees and their trainers, including those
in general practice, which includes questions about workloads.15 Those delivering
training were more likely to report a heavy or very heavy workload than those
training in other specialties, 78 per cent compared with an average of 59 per cent
across all other specialties. They were also more likely to work beyond normal
working hours, with 59 per cent doing so daily. Among doctors in GP training
posts, although overall satisfaction was high, responses to questions on workload
indicate this is an area of concern. Thirty-five per cent rated their workload during
the day as heavy or very heavy, and 46 per cent were working beyond scheduled
hours at least weekly.
27. A recent RCGP survey of Scottish GPs found that 37 per cent feel so
overwhelmed by their daily tasks that they cannot cope at least once a week.
Workload pressures may have an impact on patient experience as well as staff
morale; 35 per cent said that their stress levels have an impact on their ability to
make decisions.16
28. Without national data on, for example, staff morale or sickness absence levels
for all staff groups, the Scottish Government cannot identify and monitor the
impact that workload pressures may be having on the primary care workforce.
When making major changes to the workforce, the Scottish Government needs
to understand the challenges facing the workforce and monitor the impact of
policy changes on the people delivering those changes.

Patients are generally happy with the quality of care from their
GP practice
29. The Scottish Government carries out a health and care experience survey
every two years. This asks the public about their experience of health and
care services; it covers GP practices and out-of-hours care. The latest survey,
in 2017/18, reported a mixed picture regarding patient experience. There is a
national target that 90 per cent of people should
be able
Page
57 to access a GP, or an

16 |

appropriate healthcare professional, within 48 hours if they need to. The survey
found that this target was met, with 93 per cent of people able to see a GP
within two days. All NHS boards, and all except two IAs, met this target. North
Lanarkshire and Aberdeenshire each missed it by one percentage point.
30. Although the responses to some questions in the survey indicated a decline
in patient satisfaction, satisfaction remains high overall (Exhibit 4, page 17).
Eighty-three per cent of people rated the overall care provided by their GP
practice as good or excellent in 2017/18, a slight fall from 87 per cent in 2011/12.
31. When asked about recent experiences with a health professional at their GP
practice, 93 per cent of people were positive about feeling listened to and 95
per cent understood the information they had been given. However, there was a
lower percentage of positive responses when people were asked if they felt their
treatment had been well coordinated (78 per cent) and if they knew the health
professional well (50 per cent).

More engagement with the public is needed on changes to
primary care
32. The Scottish Government’s vision for primary care represents a significant
change to how services will be delivered. It intends to expand GP-led MDTs to
enable people to receive care from the most appropriate member of the MDT
(Case study 1, page 18). The various professional groups believe a national
campaign is needed to ensure that members of the public understand why
they may be asked more questions than before when they want to make an
appointment, and why they will not necessarily see a GP. We have previously
reported on the need for greater public engagement by the Scottish Government,
NHS boards and IAs to build support for change by increasing understanding.17
Following discussions between the primary care professions and the Cabinet
Secretary for Health and Sport, the Scottish Government is currently developing
its approach to public engagement on this issue.
33. Some public engagement has suggested that people may be happy to see
other staff members within a GP practice when they understand more about
the roles of these staff members and are confident in the quality of care. A
survey was carried out by Our Voice Citizens’ Panel to ask people about primary
healthcare and their views on seeing non-GP medical professionals.18 Seventyeight per cent of respondents said that they would consider going directly to nonGP healthcare professionals if they were happy with the treatment that they had
received from them previously. Three-quarters would be more likely to accept an
appointment with a health or social care professional who was not a GP if they
understood more about their role.19
34. The Scottish Government commissioned a study on pharmacists working in
GP practices, carried out through surveys and interviews with patients and the
other members of the MDTs in the practices. Both the patients and the teams
had positive feedback about the quality of the care, and the knowledge and ability
of the pharmacists. Eighty-four per cent of patients surveyed said that they were
confident that the pharmacist would prescribe as safely as a GP and 83 per cent
said that they were more interested in the quality of the care they received than
in who delivered it. However, 43 per cent still said that, given the choice, they
would prefer to see a GP rather than a pharmacist.20

Page 58

Part 1. The primary care landscape | 17

Exhibit 4

Health and care experience survey
The results of the survey show that patients are mostly satisfied with their care, although in some areas there has
been a drop in satisfaction.

Health and care
experience survey

68%

able to book
an appointment
in advance

51

%

(by at least 3 days)
Down from 80%
in 2011/12

Up from 45%
in 2011/12

83%

83%

said their overall
care was good
or excellent

who used
out-of-hours care
rated the quality of
care as good or
excellent

Down from 87%
in 2011/12

87%

people able to
speak to a doctor or
nurse on the same
day, when required

found it easy or
very easy to
contact their GP
in the way that
they want

67%

happy with the
arrangements
for seeing a GP
Down from 75%
in 2011/12

70%

happy with the
arrangements for
seeing a medical
professional
Interactive data
available on
our website

Note: Trend data not available for all questions.
Source: Audit Scotland using the Scottish Government's health and care experience survey

Page 59

18 |

Case study 1
Musculoskeletal (MSK) physiotherapists
MSK conditions are estimated to account for about one in five GP
appointments, and are the second biggest cause of sickness absence in
the UK. MSK advanced practitioner physiotherapists as a first point of
contact in primary care MDTs have the potential to:
• improve access for patients
• support greater self-management
• reduce GP workload
• reduce referrals to orthopaedic specialists.
Several areas around Scotland have introduced MSK physiotherapist pilots
to show the impact that this can have on general practice. For example:

Nov
2015

NHS Forth Valley
recruited 2.4 WTE MSK
advanced practitioner
physiotherapists to work
across two GP practices.

Over the first two years, 8,417
patients accessed the service,
with 60 per cent of people
able to self-manage following
the appointment. Orthopaedic
referrals decreased across both
practices by approximately
212 referrals a year.

Jun
2016

Inverclyde appointed an
MSK advanced practitioner
physiotherapist (0.88 WTE)
to work across
three GP practices.

The pilot concluded in June
2017. During the pilot, the
physiotherapist saw 55 per cent
of MSK consultations across the
three practices and 56 per cent of
referrals were made directly by
receptionists to the physiotherapist.
It was reported that the proportion
of consultations where people
needed to be prescribed
medication decreased from
80 per cent to 20 per cent for
patients presenting with an MSK
problem. The evaluation highlighted
the need for better routine data
collection to enable monitoring
of the impact on GP time and on
referrals to secondary care services.

Source: Audit Scotland using Evaluation of New Models of Primary Care: Inverclyde Case Study,
Scottish School of Primary Care, January 2018 and information provided by NHS Forth Valley

The new GMS contract will affect the primary care workforce
The new GMS contract is accompanied by a new funding formula that
may affect rural areas
35. The new contract is accompanied by a new funding formula for GP practices.
The aim of the new formula is to better reflect the workload of GPs. The practices
that stand to lose funding because of this new formula have received a guarantee
from the Scottish Government that their funding will be protected. Some rural GPs

Page 60

Part 1. The primary care landscape | 19

have expressed concerns that the formula will have a disproportionate impact on
rural GP practices, as under the new workload calculation they are less likely to
receive an increase in funding than urban practices.
36. Under the previous formula, rural practices received more funding per patient
than practices in urban areas, an average of £264.1 per patient in the most rural
areas in 2017/18, compared with £101.2 per patient in the most urban areas.21
Although funding has been protected so that no practice will see its funding drop,
difficulties in recruiting and retaining staff may increase when these practices
have to compete for staff with practices with increased funding. This could also
have an impact on the morale of staff. These concerns have been raised in
response to a petition to the Scottish Parliament on medical care in rural areas.22
37. The Rural GP Association of Scotland carried out a survey with a small sample
of 66 rural GPs on the new contract, in March 2018. Sixty-eight per cent felt less
confident that the changes would benefit rural practices and about 70 per cent felt
less confident about the sustainability of their practice. Concerns were specifically
expressed about the funding formula, recruitment and retention issues, and out-ofhours service delivery.
The Scottish Government should do more to measure the impact of the
GMS contract on patients and staff
38. The Scottish Government carried out an equality impact assessment on the
GMS contract, in which it considered the impact that the contract could have on
specific groups, including certain age groups, different genders and those from
deprived areas and rural areas.23 The GP contract impact assessment split this into:
• the impact on GPs
• the impact on the rest of the primary care team
• the impact on patients.
39. The impact assessment does not fully consider the concerns expressed
about some aspects of the new contract. For example, the assessment
concludes that there will be a positive impact on rural practices because
protected funding mitigates the potential negative impact of the funding formula.
As the impact assessment does not fully acknowledge potential risks it does not
set out how any negative impact could be monitored, or concerns addressed.
40. The Scottish Government published a primary care monitoring and evaluation
strategy in March 2019.24 This includes indicators on the size of the workforce and
involves the use of the health and care experience survey to measure patients’
views. There are no measures that would allow the Scottish Government to
monitor the direct impact of the GMS contract, including the intended effects on
the role of the GP, recruitment and retention, and any impact on staff or patient
care. The Scottish Government is due to publish an evaluation work plan to provide
more detail on how it will monitor the priority areas set out in the strategy. Health
Scotland is also due to produce a report on primary care in Scotland later in 2019,
which is planned to include data across a wider range of indicators.

Page 61

20 |

Part 2
Planning the future workforce

The Scottish Government is developing its approach to
workforce planning but progress has been slow
41. The Scottish Government initially planned to publish a national workforce
plan in spring 2017, covering the entire health and social care workforce. It
then revised its approach, publishing the plan in three parts, covering the NHS
workforce, the social care workforce and the primary care workforce. This was to
be followed by an integrated national health and social care workforce plan, a joint
publication with the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities (COSLA), in 2018.
This is now due to be published in 2019 (Exhibit 5).

Exhibit 5

Workforce planning and primary care outputs have been delayed

2017
National
workforce plan

2018

2019

Published in three parts
Part 1:
June 2017

Part 2:
Dec 2017

Collation of workforce
planning tools

Part 3:
Apr 2018
Delivery
date tbc

Now included as a project within
the workforce planning programme

Integrated
workforce plan
Workforce planning
guidance
Workforce planning
vision and values

Delivery
date tbc

Due to be published alongside the
integrated workforce plan

Draft developed by the National Health and
Social Care Workforce Plan Programme Board

Primary care monitoring and
evaluation strategy
Scottish School of Primary Care
evaluation of new models of care

(commissioned by the Scottish Government)
Source: Audit Scotland

Now due
2019

Page 62

Delivery
date tbc

Published
March 2019
Published
May 2019

Part 2. Planning the future workforce | 21

42. The third part of the plan, published in April 2018, considers how primary care
workforce arrangements will change.25 The plan sets out the intention to reform
primary care in Scotland by building and expanding primary care MDTs. The plan
recognises the challenges facing primary care, including that demand for primary
care services is increasing, because of the ageing population and a rise in people
suffering from two or more chronic conditions. It also notes the pressures arising
from an ageing workforce, but it does not include projections of what this might
mean in terms of numbers leaving the workforce.
43. The Scottish Government acknowledges that it needs to develop a more
sophisticated approach to workforce modelling. It also recognises that more
needs to be done to improve primary care data to inform workforce planning.
In NHS workforce planning: The clinical workforce in secondary care , we
recommended that the Scottish Government should:
• improve understanding of future demand
• demonstrate how training and recruitment numbers will meet estimated
demand
• provide a clear breakdown of the costs of meeting projected demand
through additional recruitment.
44. In April 2019, NHS Education for Scotland launched a data platform to bring
together data on workforce supply. The platform includes data on different stages of
the GP training pipeline and will give a better picture of how the numbers entering
training will translate into the number entering employment in NHS Scotland, as
well as the numbers of trainees leaving Scotland or going to work in other areas
of the health service. The platform is available to both national and local workforce
planners and should enable a more joined-up approach to workforce planning across
the health service. The extent to which it can be used for primary care workforce
planning will be limited until better data on the primary care workforce is available.

Workforce planning is fragmented
45. Nationally, responsibility for health and social care workforce planning sits in
one division of the Scottish Government and responsibility for primary care sits
in another (Exhibit 6, page 22). This creates a risk that workforce planning
for different elements of the workforce is carried out separately, without a
coordinated, strategic approach to planning the whole primary care workforce.
The Scottish Government intends to create a revised structure to move towards a
more strategic approach. This is due to be in place by November 2019.
46. Locally, NHS boards and integration authorities need to work together to plan
the primary care workforce.
• NHS boards are responsible for contracting with GP practices to provide
general medical services in their area. They are required to submit annual
workforce plans and workforce projections, but most of their plans do not
specifically mention primary care.
• IAs are responsible for planning, designing and commissioning primary
care services. IAs are supposed to produce workforce plans, but not all
have done so. They are also responsible for the development of primary
care improvement plans, in collaborationPage
with NHS
63 boards and local GP
subcommittees.

22 |

Exhibit 6

Workforce planning roles and responsibilities
Responsibility for planning the primary care workforce is fragmented.

National
Scottish Government
Health
Workforce,
Leadership and
Service Reform
Directorate –

Health Workforce
Division
Responsible for:
• National Health
and Social Care
Integrated
Workforce Plan
• Workforce
planning policy
• NHS pay and
conditions

Directorate for
Chief Nursing
Officer

Directorate for
Mental Health

Responsible for:
• Nursing,
midwifery and
AHP workforce
policy

Responsible for:
• Mental Health
Strategy
2017-2027
• Commitment to
800 additional
mental health
workers,
including in GP
practices

Directorate for
Population
Health – Primary

Care Division
Responsible for:
• National Health
and Social Care
Workforce Plan
Part 3
• Primary care
workforce
policy
• GMS contract

NHS Education
for Scotland
NHS special board

Responsible for:
• Education and
training of
healthcare
workforce
• NHS data
platform

Strategic groups include:

Strategic groups include:

• National GMS Oversight Group
• Remote and Rural Working Group
• Vaccinations Transformation Programme
Board
• Primary Care IT Group

• National Health and Social Care
Workforce Plan Programme Board
• National Workforce Planning Group
• Workforce Planning Practice Subgroup

Regional
• Three planning groups for North Scotland, West of Scotland, and South-East and Tayside
• The regional groups have not produced workforce plans and are not required to do so
• Regional delivery plans were due to be published by autumn 2018. These were to include consideration of
workforce but it is not clear when these will be published

Local
14 territorial NHS boards

31 integration authorities

• All NHS boards (except NHS Orkney) have
workforce plans
• Contract for provision of primary medical services
in their area
• As part of new GMS contract will be responsible
for employing wider MDT members

• Responsible for planning and resourcing primary
care services
• Development and implementation of PCIPs

Source: Audit Scotland

Page 64

Part 2. Planning the future workforce | 23

47. The National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan Programme Board was
set up in November 2018. This is a group of representatives from the Scottish
Government, COSLA and the Scottish Social Services Council. It was set up
to oversee the development and delivery of the whole health and social care
workforce planning programme and to provide clearer governance. Progress
against the workforce commitments in the plans is the responsibility of the
relevant policy teams in the Scottish Government.
48. The National GMS Oversight Group is responsible for overseeing
implementation of the new GMS contract across Scotland. This group includes
representatives from the Scottish Government, NHS boards, IAs and the Scottish
General Practitioners Committee (SGPC). It does not include the professional
organisations which represent the different healthcare staff groups which make
up MDTs. In addition, there are several groups that provide advice and support on
a range of issues such as remote and rural, IT and premises.
49. In NHS workforce planning: The clinical workforce in secondary care ,
we reported on the risk that the number of workforce plans and workforce groups
could become a barrier to effective working. It is important that NHS boards and
IAs work together with the Scottish Government to ensure their different plans
align and that their respective roles are clear.

It is not clear how the Scottish Government’s workforce
commitments will contribute to the wider ambitions for
primary care
50. The Scottish Government has made several commitments to train and
recruit a range of primary care professionals (Exhibit 7, page 24). Planning
the primary care workforce at a national level has been complex and challenging
because most practices are run by self-employed GP partners who have been
responsible for employing other practice staff. This has made it difficult to both
understand the size and make-up of the existing workforce and also to plan for
changes to the future workforce.
51. The commitments to train additional staff are either on track or have already
been achieved. For the commitments relating to staff groups who work across
the health service, such as nurses and paramedics, it is difficult to assess what
the impact will be on the primary care workforce specifically, as those trained
may go on to work outwith Scotland or in other parts of the health system. The
Scottish Government’s intention to increase the primary care workforce and
expand the role of MDTs is clear, but it has not set out in detail how it anticipates
that its workforce commitments will:
• reduce GP workload
• improve patient care and access
• meet future demand.
52. It is also unclear how these commitments link to workforce decisions
being made at a local level. IAs are responsible for specifying the future
primary care workforce they need to deliver services in their area. The Scottish
Government did not use information from IAs about their requirements to inform
its commitments and such information is not being used to monitor progress
towards achieving them.
Page 65

24 |

Exhibit 7

NHS workforce commitments
The Scottish Government has made a number of commitments to increase the NHS workforce.
Primary care commitments

Status Progress

800 more GPs

Further information in paragraphs 53-54

(headcount) over next 10 years

100 more GP specialist
training places

This was achieved in 2016 and 2017.
There was a change in the way GP training was delivered in 2018,
moving from a mixture of three- and four-year courses to only threeyear courses. As a result, the number of new places advertised fell,
but the overall number of training posts increased.

from 300 to 400

500 more health
visitors by 2018

(late)

There was an increase of between 509.1 and 575.9 WTE, between
March 2014 and March 2019. This is based on estimated 2014 data.

All GP practices to have
access to pharmacist
support by the end of 2021

Funding for this has been provided by the Primary Care
Transformation Fund. This had funded pharmacy support for about
68 per cent of GP practices as at December 2018.
There is no information on how many of the remaining 32 per cent
have pharmacy support funded through other means.

Up to 250 community link
workers to work in GP
surgeries by 2021

It is difficult to assess whether this commitment is on track
because there is a lack of complete data on the current number of
these workers, and on trends.
Primary Care Improvement Plans report 120 community link
workers in post in 2018/19.

at least 40 being recruited in
the coming year

Wider commitments with primary care impact

2,600 more nursing and
midwifery training places
by 2021

The Scottish Government sets the number of nursing university
places for Scottish students. This increased to 4,006 for 2019/20.
If current trends continue, it looks likely that an additional 2,600
places cumulatively will be achieved by 2021.

500 additional ANPs
trained by 2021

1,023 nurses received funding to undertake training, 425 from a
primary or community care background, during 2017/18 and 2018/19.
As at December 2018, 60 nurses had completed ANP education,
with the Scottish Government expecting an additional 95 to have
completed it by September 2019.

1,000 more paramedics
training in the community
over five years

518 paramedics trained, and 57 more recruited between 2016/17
and 2018/19.

including 50 with enhanced
skills to work in the community

800 additional mental health
workers over 5 years in
A&Es, GP practices, police
custody suites and prisons
Incomplete data
Source: Audit Scotland

An additional 268 mental health workers were appointed as of
1 July 2019; 99 were in GP surgeries.

Not on track

Page 66

On track

Achieved

Part 2. Planning the future workforce | 25

53. One of the most ambitious workforce commitments is the plan to have
an additional 800 GPs over a ten-year period. Taking 2017 as the baseline, an
additional 800 GPs would represent an 18 per cent increase, from 4,398 to 5,198.
The Scottish Government has not set out what impact these additional GPs will
have or how the target reflects retirement rates or changes in working patterns.
It has not provided an assessment of how policy initiatives will contribute to
reaching the target, or identified what the risks are if it is not achieved.
54. We have analysed the trend in GPs joining and leaving the NHS workforce in
Scotland over the last ten years, the potential impact if ten per cent of GPs from
the EU were to leave the workforce and the impact of changing working patterns.
Our analysis indicates that GP numbers will remain broadly stable over the period
2017–27. Exhibit 8 shows the potential gap between the Scottish Government’s
commitment and the likely number of GPs, taking account of past trends and
future pressures.

Exhibit 8

Potential shortfall in the number of GPs, 2027
Factors such as changing working patterns and past trends in GP joiners and leavers indicate that GP numbers are
likely to remain fairly stable, which will make achieving the Scottish Government’s commitment challenging.

GPs
2027 5,198
(with additional 800)

30.2
Projected EU withdrawal gap

Target

89.7
Impact of changing working patterns

Total gap

661.5
Projected gap based on
joiner and leaver trends

4,416.6

Projected
number of GPs

Interactive data
available on
our website

Note: See Appendix 2 for methodology.
Source: Audit Scotland using ISD Scotland data

Page 67

26 |

55. The target is based on a headcount of GPs, rather than WTE. With more
GPs working part-time, this is likely to translate into considerably less than 800
additional WTE GPs (paragraph 21). This makes it difficult to assess:
• what impact achieving this commitment would have on the primary care
workforce and pressures in primary care
• how it would contribute to the Scottish Government’s aim to change the
way primary care is delivered through the use of MDTs.
56. Some individual boards have considered these issues as part of local
workforce planning. For example, in 2017, before the new GMS contract came
into effect, the IAs in Ayrshire and Arran looked at the age profile of their GP
population and at trends in recruitment and working patterns. On this basis,
they calculated that for every GP leaving the workforce they would need to
recruit an additional 1.6 GPs to maintain workforce capacity. Based on trends
in retirement, they projected that they were likely to need an additional 80 GPs
by 2022, without factoring in any additional recruitment needed to increase
the workforce. This level of GP recruitment was assessed as being difficult to
achieve. To address this the IAs developed a primary care programme to focus
on implementing multidisciplinary working in practices and to divert activity away
from GP practices where appropriate.

A lack of data on the primary care workforce will make it difficult
to assess whether the GMS contract is achieving its aims
57. In 2008, in our report on the previous GMS contract, we highlighted that
there was a lack of basic data on general practice, making it difficult to plan the
workforce effectively. We recommended that:
• the Scottish Government collect robust data before implementing major
schemes so that it could base decisions on accurate information
• the Scottish Government and NHS boards collect comprehensive data on
GP numbers and GP practice staff numbers to support workforce planning
at national and local levels.26
58. Between 2004 and 2018, GP practices were not obliged to provide data on
staff employed by the practice. Lack of data on practice-employed staff means
that there are no accurate figures on the size and make-up of the primary care
workforce.
59. In 2018/19, £870.5 million was spent on GMS funding, making up 6.4 per
cent of the total health budget. This is a real terms increase of 13 per cent
since 2013/14, when GMS funding made up six per cent of the health budget.27
The latest published data on GP practice funding is for 2017/18. About £794
million was paid to GP practices. This covers the cost of delivering core primary
care services, including payments to GP partners and staff salaries for those
employed directly by the practice. It also includes additional payments for
premises, seniority payments for staff and payments for some additional services
commissioned by NHS boards. There is no data available on how much of this is
spent on staff, so primary care workforce costs cannot be separately identified.

Page 68

Part 2. Planning the future workforce | 27

60. Accurate workforce data is essential for effective workforce planning both
nationally and locally. Without a clear picture of the size and make-up of the
primary care workforce, WTE as well as headcount, it is difficult to plan the
workforce to meet future need and to assess progress against plans to increase
the workforce. Similarly, without accurate information on the costs of the primary
care workforce, it is difficult to project what the cost of expanding the workforce
will be. Some work has been done to assess the pharmacy workforce needed to
meet future demand (Case study 2).

Case study 2
Pharmacy modelling
The Scottish Government commissioned the University of Strathclyde
and Robert Gordon University to carry out some work on the
involvement of pharmacists in GP practices. The results were published
in November 2018. The universities looked at the pharmacy workforce
across Scotland to get an understanding of the workforce and to model
future demand.
They wanted to calculate the potential workforce needed to take on two
areas of work: polypharmacy clinics, for patients receiving prescriptions
for four or more medications, and requests for non-repeat medication.
To do this, they carried out case studies in NHS Greater Glasgow and
Clyde and NHS Lothian. As both NHS boards already collect data on
pharmacy activity and demand, it was possible to project the number of
WTE pharmacists required to meet demand in these areas and model
this nationally.
For example, for acute medication requests they calculated the time
taken and corresponding WTE figure using both the NHS Greater
Glasgow and Clyde model, and the NHS Lothian model.

Process two acute prescriptions for all patients
Estimated hours

Estimated WTE staff

Scotland
(NHS GGC 3 mins
per acute prescription)

196,702 hrs

114.0 WTE

563,880 hrs

326.9 WTE

Scotland
(NHS Lothian 8.6 mins
per acute prescription)

As part of this work, they recommended that NHS boards follow a
consistent approach to collecting and reporting data on pharmacy
activity.
Source: Audit Scotland using Evaluation of pharmacy teams in GP practice report,
Robert Gordon University and the University of Strathclyde

Page 69

28 |

61. As part of the new GMS contract, GP practices will be required to provide
data on income and expenses and on practice-employed staff. Arrangements for
the collection of this data were not in place when the contract came into effect in
April 2018. The contract document states that data collection to inform phase 2
would start in 2018/19. This data collection was piloted in April 2019 and is due to
be rolled out to all GP practices over the summer of 2019. This data will be used
to inform the development of Phase 2 of the contract. It is expected to include
the data previously collected through the primary care workforce survey.
62. As part of Phase 2, the Scottish Government plans to introduce a guaranteed
income range for GPs, similar to that currently in place for consultants, and
to directly reimburse practice expenses. This is due to come into effect from
2020/21, but there is a risk that Phase 2 will be delayed or based on limited data.
National data on activity and demand has not been available since 2012
63. Since 2012, the Scottish Government has been working with NHS National
Services Scotland to improve the extraction of data from GP practice records by
developing the Scottish Primary Care Information Resource (SPIRE). In December
2018, SPIRE had been deployed in 93 per cent of Scottish GP practices.
64. Until 2013, data on consultations with GPs and other members of practice
teams was collected from a sample of six per cent of practices. This was used
as the basis for estimates for Scotland. SPIRE is intended to provide an improved
source of activity data and was originally due to be operational in 2016. As
implementation has taken longer than planned, estimates of practice workload
are considerably out of date, including those used as the basis for the funding
allocation formula for the new GMS contract.
65. As part of the GMS contract, the Scottish Government intends to collect
information on hours worked by GPs, but there is no clear timetable in place for
when this data collection will begin. To fully understand primary care activity and
demand, data is needed on the number of consultations with all staff groups. The
Scottish Government is in the early stages of modelling work intended to give it a
better understanding of demand and to assess the potential impact of the range
of commitments included in its Health and Social Care Delivery Plan. This work
is currently limited in its ability to model the impact of primary care commitments
by the lack of robust data. However, the Scottish Government hopes that in the
longer term it will have an analytical model in place that can be used to model
workforce capacity across health and social care.
66. As SPIRE is not yet fully deployed, there is no up-to-date information at
a national level on what activity is being moved to other MDT members and
the impact that this is having on GP workload. Without this data, the Scottish
Government will not be able to assess whether the new contract is achieving the
aim to change the role of the GP and reduce GP workload.
67. The development of MDTs depends on having the digital and physical
infrastructure in place to enable joint working. Different professional groups
currently use different records management systems. This makes it difficult for
MDT members to share information. MDTs will operate differently in different
local contexts, but for those based in GP practices there can be challenges
in accommodating an expanded MDT on the existing premises. The Scottish
Government has asked IAs to clearly set out in the second iteration of the PCIPs
how they are identifying the digital and physical infrastructure needed locally to

Page 70

Part 2. Planning the future workforce | 29

deliver the priorities set out in the MOU accompanying the GMS contract. The
costs of digital infrastructure to support additional staff are to be included in the
PCIPs as core workforce costs.

Putting the workforce in place to deliver the planned primary
care changes will be challenging
68. The Scottish Government has implemented a range of initiatives to increase
recruitment and retention of GPs. Between 2015/16 and 2016/17, it invested
£2.5 million on recruitment and retention. In 2017/18, it increased this funding
to £5 million and provided a further £7.5 million in 2018/19, bringing the total
investment to £15 million. Initiatives include:
• ScotGEM: a four-year graduate entry medical course, open to students
who have graduated with a degree other than medicine. The course has a
focus on general practice and rural working. Students can also apply for a
bursary of £4,000 per year if they agree to work in Scotland’s NHS for at
least one year for every year they received the bursary, after graduating.
There are currently 55 students enrolled on the course.
• Pre-medical entry courses at Glasgow and Edinburgh universities: these
courses are designed to widen access to medical training by providing
40 places for students from disadvantaged backgrounds to prepare for
undergraduate medical training.
• The Scottish Rural Medicine Collaborative: this is a programme to develop
ways to improve recruitment and retention in rural areas.
• A relocation package and ‘golden hello’ scheme: these measures are
intended to encourage GPs to work in 160 eligible rural practices.
• A marketing and recruitment campaign: the campaign aims to attract GPs
from the rest of the UK and overseas to work in Scotland.
• Mentoring and coaching programmes: the objective is to help retain the
existing workforce.
• The Scotland GP returners programme: designed to make it easier for GPs
who have taken a break to return to general practice.
69. The Scottish Government has reported that, between 2015/16 and 2017/18,
an additional 39 GPs were recruited as a result of this recruitment and retention
funding. Despite the additional funding, based on the number of additional
GPs recruited to date, and the scale of pressures on the workforce, it will be
challenging for the Scottish Government to recruit an additional 800 GPs by 2027.
70. Some areas have implemented local initiatives to improve recruitment and
retention of GPs. NHS Ayrshire and Arran runs a ‘GPs with enhanced role’
programme, which enables GPs to work part time in a practice and part time in
an acute specialty.
71. The expansion of the MDT workforce depends on the availability of staff
across the various professional groups with the necessary skills and experience.
Although the Scottish Government has made commitments to train additional

Page 71

30 |

GPs, nurses, ANPs and paramedics, this increase in supply will take time to
result in an increase in the available workforce. The Scottish Government does
not currently control the number of training places for AHPs, making it harder
to plan for numbers entering the workforce. The National Health and Social
Care Workforce Plan Part 3 notes that NHS boards have indicated that there
are challenges with recruitment across the AHP workforce and states that the
Scottish Government is considering options for taking a more managed approach
to training AHPs. There is no published timescale for this work.

More needs to be done locally to plan the future workforce
72. In support of the 2018 GMS contract, all 31 integration authorities were asked
to develop the first versions of their primary care improvement plans by 1 July
2018. There was considerable variation in the detail provided in the initial plans,
particularly in relation to projected workforce numbers and costs. The Scottish
Government provided additional guidance on what the second iteration of PCIPs
should cover. These were due as soon as possible after 1 April 2019. IAs are now
also required to submit a tracker every six months to report on progress against
the PCIPs.
73. PCIPs also provide an opportunity for the Scottish Government to collect
local-level information on demand. Some plans use local monitoring data to
assess trends in demand. For example:
• The three IAs in Ayrshire and Arran worked together to collect data on the
recent increase it has seen in demand on primary care services, including
a seven per cent increase in the rate of consultations per 1,000 patients
since 2015.
• East Dunbartonshire IA has projected demand in 2025 based on a model
using data from practices across Scotland and population estimates
for NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde. It estimates that face-to-face GP
consultations across Greater Glasgow and Clyde will increase from 3.77
million to 4.26 million per year. It also projects a rise in district nursing
contacts of 25.7 per cent by 2025.
74. Based on an analysis of national trend data, for some staff groups the PCIP
projections would require the workforce to grow at a much faster rate than it has
in previous years (Exhibit 9, page 31). This indicates that local projections
will be difficult to achieve, regardless of available funding, without a substantial
increase in workforce supply across the country over the next three years.
75. Integration authorities have identified issues with the availability of staff as
one of the main barriers to implementing their PCIPs. As all IAs are working
to expand their primary care workforce during Phase 1 of the GMS contract,
there is a significant risk that they will be in competition for the same limited
workforce. This may cause additional recruitment challenges in rural areas, where
recruitment is already difficult.
76. Locally, some NHS boards and IAs are taking steps to support the expansion
of the workforce and development of new roles. For example, to help support the
recruitment and training of ANPs, NHS boards in the west of Scotland have come
together to establish the West of Scotland Advanced Practice Academy. The
academy has developed a coordinated training and development programme for
ANPs, working in collaboration with general practice.
Page 72

Part 2. Planning the future workforce | 31

Exhibit 9

Workforce projections
The numbers of staff that IAs are projecting that they will need over the next three years represent much larger
increases in staff than have been seen in recent years.
559.3

600

537.1
463.1

400

293.1

109.8

200

0

294.8

262.3

Pharmacists

111.3

101.7

Pharmacy
technicians

Nursing

(working on
vaccinations and
community healthcare)

Projections based
on past trends

Healthcare
assistants

What the PCIPs
have projected

Source: Audit Scotland using PCIPs and ISD Scotland workforce data

77. It is likely that the expansion of the primary care practice-based workforce will
have unintended consequences for workforce numbers in other parts of the NHS. In
some areas, NHS boards are struggling to find staff to work in out-of-hours services.
There is a risk that this situation will worsen if staff find working in a practice more
attractive. For example, over the period 2017/18 to 2018/19, 12 nurses left the outof-hours service in NHS Lothian to work in GP practices. Similarly, pharmacists have
raised concerns that the increase in pharmacists working in GP practices is leading
to staff shortages in community and hospital pharmacies.
78. Part 3 of the national workforce plan does not assess the potential impact of
primary care workforce expansion on other parts of the healthcare system.
In Changing models of health and social care , we reported on the benefits
of taking a whole-system approach to planning health and social care services,
which would assess the impact of changes to the primary care workforce on the
NHS more widely.

Page 73

60.0

Physiotherapists

32 |

Endnotes
1

Health and social care: medium term financial framework, the Scottish Government, October 2018.

2

The future of primary care in Scotland: A view from the professions, Primary Care Clinical Professions Group, September 2016
(updated May 2017).

3

Health and social care integration

4

General Medical Services contract in Scotland: a short guide

5

NHS workforce planning: The clinical workforce in secondary care

6

General practice – GP workforce and practice list sizes 2008–2018, ISD Scotland, December 2018.

7

NHS in Scotland 2018

8

Healthy life expectancy for Scottish areas, 2015-2017, National Records of Scotland, 2019.

9

General practice – GP workforce and practice list sizes 2008–2018, ISD Scotland, December 2018.

, Audit Scotland, December 2015.
, Audit Scotland, May 2019.
, Audit Scotland, July 2017.

, Audit Scotland, October 2018.

10 From the frontline – the changing landscape of Scottish general practice, Royal College of General Practitioners Scotland, June 2019.
11 Primary care workforce survey Scotland 2017, ISD Scotland, March 2018.
12 Health select committee inquiry: Impact of a no-deal Brexit on health and social care, General Medical Council, 2018.
13 The relationship between the primary medical qualification region and nationality at the time of registration, 2017 and 2018,
General Medical Council, November 2018.
14 The NMC register, Nursing and Midwifery Council, March 2018.
15 2018 National training survey, General Medical Council.
16 From the frontline – The changing landscape of Scottish general practice, Royal College of General Practitioners Scotland, June 2019.
17 NHS in Scotland 2018

, Audit Scotland, October 2018.

18 Our Voice Citizens’ Panel is a large, demographically representative group of citizens selected at random. The panel is used to
gather information on the views of the public on health and social care policy and services.
19 Survey on the use of digital technologies for healthcare improvement, using and sharing personal health and social care
information and access to healthcare professionals other than doctors, Our Voice Citizens’ Panel, January 2018.
20 Evaluation of pharmacy teams in GP practice, Robert Gordon University and University of Strathclyde, November 2018.
21 NHS Scotland payments to general practice 2017-18, ISD Scotland, November 2018, Practice populations by urban/rural
classification, ISD Scotland, December 2018. Urban/rural classifications are based on the location of the practice, patients may
not necessarily live in areas with the same urban/rural classification as the practice itself.
22 Rural GP Association of Scotland submission of 14 October 2018
23 Equality impact assessment on the new GMS contract

, The Scottish Parliament, October 2018.

, Scottish Government, 2018.

24 Primary care: National monitoring and evaluation strategy, Scottish Government, March 2019.
25 National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan Part 3 – Improving workforce planning for primary care in Scotland, Scottish
Government, April 2018.
26 Review of the new General Medical Services contract

, Audit Scotland, July 2008.

27 Scottish Budget: draft budget 2018-19, Scottish Government, December 2018.

Page 74

Appendix 1. Progress on implementing the recommendations | 33

Appendix 1
Progress on implementing the recommendations
made in NHS workforce planning: The clinical
workforce in secondary care
Recommendation

Progress

The Scottish Government should:
Improve understanding of future demand to
inform workforce decisions, including:
• collating, comparing and monitoring NHS
boards’ assessments of demand and supply to
help form a national picture and manage risks
• carrying out scenario planning on the future
population health demand and workforce
supply changes (such as staff retiring),
including how this will affect the types of
treatments provided
• considering and clarifying potential future
skills mix with NHS boards and stakeholders to
determine how a future team can work to meet
this demand.

The medium-term financial framework was published
in 2018, and includes estimates of increases in
demand, as a percentage per year.
NHS NES launched a data platform in April 2019,
bringing together a wide variety of NHS and social
care workforce data. It includes both training and
employment data. The platform is being tested and
developed in collaboration with stakeholders. Once
further developed, this will give workforce planners a
better picture of supply and allow scenario planning on
future workforce numbers.
Still in development:
• the publication of the integrated health and social
care workforce plan, originally expected in 2018.
This may address some of these issues, including
scenario planning for future demand
• updated workforce planning guidance for boards,
originally due in 2018
• further development and implementation of
the modelling tool that could be used to look at
demand, workforce and cost.

Demonstrate how training and recruitment
numbers will meet estimated demand for
healthcare – if it does not, document and cost how
the gap between demand and supply in the future
will be covered.

The NHS NES data platform will give a better picture of
numbers coming through training and into employment
from the supply side.

Provide a clear breakdown of the costs of meeting
projected demand through additional recruitment
across all healthcare staff groups.

We would hope to see this in the upcoming workforce
plan.

We would hope to see more on this in the upcoming
workforce plan.

Cont.

Page 75

34 |

Recommendation

Progress

Demonstrate how policy initiatives, such as safe
staffing levels and elective centres, are expected to
affect staffing requirements in NHS boards.

We would hope to see this in the upcoming workforce
plan.

Set out the expected transitional workforce
costs and expected savings associated with
implementing NHS reform. This includes collating
transitional costs in relation to moving staff into
elective centres and into the community, and
savings through increased efficiencies.

We would hope to see this in the upcoming workforce
plan.

Determine the data required for decisions on the
workforce. This will include data on the training
pipeline for medical and AHP staff, data on EU
citizens working in the NHS in Scotland, and
agency spending by professional group.

NHS Education for Scotland work on the data platform
will bring together the workforce data sources
available, to be used for workforce planning. This went
live in April 2019.

Progress arrangements to create national and
regional staff banks.

A national service model for radiology is due to be
launched in summer 2019. For most other specialties,
the Scottish Government has decided against the
creation of a national staff bank because evidence
suggests staff are only likely to accept shifts within a
15-mile radius of their home.

NHS boards should:
Produce future plans as well as supply criteria. This
would include:

Not in the scope of this audit.

• projecting their future workforce against
estimated changes in population demography
and health factors
• producing plans which detail the expected
workforce required, supported by analysis of
workforce supply and demand trends.
Fully cost the workforce changes needed to meet
policy directives, such as the shift to communitybased care, proposed elective centres, safe
staffing levels and more regional working.

Not in the scope of this audit.

Improve the accuracy of budgeting for agency
spending.

An analysis of financial performance report data for the
NHS in Scotland in 2018 found that 12 of 14 boards
overspent against their pay budget.

Page 76

Appendix 2. Methodology | 35

Appendix 2
Methodology

Methodology for GP projections (Exhibit 8, page 25)
• Total number of current and historic GPs is based on the GP headcount, excluding trainees, published by
ISD Scotland. The number of GPs needed in the future has been calculated by taking the headcount in
2017 and adding 800.
• Leaver and joiner projections are calculated by forecasting forward based on trends over the previous ten
years, using data on GPs starting or leaving the NHS in Scotland provided by ISD Scotland. Alternative
scenarios used factored in the number of ScotGEM graduate training places and the impact of increasing
numbers of retirements.
• Potential gap due to EU withdrawal has been calculated by assuming 3.7 per cent of GPs are from the EU
(based on GMC data for all doctors). Surveys have shown as many as 40 per cent of doctors from the EU are
intending to leave, so we have assumed ten per cent may genuinely leave. These potential leavers due to EU
withdrawal have been removed from the overall GP number, as well as future GP new starts.
• Given that the GP workforce demographics show a decreasing number of GP partners, an increasing
number of women and that about one in three are over 50, it is likely that an increasing number of
new GPs will be needed to replace those who leave, due to changing working patterns. To demonstrate the
impact that this could have we have assumed that the current ratio of about 1.2 GPs for every 1 WTE will
increase to about 1.4.
• For each of these factors a range of scenarios was produced, and those that may be most likely, based on
the available evidence, were selected. Further data on the alternative scenarios is presented in the linked
background data
.

Methodology for cost per patient (paragraph 36, page 19)
• The cost per patient for the most rural and most urban practices uses data from the ISD Scotland GP
payments publication and published data on the urban/rural categorisation of GP practices.
• Cost per patient for each practice was calculated by dividing the global sum plus correction factor by the
number of people on the practice list. Then the average was calculated for the most and least rural practices,
for comparison.

Page 77

36 |

Appendix 3
Advisory group members

Audit Scotland would like to thank members of the advisory group for their input and advice throughout the audit.
Members sat in an advisory capacity only. The content and conclusions of this report are the sole responsibility of
Audit Scotland.
Member

Organisation

Richard Foggo

Scottish Government

Miles Mack

Rural GP

Moya Kelly

NHS Education for Scotland

Lorna Greene

Royal College of Nursing Scotland

Robert Peat

Allied Health Professions Federation for Scotland

Carey Lunan

Royal College of General Practitioners

David Prince

British Medical Association

Aileen Bryson

Royal Pharmaceutical Society Scotland

David Leese

Renfrewshire Health and Social Care Partnership

Page 78

NHS workforce
planning – part 2
The clinical workforce in general practice
This report is available in PDF and RTF formats,
along with a podcast summary at:
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk
If you require this publication in an alternative
format and/or language, please contact us to
discuss your needs: 0131 625 1500
or info@audit-scotland.gov.uk
For the latest news, reports
and updates, follow us on:

Audit Scotland, 4th Floor, 102 West Port, Edinburgh EH3 9DN
T: 0131 625 1500 E: info@audit-scotland.gov.uk
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk
ISBN 978 1 913287 07 8

AGS/2019/5

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

NHS in
Scotland 2019

Prepared by Audit Scotland
October 2019

Page 81

Auditor General for Scotland
The Auditor General’s role is to:
•

appoint auditors to Scotland’s central government and NHS bodies

•

examine how public bodies spend public money

•

help them to manage their finances to the highest standards

•

check whether they achieve value for money.

The Auditor General is independent and reports to the Scottish Parliament
on the performance of:
•

directorates of the Scottish Government

•

government agencies, eg the Scottish Prison Service,
Historic Environment Scotland

•

NHS bodies

•

further education colleges

•

Scottish Water

•

NDPBs and others, eg Scottish Police Authority, Scottish Fire and
Rescue Service.

You can find out more about the work of the Auditor General on our website:
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/about-us/auditor-general

Audit Scotland is a statutory body set up in April 2000 under the Public
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. We help the Auditor General
for Scotland and the Accounts Commission check that organisations
spending public money use it properly, efficiently and
effectively.
Page
82

NHS in Scotland 2019 | 3

Contents
Key facts

4

Summary

5

Introduction

7

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing

8

Part 2. Achieving a sustainable NHS

30

Endnotes

41

Appendix 1. Audit methodology

42

Appendix 2. Financial performance 2018/19 by NHS board

43

Appendix 3. Annual performance against key waiting times
standards in 2018/19 by NHS board

44

Links
PDF download
Web link

Exhibit data
Audit team
The core audit team consisted of:
Leigh Johnston, Fiona Watson, Eva Thomas-Tudo,
Agata Maslowska, Veronica Cameron and John
Kirkwood with support from other colleagues and
under the direction of Claire Sweeney.

Page 83

When viewing this
report online, you can
access background
data by clicking on
the graph icon. The
data file will open in a
new window.

4|

Key facts

Workforce spending,
53 per cent of
revenue spending

Reduction in
capital funding
from the Scottish
Government over
the last ten years

£6.9

£13.4

billion

billion

NHS budget for
2018/19

63

£65.7

per cent

million

People in hospital
who reported a
positive experience
of care

Two

86

out of eight

per cent

1.7
million
Accident and Emergency
Department (A&E)
attendances.
Increased by 2.8 per cent
since last year

Page 84

Additional
financial support
from the Scottish
Government
needed by NHS
boards in 2018/19

Key national waiting
times targets met
by NHS Scotland
in 2018/19

Summary | 5

Summary
Key messages

1

Health remains the single biggest area of government spending, at £13.4 billion
in 2018/19. This was 42 per cent of the 2018/19 Scottish Government budget
and is growing. The healthcare system faces increasing pressure from rising
demand and costs, and it has difficulty meeting key waiting times standards.
Without reform, the Scottish Government predicts that there could be a
£1.8 billion shortfall in the projected funding for health and social care of
£18.8 billion by 2023/24. So far, the pace of change to address this, particularly
through the integration of health and social care, has been too slow.

2

The Scottish Government has started to put in place foundations to support
boards make the changes required. These include the publication of the
Health and Social Care: Medium-Term Financial Framework, the Waiting
Times Improvement Plan and the introduction of a national leadership
development project. The new requirement for NHS boards to develop
three-year financial and performance plans enables them to more effectively
plan how services will be delivered in the longer term. It is, however, too
soon to assess the impact of these initiatives.

3

Despite the existing pressures, patient safety and experience of hospital care
continue to improve. Drugs costs have stabilised, and we have seen examples
of new and innovative ways of delivering healthcare that involve a range
of partners. These aim to increase the care provided in the community and
expand multidisciplinary working, to improve access to care and treatment.

4

Achieving financial sustainability remains a major challenge for NHS boards.
There have been increases in predicted deficits and additional financial
support provided by the Scottish Government, and a continued reliance
on one-off savings. Capital funding from the Scottish Government has
decreased by 63 per cent over the last decade and the level of backlog
maintenance remains high, at £914 million. High-profile, newly-built hospitals
have come under significant scrutiny because of health and safety concerns.

5

The ambitions within the Scottish Government’s 2020 Vision will not be
achieved by 2020. The Scottish Government should work with NHS staff,
partners and the public to develop its new strategy for health and social
care. It should set out priorities that support large-scale, system-wide reform
to increase the pace of change. Collaborative leadership is needed to focus
on better partnership working, staff engagement and promoting positive
workplace behaviours. Staff are at the heart of the NHS and it is vital that
more is done to support them so that they can care for people in a safe,
fulfilling and respectful environment.

Page 85

6|

Recommendations
The Scottish Government in partnership with NHS boards and integration
authorities should:
• develop a new national health and social care strategy to run from 2020 that
supports large-scale, system-wide reform, with clear priorities that identify
the improvement activities most likely to achieve the reform needed
• develop and publish the national, integrated health and social care
workforce plan and guidance, to inform future workforce planning
• improve the quality and availability of data and information, particularly in
primary and community care. This will allow better performance monitoring,
inform service redesign and improve care coordination by enhancing how
patient information is shared across health and social care services
• incorporate the principles of the Community Empowerment Act within
communication and engagement strategies.
The Scottish Government should:
• finalise and publish as a matter of urgency, the national capital investment
strategy to ensure that capital funding is strategically prioritised
• report publicly on progress against the health and social care delivery
plan. This should provide an update, and include measures of
performance, on how services are being delivered differently to allow
more people to be cared for closer to home
• develop a single annual staff survey that relates to behaviours, culture and
staff experience, to identify areas for improvement and address behaviour
that is contrary to NHS Scotland values.
The Scottish Government in partnership with NHS boards should:
• make sure that NHS boards’ three-year plans are approved in time for the
start of each financial year. The plans should be routinely managed and
monitored and should include details of how boards intend to reduce their
reliance on non-recurring savings
• ensure that the NHS Scotland A Blueprint for Good Governance is
implemented in full and that areas for improvement are addressed,
particularly around strengthening risk-management arrangements
• continue to monitor the effectiveness of the Scottish Government’s NHS
leadership development project and its impact on recruitment, retention
and the support of senior healthcare leaders
• ensure that all NHS boards:
–– provide evidence that they actively promote positive workplace
behaviours and encourage the reporting of bullying and harassment
–– have action plans in place to improve culture, address any issues
identified and use the findings of the Sturrock review to inform their
plans for cultural improvement.

Page 86

Introduction | 7

Introduction
1. The NHS provides vital health services to the people of Scotland. People are
living longer, many with chronic health conditions. There are greater expectations
for the NHS to provide high-quality, timely and technologically advanced care.
Pressures on the NHS in Scotland continue to be substantial and demand
for services is at an all-time high. Between 2017/18 and 2018/19 the NHS in
Scotland saw:
• an increase of 2.2 per cent in people waiting for outpatient appointments
• an increase of 2.8 per cent in Accident and Emergency Department (A&E)
attendances
• an increase of 6.1 per cent in people waiting for inpatient appointments.
2. Wide-scale reform is necessary to address the increasing pressures on the
NHS and reduce demand for acute services. The Scottish Government has had
a long-term commitment to delivering care closer to home. To achieve this, the
successful integration of health and social care is vital. Effective collaboration
with community partners will support better planning, design and coordination of
patient-focused care and services.
3. In 2018/19, the NHS in Scotland received £13.4 billion from the Scottish
Government. This funding is needed to support the increasing cost of healthcare
delivery and to meet national policy directives such as integration and reducing
waiting times. The Health and Social Care: Medium-Term Financial Framework
(MTFF), published in October 2018, sets out the reforms required to ensure
the financial sustainability of the NHS in Scotland. Without reform the Scottish
Government predicts that there will be an increase in spending across health and
social care in Scotland to around £20.6 billion by 2023/24.
4. Despite the significant challenges, the NHS in Scotland has a committed
workforce that continues to provide high-quality, safe care. There have been
significant improvements in key patient safety indicators, such as mortality rates
in hospital, and patients’ experiences of healthcare has also improved.
5. This report provides an overview of the NHS in Scotland and the realities
of delivering healthcare in Scotland. It draws on a wide range of intelligence,
interviews and data, to help understand the context, challenges and performance. It
sets out the financial performance of the NHS in 2018/19, and the financial outlook
for 2019/20 and beyond. This includes the new approach to longer-term financial
planning and the new MTFF, and progress towards achieving the objectives of
the Health and Social Care Delivery Plan (HSCDP). We report on the workforce,
leadership and culture, governance and performance against national targets.

Page 87

8|

Part 1
How the NHS in Scotland is performing

Key messages

1

The NHS budget for 2018/19 was £13.4 billion, an increase of one per
cent in real terms since 2017/18. Four NHS boards required a total
of £65.7 million in additional financial support from the Scottish
Government to break even. The NHS achieved £390.4 million in
savings, less than one per cent below its target, but remains reliant on
one-off savings. Fifty per cent of all savings were non-recurring.

2

The Scottish Government has started to put in place foundations to
support financial sustainability. The introduction of new three-year
financial and performance plans and break-even arrangements is an
important step towards more effective longer-term planning.

3

The NHS in Scotland is facing growing pressures from population
changes and increasing costs of delivering healthcare. NHS boards and
the Scottish Government have implemented a range of initiatives to
manage these pressures. Some progress has been made. For example,
spending on drugs has stabilised.

4

The NHS capital budget decreased by 63 per cent over the last decade.
The level of backlog maintenance remains high, at £914 million, with
nine per cent being classified as high risk. High-profile new builds have
come under significant scrutiny because of health and safety concerns.

5

Patient safety is continuing to improve, with a significant reduction in
hospital mortality rates. People’s experience of hospital care is also
improving. However, boards continue to struggle to meet key waiting
times standards, with only two of eight national standards being met.
But in seven of the eight standards, the number of people that were
seen and treated on time increased. The Scottish Government has
introduced several initiatives to improve access to care, such as the
Waiting Times Improvement Plan (WTIP).

The NHS is starting to address some of its financial pressures,
but major risks remain
6. In NHS in Scotland 2018 , we reported that the NHS was not in a
financially sustainable position. This meant that it was unlikely to be able to
continue delivering services effectively or change how services are delivered with
the available resources. NHS boards continue to struggle with financial pressures,
which makes it harder to reform the health andPage
social 88
care system.

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 9

7. The Scottish Government health budget in 2018/19 was £13.4 billion. This
was one per cent higher than the previous year, taking inflation into account.
Of this, the amount allocated to NHS boards was £13.2 billion. The total revenue
budget, for day-to-day spending, allocated to NHS boards was £12.9 billion.
This has increased by 0.6 per cent in real terms since 2017/18 (Exhibit 1).

Exhibit 1

A breakdown of NHS funding in 2018/19

Scottish Government budget

£13.4bn

42%
Health

Total Scottish Government
health budget

£13.2bn

£0.2bn
Amount spent
centrally on behalf
of NHS boards –

NHS boards

this includes initiatives
such as the nursing
bursary and baby boxes

£12.9bn

£0.3bn

Revenue

Capital

£11.5bn
Territorial
boards

£1.4bn
National
boards

£6.0bn
Integration
Authorities

Source: Audit Scotland using NHS Consolidated Accounts

Page 89

£0.3bn

Territorial
boards

£32m
National
boards

10 |

8. Health accounted for 42 per cent of the Scottish Government’s budget
in 2018/19. NHS boards delegate a significant proportion of their budgets
to Integration Authorities (IAs) to fund health services such as primary and
community care. In 2018/19, territorial boards delegated £6 billion to IAs,
52 per cent of their budget.
9. Over the last ten years, the health budget has increased by six per cent in real
terms. Most of this increase has been in the last five years, with an increase
of 5.8 per cent (Exhibit 2). Funding per head of population has increased at a
slower rate. In 2018/19, health funding in Scotland was £2,471 per person. This
compares to £2,424 in 2009/10, a two per cent increase in real terms.1
10. The Scottish Government’s draft budget for 2019/20 states that health
funding will increase to £14.2 billion, an increase of 5.4 per cent in cash terms.
Revenue funding is planned to increase by 5.6 per cent and capital funding is set
to decrease by 1.5 per cent in cash terms.2

Exhibit 2

Health funding trend since 2009/10
Health funding has increased in both real terms and cash terms since 2009/10.

Total health budget (£ billion)

16

12

8

4

0

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Cash terms

Real terms

Source: Scottish Government budgets

Without ongoing reform, there could be a rise in spending across health
and social care services to around £20.6 billion by 2023/24
11. Last year, we reported that the publication of the MTFF aimed to better
address the financial challenges of integrating the delivery of health and social
care services. The framework acknowledges that there will be increases in
demand for services, workforce pay and the cost of delivering healthcare
services. It predicts that without reform there will be a £1.8 billion shortfall in the
projected funding of £18.8 billion by 2023/24.3
12. In 2016, the Scottish Government published its five-year HSCDP . It set
some ambitious targets intended to drive the integration of health and social
care across the NHS in Scotland to help achieve the 2020 Vision.4 Last year, we
recommended that the Scottish Government should
Pagepublish
90 a report on progress

Exhibit 13
A timeline of
major Scottish
Government
health and social
care policies and
publications
(page 31)

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 11

against the HSCDP. This has not yet been published and we recommend the
Scottish Government do so as soon as possible. Further work is required to achieve
the reform needed across health and social care. This work will not be completed in
time to achieve the 2020 Vision.
13. NHS boards delegate funding to IAs for certain health services. This funding
has increased each year since 2016/17, when IAs were established. In 2018/19,
NHS territorial boards delegated 52 per cent of their budgets to IAs. This
represents a 4.1 per cent increase in real terms from 2016/17.5 IAs aim to shift
spending and services from hospitals to community and social care. There is little
evidence to date that this is happening.
At the beginning of 2018/19 the number of boards predicting a year-end
deficit increased
14. Last year, we reported that the number of boards predicting year-end deficits
had increased. These boards needed to make additional savings to offset
any predicted overspend against their budget. There is a risk that boards will
be unable to break even and will require additional financial support from the
Scottish Government:
• In 2015/16, all territorial NHS boards predicted that they would break even
or record a surplus by the end of the year.
• By 2016/17, three territorial boards predicted a year-end deficit, which
increased to seven in 2017/18 and nine in 2018/19.
• The number of boards that required additional financial support from the
Scottish Government, to break even at year end, were: one (2016/17),
three (2017/18) and four (2018/19).
• The size of the predicted deficit also increased for 2018/19, from
£99 million to £150 million, but decreased to £116 million for 2019/20.
For 2021/22, however, the deficit is predicted to be significantly larger, at
£207 million. Most of this deficit relates to NHS Lothian, which predicts a
deficit of almost £90 million, and NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, which
predicts a deficit of £61.5 million.6
The NHS in Scotland met its financial targets in 2018/19, but required
£65.7 million in additional financial support from the Scottish Government
to achieve this
15. In 2018/19, all NHS boards broke even, staying within the limits of their
revenue and capital budgets, and delivered a surplus of £4.6 million.7 However,
this was only possible because four boards received additional financial support
from the Scottish Government, totalling £65.7 million.8 This was an increase from
£50.7 million in 2017/18, but was £8.8 million lower than initially forecast. The
four boards that required additional support were:
• NHS Ayrshire and Arran – £20 million
• NHS Borders – £10.1 million
• NHS Highland – £18 million
• NHS Tayside – £17.6 million.

Page 91

12 |

16. The Scottish Government announced that territorial boards would not have
to repay any outstanding loans owed at the end of 2018/19. This totalled almost
£150 million.9 It is unclear what the Scottish Government’s approach will be if
boards require additional financial support in future years.
The NHS almost achieved its savings target for 2018/19, but remains
reliant on one-off savings
17. In 2018/19, the NHS achieved £390.4 million in savings. This was 0.3 per cent
below its savings target of £391.1 million. This was a significant improvement
compared with the previous year, when it achieved savings seven per cent below
its target of £480.8 million. Exhibit 3 shows the savings achieved against targets
for all NHS boards.

Exhibit 3

Savings achieved against targets in 2018/19
100

£million

90

40
30
20
10

N
HS

N
HS

Ay
rs
hi
re

an
d
Du
Ar
N
m
H
ra
fri
S
n
es
Bo
an
rd
er
d
G
s
al
lo
w
ay
N
N
N
HS
HS
HS
F
Fo
G
rth ife
re
at
N
er
HS Va
lle
G
G
la
y
ra
sg
ow mp
an ian
d
N
HS Cly
de
H
N
HS igh
la
La
nd
na
rk
s
N
HS hir
e
Lo
th
N
HS ian
O
N
HS rkn
ey
Sh
et
N
N
la
at
H
nd
io
N
HS S T
na
a
lW
y
W
si
es
ai
de
tin
te
r
g
n
Ti
Is
m
le
es
s
N
Ce
HS
nt
Ed
re
uc
N
N
at
H
HS
N
S
HS ion
24
He Na
Sc
H
t
io
al
o
e
tla
th
na
a
ca
nd
l S lth
re
Sc
er
Im
ot
vi
ce
la
pr
Sc
nd
s
ov
ot
S
em
co
tis
tla
h
Am ent
nd
S
bu
co
tla
la
nd
Th nce
Se
e
St
rv
at
ic
e
Ho e
sp
ita
l

0

Savings achieved

Savings target

Source: NHS boards' annual audit reports and financial performance reports, 2019

18. In 2018/19, 50 per cent of all savings were non-recurring, up from 35 per
cent in 2016/17. Non-recurring savings are not sustainable. They can improve a
board’s in-year financial position, but they do not reduce the cost of running the
organisation and cannot necessarily be repeated in subsequent years. An example
of a non-recurring saving is delaying recruitment for a vacant position. Recurring
savings can be made in one year and can continue to save money in future years,
for example by changing the way a service is delivered, to become more efficient.
Boards varied significantly in their reliance on non-recurring savings, with territorial
boards being more reliant than national boards (Exhibit 4, page 13).

Page 92

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 13

Exhibit 4

The percentage of savings achieved that were non-recurring in 2018/19
Boards varied significantly in their reliance on non-recurring savings.
100

Percentage

80
60

98
80 80 78

74 72
60 58 56
55 52

40

44 43 40
38 36 35 35
34

20

23

NH
SO
rkn
ey
He
NH
alt
T
hc
SF
he
are
ife
Sta
Im
t
e
pro
Ho
sp
NH
ve
ita
me
SD
l
nt
um
S
c
frie
otl
an
sa
d
nd
Ga
NH
llo
SG
wa
NH
rea
y
SG
ter
r
Gl
a
m
as
pia
go
n
w
an
dC
lyd
NH
e
SS
he
tla
nd
NH
SB
NH
o
rde
NH
SW
rs
SE
es
du
t
ern
ca
tio
Isle
nf
s
or
Sc
otl
an
d
NH
NH
SL
SA
oth
yrs
ian
hir
ea
nd
Ar
NH
ran
SL
an
ark
NH
sh
ire
SF
ort
h
Na
Va
tio
lle
NH
na
y
SH
lW
ait
igh
ing
lan
Tim
d
es
Ce
ntr
e
NH
Sc
S2
ott
4
NH
ish
ST
NH
Am
ay
SN
bu
sid
ati
lan
e
on
ce
al
Se
Se
rvi
rvi
ce
ce
sS
NH
c
o
SH
tla
nd
ea
lth
Sc
otl
an
d

0

29

Non-recurring

Recurring

Source: Audit Scotland using annual audit reports and month-13 financial performance reports

The level of planned savings that are high risk has increased
19. In their annual plans for 2018/19, NHS boards categorised their planned savings
as high, medium or low risk, depending on the likelihood that the savings would be
realised. In 2018/19, the NHS in Scotland classified their planned savings as follows:
• 32.0 per cent as high risk
• 28.5 per cent as medium risk
• 39.5 per cent as low risk.
20. The proportion of high-risk savings was significantly higher in 2018/19 than
in previous years (13.1 per cent in 2017/18). There was wide variation among
boards. For example, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde classified all its planned
savings as high risk, which had a significant impact on the total proportion of
savings classified as high risk.
21. However, NHS boards vary in how they assess savings. For example, only
some boards include unidentified savings as high risk. To improve transparency
and consistency, NHS boards should ensure that any unidentified savings are
classified as high risk.
Boards were able to better identify where future savings will come from
22. There was a significant improvement in the proportion of unidentified savings
in boards’ plans for 2018/19. Last year, boards were unable to identify where
28 per cent of planned savings would come from. This year, nine per cent of
required savings were not yet identified in boards’ plans, a reduction of
19 percentage points (Exhibit 5, page 14). Page 93

14 |

Exhibit 5

Trends in unidentified planned savings, 2013/14 to 2018/19
The level of unidentified savings in all boards' plans decreased significantly in
2018/19.
Percentage of planned savings
that were unidentified

30
25
20
15
10
5
0

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

All NHS boards
Source: Audit Scotland using NHS boards’ local delivery plans/annual operational plans
2013/14 to 2018/19

The Scottish Government has started to put in place the foundations to
support financial sustainability
23. In October 2018, the Scottish Government published its MTFF. This was an
important step towards supporting improvements to achieve financial sustainability
of the NHS in Scotland. It outlines the scale of the financial challenges ahead and
acknowledges that reform is necessary if the NHS is to be sustainable.
24. The MTFF sets out the activities required to support the reform needed. It
also sets out the intention to invest more in primary, community and social care.
The aim is for approximately 50 per cent of savings released from the hospital
sector to be redirected to these areas through:
• increases in efficiency savings
• reductions in attendances at A&E, and the numbers of inpatients and
outpatients
• regional working and public health prevention strategies.
25. Alongside the publication of the MTFF, the Scottish Government announced
that boards will no longer be required to break even at the end of each financial year.
Instead, they will be required to break even over a three-year period. This should
provide greater flexibility in planning and investing over the medium to longer term.
26. NHS boards were required to produce three-year financial plans for the first
time for 2019/20. This is an important step towards the NHS developing more
effective longer-term planning. The Scottish Government developed guidance
with boards to support the development of these plans, but this was not released
until late February 2019. This gave them limited time to develop plans before the
start of the financial year in April, and some were not approved until August 2019.

Page 94

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 15

27. The Scottish Government held briefing sessions for boards during
September 2019 and intends to release guidance in December 2019, to support
them in developing next year’s plans. In the first year of this new approach to
financial planning, most boards included some information for the next three
years, but the level of detail provided varied. Some boards, including NHS Borders
and NHS Lanarkshire, did not include full details for all three years.
28. We expect the level of detail in boards’ financial plans to improve next year,
following the release of further guidance by the Scottish Government. The
Scottish Government and NHS boards should work together to make sure that
plans are in place and approved in time for the start of each financial year.
Five boards are receiving external support because they are struggling to
meet financial and performance targets
29. The Scottish Government has a five-stage escalation process to provide
boards with additional support when they are unable to meet financial or
performance targets. Most boards are at stage one, which means that they are
deemed to be performing steadily and are reporting normally. Stage five means
that the Scottish Government deems that a board’s organisational structure is
unable to deliver effective care. Case study 1 and Case study 2 (page 16)
describe the external support being provided to help two boards achieve financial
balance. At October 2019, no boards were at stage five, but five boards were at
stage three or four .

Escalation at
October 2019:
Stage three:
– NHS Ayrshire
and Arran
– NHS Lothian
Stage four:
– NHS Borders
–N
 HS Highland
– NHS Tayside

Case study 1
NHS Borders receives external support to help it achieve financial balance
In November 2018, NHS Borders moved to escalation stage four in the Scottish Government’s
performance escalation framework. Boards at stage four face a significant risk to service delivery, quality,
financial performance or safety, and senior-level external support is required.
In 2018/19, the board was unable to achieve financial balance and needed £10.1 million in additional
financial support from the Scottish Government to break even. This was mainly to alleviate cost pressures
at the Borders General Hospital and offset efficiency savings that were not achieved.
The Scottish Government Health and Social Care Directorate Board Recovery Team has been providing
support since December 2018. NHS Borders created a new Financial Turnaround Programme to replace its
previous transformation programme. The programme aims to achieve a more sustainable improvement
in the board’s finances. The Financial Turnaround Programme is in its early stage, and its success will
depend on the pace of change and the resources made available.
The board has also developed a new project management office (PMO) structure. In the short term, the
PMO director will be supported by a turnaround team with experience of successfully delivering similar
financial recovery programmes elsewhere.
Source: Audit Scotland, 2019

Page 95

16 |

Case study 2
NHS Ayrshire and Arran is further developing its improvement plan
In October 2018, the Auditor General published a report to draw Parliament’s attention to the scale
of the challenge that NHS Ayrshire and Arran was facing in meeting its financial targets. The report
concluded that some of the cost pressures were not wholly within the control of the board, such as pay
increases and the apprenticeship levy. However, the board’s operating costs remained too high.
In 2017/18, PwC reviewed NHS Ayrshire and Arran’s Transformational Change Improvement Plan (TCIP).
It found that the TCIP was not substantial enough to achieve long-term financial sustainability and
that greater transformational change would be required. During 2018/19, the PMO strengthened the
governance and oversight of the TCIP. The board’s internal auditors concluded that this provided only a
partial level of assurance for the board and made several recommendations. These focused on improving
governance for the implementation of the plan and a better understanding of dependencies between
specific projects. Progress is reported regularly to the Corporate Management Team and the Performance
Governance Committee.
In 2018/19, the board needed to make savings of £23.8 million. To support this, 143 improvement
initiatives were identified. These initiatives achieved recurring savings of £18.4 million. This was
£3.7 million more than in 2017/18. The board achieved £32 million of savings in total. Work will continue
to implement the recommendations of the internal audit review, to improve the success of the TCIP in
achieving recurring savings.
Source: Deloitte, 2019

Capital funding from the Scottish Government has decreased by
63 per cent over the last decade, and there are signs of strain
30. The NHS capital budget, that is, money for new buildings and equipment,
can fluctuate as new projects are approved or completed. There has been a trend
of reducing funding over the last decade. In 2018/19, capital funding from the
Scottish Government was £334 million, a reduction of 63 per cent in real terms
since 2009/10 (Exhibit 6, page 17).
31. Demand for capital funding outweighs what is available for the next two
years. This will limit boards’ ability to invest in their infrastructure. The Scottish
Government is prioritising several infrastructure investments over the next two
years. These include:
• an elective centres programme to create additional procedural and
diagnostic capacity across Scotland10
• the new Baird Family Hospital and the Anchor Centre at Foresterhill
Campus in Aberdeen
• new community hospitals in Aviemore and Broadford
• the replacement of St Brendan’s Hospital, Barra, with a new health and
social care hub.
32. NHS boards can use their revenue budget, which is allocated for day-to-day
spending, to support additional capital investment. One way of doing this is to enter
into contracts where the private sector finances the initial construction costs for the
buildings and maintains them for a specific period, usually 25-30 years. NHS boards
make annual payments from their revenue budgets for the length of the contract.
Investment in these types of projects across the public sector in Scotland will be
Page 96
covered in more detail in our upcoming report on revenue funding of assets.

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 17

Exhibit 6

Capital funding from the Scottish Government since 2009/10
Capital funding has decreased in real terms.
1.0

£ billion

0.8
0.6
0.4
0.2

/1
9
20

18

/1
8
17
20

/1
7
20

16

/1
6
20

15

/1
5
20

14

/1
4
13
20

/1
3
20

12

/1
2
20

11

/1
1
10
20

20

09

/1
0

0.0

Capital funding
Source: Audit Scotland using NHS Consolidated Accounts

33. The condition of the NHS estate has improved, but there is still a significant
maintenance backlog (Exhibit 7). Nine per cent of the backlog is classified as
high risk, the majority of which (55 per cent) relates to electrical work required at
Ninewells hospital in NHS Tayside. The Scottish Government has committed to fund
the work required to resolve this. As recommended in NHS in Scotland 2018 ,
the Scottish Government has been developing a national capital investment strategy
to ensure that capital funding is strategically prioritised. This strategy should be
finalised and published as a matter of urgency.

Exhibit 7

The condition of the NHS estate 2016 to 2018
The condition of the NHS estate has improved slightly over the last three years, but the level of backlog
maintenance increased.

NHS ESTATE

73%

£914m 9%

70%

Estate in good
condition increased
from 70 to 73 per cent.

Backlog maintenance
across the NHS in
Scotland increased
from £887 million to
£914 million.

Estate assessed
as suitable for its
purpose increased
from 69 to 70 per cent.

Source: Scottish Government, 2019

Page 97

High-risk backlog
maintenance
decreased from
11 per cent to
nine per cent.

18 |

Major capital projects face significant challenges
34. New hospitals have recently been built in Glasgow and Edinburgh. These
major new-build projects have come under considerable scrutiny as a result
of significant health and safety concerns (Case study 3 and Case study 4,
page 18). In September 2019, the Scottish Government committed to carrying
out a public inquiry into the issues at the Queen Elizabeth University Hospital in
Glasgow and the Royal Hospital for Children and Young People in Edinburgh. The
inquiry will look at how the problems with the ventilation systems happened,
and what steps can be taken to prevent these problems in future. It is essential
that the Scottish Government and NHS boards learn from these projects when
planning new healthcare facilities.
35. Delays in opening a new healthcare facility can mean that an older site must
be operational for longer than expected. This can result in additional expenditure
to make sure that the older site remains fit for purpose for longer. In these
circumstances, the relevant NHS board and the Scottish Government should
provide assurance that any risks to patient and staff safety have been addressed.

Case study 3
Queen Elizabeth University Hospital, Glasgow
In January 2019, Healthcare Improvement Scotland carried out an unannounced inspection of the Queen
Elizabeth University Hospital, including the Institute of Neurosciences and the Royal Hospital for Children.
The focus of the inspection was infection control, specifically considering the following standards:
• leadership in the prevention and control of infection
• infection prevention and control policies, procedures and guidance
• decontamination.
The inspection report published in March 2019 included 14 requirements and one recommendation.
Nine of these were classed as urgent and had to be implemented within one week. The board
developed an improvement plan to address the inspection findings.
The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport has also commissioned an independent review of the Queen
Elizabeth University Hospital. As well as covering the infection control issues, this review will consider:
• the design of buildings
• the process for commissioning and constructing new healthcare facilities
• the scale of health problems acquired from the healthcare environment
• wider implications for healthcare facilities across Scotland.
The independent review is in its early stages. Two chairs have been appointed, and the terms of
reference are under development. There is no timescale for the review to be completed or published.
Source: Unnanounced Inspection Report – Safety and Cleanliness of Hospitals, Queen Elizabeth University Hospital (including Institute
of Neurosciences and Royal Hospital for Children), Healthcare Improvement Scotland, 2019; Scottish Government, 2019

Page 98

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 19

Case study 4
Royal Hospital for Children and Young People, Edinburgh
The opening of the new Royal Hospital for Children and Young People (RHCYP) in Edinburgh was
delayed after final safety checks of the building found that the ventilation system in the critical care
department did not meet national standards.
NHS National Services Scotland (NSS) reviewed all buildings systems in the new hospital that could
have health and safety implications for patients and staff. The review assessed the water, ventilation
and drainage systems and set out a timeframe for the opening of the hospital. NSS will also assess all
current and recently completed new-builds and major refurbishments, to provide assurance that they
comply with national standards.
KPMG carried out an independent review of the governance arrangements for the RHCYP. It identified
the factors that led to the decision to delay the move to the new hospital, including communication and
timescales. It found that a document produced by NHS Lothian during the tender stage of the project
in 2012 was inconsistent with guidance, and that opportunities to rectify the error were missed. It also
found that there was confusion over the interpretation of technical guidance and standards.
The Scottish Government has asked NHS Lothian to develop a recovery plan with clear milestones and
responsibilities. The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport also announced that a package of tailored
support measures would be made available to the board to support improvements.
Source: Scottish Government, 2019; Review of: water, ventilation, drainage and plumbing systems, NHS National Services Scotland,
2019; Independent assessment of governance arrangements, NHS National Services Scotland and KPMG, 2019

The NHS in Scotland is facing significant pressures from
population changes and increasing demand for services
36. Certain factors, such as demographic changes, rurality and deprivation, can
affect demand for services and can make it more costly for boards to deliver
services. The Scottish Government uses a formula developed by the NHS
Scotland Resource Allocation Committee (NRAC) to assess how much funding
each board should be allocated. The NRAC formula considers the demographics
of each board area, including population size, deprivation levels and unavoidable
geographical variations in the cost of providing services.
37. In 2018/19, all NHS boards received allocations within 0.8 per cent of what
the NRAC formula determined they should receive, known as parity.11 This was
an improvement from the previous year, where all boards received allocations
within one per cent of parity. This required an additional £30 million investment. To
maintain this position for 2019/20, £23 million additional investment was required.12
38. NHS Highland was the only board to move slightly further from parity in
2018/19, moving from 0.7 per cent below parity in 2017/18 to 0.8 per cent. NHS
Western Isles has historically received an allocation that was significantly above
parity; in 2018/19, it was 11.3 per cent above.
39. In 2018/19, demand for hospital care continued to grow with increases in
attendances at A&E and the number of people waiting for inpatient and outpatient
appointments. At the same time, more people were admitted to hospital for both
emergency and planned care, and on average, their stay in hospital was slightly
shorter than in 2017/18. The average length of stay in hospital reduced from
6.2 days in 2017/18 to 6.0 days in 2018/19, despite increases in delayed

Page 99

20 |

discharges. Fewer operations were cancelled and there was a small increase in
the number of outpatient appointments held, following significant decreases in
2017/18. Exhibit 8 (page 21) shows national trends across selected indicators
of demand and activity for acute services in 2018/19. The quality and availability
of health and social care data need to improve. This will help boards better
understand the reasons for trends in demand and activity and how to make best
use of existing capacity.
40. We have consistently reported the lack of data and information available to
measure performance and outcomes, especially in primary and community care.
It is crucial that this is addressed as a matter of urgency. The establishment of
Public Health Scotland is another opportunity to provide boards with more useful
data from across the health and social care system. This will allow NHS boards
and IAs to make informed decisions when planning and designing services.
41. The Scottish Government has committed to increasing investment in primary
care by £500 million by 2021/22. This should provide at least £1.28 billion by
2021/22 to support the new GP contract and primary care reform. This aims to
free up capacity in acute hospitals to reduce waiting times and improve access
to services. In addition, a whole-system partnership programme to reform adult
social care started in June 2019. This work is being carried out in partnership with
people with lived experience of social care, unpaid carers and people who deliver
the services. The programme aims to create additional capacity in the community
to better meet the needs of people, their carers and the workforce.
Boards continue to struggle to achieve key national standards
42. The NHS in Scotland met two of the eight key national waiting times
standards in 2018/19 (Exhibit 9, page 22). This is a small improvement from
2017/18, when the NHS met only the drug and alcohol waiting times standard.
The standards that were met were:
• patients starting cancer treatment within 31 days (decision to treatment)
• drug and alcohol patients seen within three weeks.
43. National performance declined for six out of the eight standards in 2018/19.
Performance improved for outpatients waiting less than 12 weeks following first
referral and for patients starting cancer treatment within 31 days of the decision
to treat. Appendix 1 (page 42) shows performance against the national
standards by NHS board for 2018/19, including the percentage change since the
previous year and over the last five years.
44. It is important to acknowledge the impact of rising demand on waiting times.
In 2018/19, the number of people seen on time increased for seven of the eight
standards. This means that the waiting times targets were met for more people
in 2018/19 than in 2017/18. However, demand for services increased at a higher
rate, so the percentage of people for whom the targets were met declined.

Page 100

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 21

Exhibit 8

National trends in demand and activity for acute services in 2018/19

Number waiting
for outpatient
appointment
Number waiting for
inpatient appointment

Change since
2017/18

Trend 2014/15 – 2018/19

Demand

311,503
255,061
76,832
55,973
1,691,952

A&E attendances

1,639,991

22.1%
since 2014/15

2.2%

37.3%
since 2014/15

6.1%

3.2%
since 2014/15

2.8%

3.7%
since 2014/15

1.1%

6.2%
since 2014/15

0.9%

3.0%
since 2014/15

0.0%

1.4%
since 2014/15

2.4%

21.3%
since 2014/15

-2.8%

1.7%
since 2014/15

0.0%

6.9%
since 2016/17

-16.4%

2.9%
since 2016/17

9.0%

Activity
New outpatient
attendances
Return outpatient
attendances
Emergency
admissions

1,494,370
1,439,545
3,035,662
2,848,272
593,543
576,328
466,817

Daycase admissions

460,571
186,055

Elective admissions
146,365

Number of
procedures

1,465,847
1,440,249

Trend 2016/17 – 2018/19
Cancelled planned
operations
Bed days occupied by
delayed discharges

7,288
6,788
420,157
408,351

Note: 'Number waiting for outpatient appointment' and 'Number waiting for inpatient appointment' refer to the number of patients on
the waiting list at the end of March in each year. 'Cancelled planned operations' refer to operations that have been cancelled for capacity
or non-clinical reasons. The definition of bed days occupied by delayed discharges changed in June 2016, so the 2016/17 figure has been
adjusted for comparability with subsequent years.
Source: Accident & Emergency Activity and Waiting Times Statistics, ISD Scotland, September 2019; Number on inpatient waiting
list, ISD Scotland, August 2019; Number on new outpatient waiting list, ISD Scotland, August 2019; Cancelled planned operations, ISD
Scotland, September 2019; Bed days occupied by delayed discharges, ISD Scotland, September 2019; Annual acute hospital activity and
hospital beds, ISD Scotland, September 2019
Page 101

22 |

Exhibit 9

NHS Scotland performance against key national waiting times standards, 2017/18 to 2018/19
NHS Scotland met two of the eight waiting times standards in 2018/19.
Performance %
2017/18

Measure
Standard met

0

2018/19
20

40

Change in the
number of people
seen on time
2017/18–18/19

Standard
60

80

100

Number of
people seen
on time 2018/19

18 weeks referral
to treatment time

0.8%

A&E attendees
seen within 4 hours

1.8%

CAMHS patients
seen within 18 weeks

8.7%

Day case or
inpatients who
waited less than
12 weeks for
treatment

-8.1%

Drug and alcohol
patients seen
within 3 weeks

2.5%

Outpatients waiting
less than 12 weeks
following first
referral

3.3%

Patients starting
cancer treatment
within 31 days

7.2%

Patients starting
cancer treatment
within 62 days

4.0%

944,630

1,543,558

12,504

202,994

42,323

237,029

23,815

(decision to treatment)

12,312

(referral to treatment)

Note: Figures are annual aggregated performance figures for all standards, apart from 'Outpatients waiting less than 12 weeks following
first referral' (census date at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019). CAMHS = child and adolescent mental health services.
Source: See Appendix 3 for sources

Page 102

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 23

The Scottish Government and NHS boards have recently introduced
initiatives that aim to improve access to care
45. The Scottish Government has been working to improve waiting times and, in
October 2018, introduced the WTIP.13 The Scottish Government is investing more
than £850 million over two and a half years. Of this, £535 million will be spent on
frontline services and £320 million on capital projects.
46. As part of the WTIP, the Scottish Government introduced new monitoring
arrangements for NHS boards that require them to report quarterly on their
performance. This enables the Scottish Government to hold boards to account
and to provide additional support to those that are not on track to meet their
phased improvement goals. So far, £102 million of WTIP funding has been
allocated for 2019/20. It is too soon to assess whether this additional funding will
help boards to meet the phased improvement goals set out in the WTIP.
47. The Scottish Government has also developed a national independent-sector
contract to provide additional capacity and reduce waiting times. This contract is
designed to cap private-sector charges for treatment. It is planned to be used as
a short-term measure, while elective centres are being set up.
48. The National Theatre Productivity Group is a collaboration between the
National Waiting Times Centre (NWTC) and some NHS territorial boards. They
are working together to share good practice and introduce new ways of working,
to improve efficiency and reduce waiting times. At a recent event, the Golden
Jubilee Hospital shared information about an initiative to reduce patient waiting
times for cataract surgery. This work focused on improving theatre use by calling
patients from a pre-assessment clinic to fill late cancellations. NWTC reported
that on average, around 18 per cent of patients who cancelled late were replaced
with other patients. There has been very positive feedback from patients. This
is a model that has clinical support, has been approved by the General Medical
Council and has the potential to be tested in other specialties.

Inpatients’ experiences of care and patient safety are improving
49. In 2018, the Scottish Government published its report on a survey of
inpatients’ experiences of quality of care.14 It showed that 86 per cent of inpatients
had a positive experience of care, an improvement of two percentage points since
2016. There was a consistent picture of positive experience in many areas.
50. Results in relation to arrangements for leaving hospital remained consistent,
with 78 per cent of inpatients rating this experience as good or excellent. Only
30 per cent of people reported being delayed on the day of leaving hospital, an
improvement of nine percentage points since 2016. The most common reason
for such delays continued to be waiting for medications.
Patient safety is improving across a range of measures
51. Despite the financial and demand challenges, staff are working hard across
all health and social care settings to provide safe, high-quality care. Recently
published data on the NHS Performs website shows improvement across a range
of indicators over the past ten years. The Scottish Patient Safety Programme,
established in 2008, has successfully improved patient safety.15 This programme
has contributed to the following significant reductions:

Page 103

24 |

• Post-surgical mortality rates have decreased by 36.6 per cent since 2008,
following the introduction of the World Health Organization Surgical Safety
Checklist.16 The checklist promotes a culture of teamwork and communication
in operating theatres, helping to improve surgical care and safety.
• The number of deaths from sepsis has been reduced by introducing
a structured response to, and treatment of, sepsis. Since its launch in
2012, the sepsis programme has contributed to a 21 per cent reduction
in mortality rates.17
• The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio for Scotland has decreased by
14 per cent since 2014 because of improvements in the recognition of,
and response to, acutely unwell patients. This means that the number of
recorded deaths decreased compared to the number of deaths predicted.
52. In November 2016, the Scottish Ambulance Service (SAS) introduced a
new system to prioritise patients. To create the system, over half a million 999
incidents were reviewed to determine what factors had the biggest impact on
patient outcomes. This new system better prioritised incidents and matched the
timing and type of ambulance response to the needs of the patient. In its first
year of operation, there was a 43 per cent improvement in 30-day survival rates
for patients in the most urgent category.
53. Minimising healthcare associated infections is a priority for the NHS. It has
achieved consistent improvement in two key measures – Clostridium difficile
(C. diff) infection rate and meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)associated bacteraemia rate. Between 2014 and 2018, a decreasing year-on-year
trend has been seen in the incidence rate of:
• C. diff, which has decreased by 7.5 per cent in patients 15 years and older
• MRSA, which has decreased by 17.1 per cent between 2014 and 2018.18

The amount spent on drugs stabilised in 2017/18
NHS boards and the Scottish Government have implemented a range of
initiatives to manage prescription costs
54. The NHS in Scotland spent almost £1.8 billion on drugs in 2017/18, a
reduction of 0.2 per cent in real terms since 2016/17 (Exhibit 10, page 25).
Good progress continues to be made in the proportion of generic medicines
prescribed. This increased from 83.9 per cent in 2017/18 to 84.3 per cent
in 2018/19.19 Generic medicine is usually cheaper, sometimes significantly,
compared to branded medicine. Some initiatives that boards have been working
on include:
• increasing the use of generic medicines in secondary care
• reducing the amount of drugs dispensed in primary care by more regularly
reviewing the medicines that are being prescribed
• switching from high-cost drugs to cheaper alternatives that are chemically
similar to the original drugs and close enough to achieve the same results.
These are referred to as biosimilars.

Page 104

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 25

Exhibit 10

Expenditure on drugs stabilised in real terms, in 2017/18

£1.8bn 16.6% £1.3bn £45m
Spent on drugs in
2017/18 by the
NHS in Scotland

Net expenditure in
the NHS in 2017/18
was on drugs

Spent on drugs in
community and family
health services

0.2% less in real
terms than 2016/17

0.1% less than in
2016/17

0.6% less in real
terms than in 2016/17

Changes in spending
varied by board from:
5% decrease for
NHS Borders
5.8% increase for
NHS Western Isles

The amount spent
on drugs in hospitals
was £438.4 million
0.9% increase since
2016/17

The Scottish Government,
via the New Medicines
Fund (NMF), provides
additional funding to NHS
boards to cover the costs
of increasing access to
some medicines for very
rare conditions and endof-life care.
£42 million in 2017/18

Source: R600: pharmacy – drugs expenditure, ISD Scotland cost book data, November 2018; Volume and Cost (NHS Scotland),
ISD Scotland, July 2019; Scottish Government NHS allocations, March 2019

55. Ten boards have reduced their expenditure on drugs in real terms. An
example of a successful approach for reducing drug expenditure is the threeyear medicines’ efficiency programme launched by NHS Fife in 2016. This has
delivered £12 million in savings across health and social care services. The
programme included three priorities. These were to restrict the list of medicines
available for prescribing, to reduce medicines waste and to review more
regularly the medicines that are being prescribed. NHS Grampian also reduced
its prescribing budget by £3.5 million compared with last year, mainly through
switching to biosimilars.
56. The Scottish Government effective prescribing team supported
improvements to reduce costs including by:
• implementing electronic prompts for prescribers, to encourage them to use
generic medicines and lower-cost alternatives
• emphasising the importance of carrying out medicines reviews, to safely
reduce the number of medications being taken at the same time.

The NHS in Scotland continues to face significant workforce
challenges
57. The NHS is reliant on its workforce to deliver healthcare services. However,
it is increasingly challenging to recruit enough people with the right skills,
particularly in some rural areas. Exhibit 11 (page 26) outlines some important
figures relating to the NHS workforce in 2018/19.
Page 105

26 |

Exhibit 11

NHS workforce 2018/19

Headcount

Full-time equivalent

164,114

Staff costs

%
53
of revenue

140,881

March 2019

March 2019

0.6% since last year
3.4% over five years

(excluding some primary care staff)

0.7% since last year
3.9% over five years

£6.9bn
in 2018/19

2.5% in real terms
since last year

Vacancy rates
Consultants

Nursing and
midwifery

Allied health
professionals

7.7%

4.9%

4.7%

from 7.5% in 2017/18
Highest: 44.2% Orkney
Lowest: 1.9% Lothian

from 4.5% in 2017/18
Highest: 8.4% Highland
Lowest: 0.7% Ayrshire and Arran

from 4.4% in 2017/18
Highest: 9.1% Grampian
Lowest: 0.4% Ayrshire and Arran

54%

28.5%

32%

Vacancies open
for at least 6 months
from 60% in 2017/18

6

Sickness absence

5.4%

same as 2017/18

Vacancies open for
at least 3 months
from 30.3% in 2017/18

3

Staff turnover

6.4%

Vacancies open for
at least 3 months
from 29.4% in 2017/18

3

Workforce
aged over 55

down from 6.6% in 2017/18

55+
Territorial boards
Highest: 5.9% NHS Forth Valley
Lowest: 4.3% NHS Shetland

Territorial boards
Highest: 9.8% NHS Shetland
Lowest: 6.5% NHS Ayrshire and Arran

National boards
Highest:
8.6% NHS 24
8.3% State Hospital
7.8% Scottish Ambulance Service

National boards
Highest: 10.5% NHS Health Scotland
Lowest: 4.5% Scottish Ambulance
Service

Source: Audit Scotland using ISD workforce data and Scottish Government consolidated accounts, 2019

Page 106

22%

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 27

58. The Scottish Government’s ambition is for the NHS to provide more care in
the community than in acute hospitals. To support this ambition, the way that
care and treatment is delivered will change, and therefore the way that NHS
staff work will change too. There are examples of where roles have changed to
support different ways of working (Case studies 5 and 6).

Case study 5
Pharmacy First has been a success at NHS Forth Valley
NHS Forth Valley has evaluated its Pharmacy First service. This service aims to improve patients access
to treatment for certain conditions without the need to see a GP. This service is now available at all
community pharmacies, many of which are open at the weekend or evenings, when most GP practices
are closed.
Results found that between April 2017 and March 2019, pharmacists were able to provide treatment
for 83 per cent of consultations. Pharmacists referred just ten per cent of patients to their GP. The
remaining seven per cent of patients were given advice.
Service users were asked for feedback on the service and, of those who responded, 88 per cent
said that the pharmacist was able to help them fully, and 100 per cent rated the service excellent or
good. Pharmacists in Forth Valley also provided positive feedback on the service and, of the GPs
who responded, 53 per cent said that there had been a decrease in the number of patients seeking
treatment, as many conditions were covered by the Pharmacy First service.
Source: Evaluation of the pharmacy first extension service, NHS Forth Valley, April 2019

Case study 6
The Scottish Ambulance Service is helping to reduce demand for GP appointments
The Scottish Ambulance Service has been testing new ways of working as part of multidisciplinary
teams in primary care, to help safely reduce the demand for GP appointments. Paramedics assess
patients with urgent symptoms that need to be addressed before the next available GP appointment.
Initial results found that paramedics could safely assess and treat more than 65 per cent of requests for
GP home visits, reducing demand for GP appointments. Patient feedback has been very positive. It also
found that paramedics involved in this work brought additional expertise back to their 999 calls, with
more patients being treated at the scene, which reduced hospital admissions. The Scottish Ambulance
Service now plans to further develop this work and roll it out across the country.
Source: Scottish Ambulance Service, 2019

59. In 2018, the Scottish Government published the new General Medical Services
Contract, also known as the GP contract. It included plans to expand the role of
multidisciplinary teams in primary care, to ease GPs’ workload and improve patient
access to appropriate care. These teams will be based in GP practices and involve
pharmacists, advanced nurse practitioners, physiotherapists and others. It aims to
increase the role that GPs have in planning and delivering new health and social care
services. It also aims to increase the amount of time that they have available to care
for patients, particularly those with complex or difficult to diagnose conditions.
60. Our report NHS workforce planning - part 2
found that because of a lack
of primary care data, it is difficult to assess whether these aims are on track to be
achieved. Increasing the primary care workforce as planned will be a significant
challenge and any changes are likely to have an Page
impact 107
on other parts of the system.

28 |

Temporary staffing costs remain significant, and there is a wide variation
between boards
61. As a result of recruitment and retention issues, sickness absence and
pressures to meet waiting time targets, NHS boards supplement their workforce
by using temporary staff. In 2018/19, NHS boards spent £169.5 million on agency
staffing. This was a real-terms increase of 0.3 per cent since 2017/18 (Exhibit 12,
page 29).
Boards are working to reduce temporary staffing costs
62. The cost of temporary staffing is significant. Boards have carried out a range
of initiatives to reduce temporary staffing costs:
• In 2018/19, NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde developed a refreshed
campaign to recruit graduate nurses. It took a proactive approach to
meeting students and promoting the board. It provided graduates with
the opportunity to speak to senior nursing staff to learn more about the
organisation. The board recruited 458 newly qualified nurses through this
recruitment exercise, which filled most of its nursing vacancies. The board
saw a real terms reduction of 23.4 per cent in agency spending in 2018/19
compared with 2017/18.20
• NHS Grampian has expanded its recruitment to alternative roles. The board
has funded a considerable number of additional clinical development fellow,
advanced nurse practitioner and physician associate posts. These posts
can support areas that are struggling to recruit enough junior doctor posts
and can help to reduce the reliance on medical locums. The board also
recruited more than 100 nurses from Western Australia and is planning to
develop a more formal partnership with Western Australia. It has also been
promoting research and development opportunities, to attempt to attract
more people to work at NHS Grampian.
Withdrawing from the European Union is likely to exacerbate existing
workforce and cost pressures
63. There is considerable uncertainty around the potential impact of the UK's
withdrawal from the European Union (EU). The immediate areas of potential
impact for NHS boards include reduced access to medicines for certain
patient groups and increased costs of medicines and supplies. Higher costs
will compound the financial pressure on the NHS. In the longer term, there is
uncertainty about future immigration rules and the impact that this may have
on being able to attract applicants for vacancies. Professional bodies consider
that the number of applicants to the NHS from other EU countries has already
declined. This will place further strain on the NHS workforce.
64. The UK and Scottish Governments are leading and coordinating most of
the preparations. NHS National Services Scotland has played a central role in
contingency arrangements. In line with guidance from National Procurement,
NHS boards have not been holding increased stocks of drugs or medical
equipment. This is being managed at a UK-wide level.
65. Some boards have acted to strengthen their local arrangements to increase
resilience. Several boards, with their partners, have established assurance groups
to coordinate preparations, address risks where possible and keep their staff and
board members updated. NHS boards should factor any known workforce and
cost implications into their financial plans.

Page 108

Part 1. How the NHS in Scotland is performing | 29

Exhibit 12

Temporary staffing costs in 2018/19
In real terms, several boards reduced their spending on temporary staff. Spending on medical agency locums has
decreased but spending on agency and bank nurses continues to increase.

Medical locum

Nursing agency

Nursing bank

2014/15 – £72.8 million
2018/19 – £98.0 million

2014/15 – £17.1 million
2018/19 – £26.2 million

2014/15 – £138.8 million
2018/19 – £161.9 million

Peaked in 2016/17 at £114 million
and has reduced year-on-year since

Decreased in 2017/18 but
has reached its highest
so far in 2018/19

Continuing to rise year-on-year.
This is a more cost effective
option for health boards than
agency nurses

Compared with 2017/18 costs:

7

territorial boards reduced their agency
spending in 2018/19, in real terms

NHS Fife saw the largest
percentage increase in spending

20.6%

NHS Ayrshire and Arran
saw the largest percentage
decrease in spending

26.1%

£1.8 million
£3.0 million

Spending on agency staffing varied significantly
across NHS boards and varied by region:
North region
£43 per 1,000 population
East
£27 per 1,000 population
West
£23 per 1,000 population
Note:
North: Grampian, Highland, Orkney, Shetland, Tayside and Western Isles.
East: Borders, Fife and Lothian
West: Ayrshire and Arran, Dumfries and Galloway, Forth Valley, Greater Glasgow and Clyde and Lanarkshire
Sources: NHS Consolidated Accounts for the financial year 2018/19, Scottish Government, 2019; NHS Scotland workforce, ISD Scotland,
June 2019; Mid-year population estimates, National Records of Scotland, April 2019

Page 109

30 |

Part 2
Achieving a sustainable NHS

Key messages

1

The Scottish Government’s 2020 Vision is to change the way health
and social care services are delivered. The successful integration of
health and social care is essential for achieving this, but progress
has been slow and the aims of the 2020 Vision will not be achieved
on time. NHS boards are working on a significant number of local
improvement initiatives, but there is scope to consolidate this activity
to achieve larger-scale, system-wide reform. The Scottish Government
should identify and prioritise the initiatives that are most likely to
achieve the reform needed. It should use this information to develop its
new strategy for health and social care for 2020 onwards. Much more
work is also required to engage with local communities to inform and
co-design changes to services.

2

Reforming health and social care also means that changes to the NHS
workforce are required. To support this, the Scottish Government
needs a national, integrated, health and social care workforce plan.
This is overdue.

3

There has been significant turnover in senior leadership positions
across the NHS in Scotland, with 26 new appointments in 2018/19. The
Scottish Government has introduced a series of changes to improve
its approach to senior leadership recruitment and development. This is
a medium- to longer-term solution, and it is too soon to determine the
impact of these changes on stabilising senior leadership in the NHS.

4

The NHS needs to improve workplace culture. Following reports
of bullying and harassment and an independent review, the
Scottish Government has committed to implementing a series of
improvements. Boards are now required to provide assurance that they
are aware of the culture and behaviours in their organisation and have
plans to address any issues identified.

There has been long-term and consistent national policy direction
for health and social care integration, but progress has been slow
66. Since 2005 there have been several strategies and frameworks published by
the Scottish Government that aim to reform health and social care services across
Scotland (Exhibit 13, page 31). To achieve the Scottish Government’s vision to
change the way services are delivered, successful integration of health and social
care is urgently required and is a major priorityPage
across110
the whole system.

Part 2. Achieving a sustainable NHS | 31

Exhibit 13

A timeline of major Scottish Government health and social care policies and publications, 2005–16

2005

The Scottish Government published Delivering for Health
This first set out the aim to provide care that is quicker, more personal and closer to home.
It aimed to support more integrated working across health and social care, improve patient
pathways and develop a culture of teamwork and co-operation.

2009

The Scottish Government and COSLA published Improving Outcomes by
Shifting the Balance of Care Improvement Framework
It proposed ways that NHS boards and local authority partners could make better use of
resources across the health and social care system. It aimed to help them to better manage the
impact on acute hospitals of population growth, increase in the number of older people and
long-term conditions.

2011

The Scottish Government published its 2020 Vision
It set out the aim that by 2020 'everyone is able to live longer, healthier lives at home, or in a
homely setting’. Ambitions were to shift care from acute to community care, increase integrated
working focusing on prevention, anticipate care needs and support self-management of longterm conditions. It aimed to ensure people are discharged from hospital as soon as appropriate
with minimal risk of readmission.

2014

Integration legislation passed and introduced the mandate for change with
the establishment of Integration Authorities (IAs)
NHS boards need to work in close partnership with IAs and local authorities to plan together
how services that were once provided in hospital can be moved to the community. IAs are
responsible for planning, designing and commissioning primary care services. They are also
responsible for developing primary care improvement plans, in collaboration with NHS boards
and local GP subcommittees.

2015

The Scottish Government published the National Clinical Strategy
This highlighted areas where improvements would be necessary over the next five to ten years
across primary and acute care. Significant changes were required to ensure the NHS could
adapt to meet the needs of the population in the future.

2016

The Health and Social Care Delivery Plan set the direction required to make
hospital services more sustainable and available for those who need them in the future
It provided more guidance for health and social care services to change the way services are
delivered. It intended to increase the number of people that can be treated and cared for closer
to their home, where it is safe and appropriate to do so.

Sources: Delivering for Health, Scottish Executive, 2005; Improving outcomes by shifting the balance of care: improvement framework,
Scottish Government and COSLA, 2009; 2020 Vision, Scottish Government, 2011; The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act
2014, legislative framework for the integration of health and social care services in Scotland; The National Clinical Strategy for Scotland,
Scottish Government, 2015; Health and Social Care Delivery Plan, Scottish Government, December 2016

Page 111

32 |

67. Changing how healthcare services are accessed and delivered has been too
slow. In September 2018, the Scottish Government, NHS Scotland and COSLA
released a joint statement setting out a shared commitment to integration. It
clearly stated that the pace of integration needs to be stepped up. In our report,
Health and Social Care Integration: update on progress , we identified six
areas that IAs and their NHS and council partners need to address (Exhibit 14).

Exhibit 14

Features central to the success of integration

Features supporting integration

Collaborative
leadership
& building
relationships

Integrated
finances
and financial
planning

Effective
strategic
planning for
improvement

Agreed
governance &
accountability
arrangements

Ability &
willingness
to share
information

Source: Health and social care integration: update on progress, Audit Scotland, November 2018

68. In 2018/19, NHS boards’ external auditors reported on a range of challenges
to the progress of integration. These included the following:
• Several boards reported IA overspends, including NHS Ayrshire and Arran,
NHS Fife and NHS Forth Valley.
• There is a variation in the way that NHS boards work with IAs to plan
services and budgets. Some reported that agreements are not yet fully
implemented or are being renegotiated.
• There are workforce pressures, including the availability of key roles and
having the right skills and experience.
• There is difficulty in finding time to support reform and integration while
maintaining acute services.
69. As a result of concerns about the pace of health and social care integration,
the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport commissioned a review of progress.
This was conducted in late 2018. The Ministerial Strategic Group for Health and
Community Care (MSG) published their findings in February 2019 and set out
proposals for ensuring the success of integration.21 It set out its proposals under
the headings identified in Exhibit 14.
Page 112

Meaningful &
sustained
engagement

Part 2. Achieving a sustainable NHS | 33

70. Following publication of their review, the MSG issued a self-evaluation
template to be completed by health boards, councils and IAs. This aimed to
evaluate their current position in relation to the findings of the review. This
exercise will be repeated to demonstrate any progress made across the country.
Work needs to continue to implement the recommendations highlighted in our
report and the MSG review. The Scottish Government has appointed a dedicated
lead for this work.
There are examples of NHS boards working with partners to successfully
change the way that services are delivered
71. There are numerous innovative and successful examples of partnership
working across health and social care to change the way that services are
delivered. For example, NHS 24 works with Police Scotland and SAS to improve
the pathway for people in distress who contact these three organisations. It
also engaged with service users and those delivering services, to develop a
mental health hub, based on similar models in London and Cambridgeshire.
The hub aims to reduce the proportion of people experiencing mental health
issues that are referred to emergency services. Early results show that it has
been successful, with less than ten per cent of these cases being referred on to
emergency services. Case study 7 shows how SAS is working with NHS 24 to
reduce the demand on emergency departments.

Case study 7
SAS is collaborating with NHS 24 to improve patient triage
SAS has been working with NHS 24 to improve the way patients are assessed and treated. Many people
making 999 calls are experiencing symptoms relating to long-term conditions that may not always
require hospital care or admission. SAS and NHS 24 worked with NHS boards and IAs to develop new
pathways of care. These pathways are designed to deal with the immediate issue and minimise the risk
of future emergencies.
As a result, more patients are being safely managed either within the ambulance control centre or in the
community by paramedics, without having to attend A&E. In June 2019, 37 per cent of incidents were
managed by paramedics or through the control centre. This compares with 32 per cent of incidents in
April 2017.
Good progress is being made, but there is variation across Scotland in the rate of patients being taken
to emergency departments. SAS is focusing on reducing this variation. It is working with IAs and GP
clusters to develop local solutions with local communities, in line with the principles of realistic medicine.
Source: Scottish Ambulance Service, 2019

The potential of digital technology is not yet being maximised
72. In April 2018, the Scottish Government published a new digital health and
care strategy.22 The strategy sets out national digital priorities for the next decade
that aim to support the transformation of health and social care delivery. These
include making use of new technologies to:
• share patient information across health and social care boundaries
• improve patient safety and the coordination of care
• support the redesign of services
• build workforce capability.

Page 113

34 |

73. The Scottish Government is developing a new health and social care digital
platform. The platform intends to improve access to health records where and
when they are needed across acute, primary and community care. New ways of
working using new technologies will also be tested, such as virtual clinics and the
remote monitoring of chronic illnesses.
74. Work to implement the strategy is at an early stage. It requires collaboration
between the Scottish Government, NHS boards and local government, and
governance arrangements are being established to monitor progress. We will
continue to monitor developments as part of our ongoing work programme.
75. There are examples of good work across Scotland to make the most of the
technology that is currently available to improve patient care. The implementation
of the electronic frailty index tool is an example of this (Case study 8).

Case study 8
The Living Well in Communities (LWiC) team is improving the identification and
management of people with frailty
The LWiC team in Healthcare Improvement Scotland’s improvement hub has developed preventative
support for people with frailty in the community. It uses an electronic frailty index (eFI) to identify
people with frailty before they reach crisis point. The eFI is available to GP practices through a
national IT (information technology) system known as the Scottish Primary Care Information
Resource (SPIRE). GP practices using SPIRE can now identify their frail population enabling them
to better direct and manage their healthcare needs. During the summer of 2019, the LWiC team
supported 19 health and social care partnerships across Scotland to implement the eFI. This could
lead to more care being provided in the community rather than in acute hospitals and improve the
quality of life of people with frailty.
Source: Healthcare Improvement Scotland, 2019

More work needs to be done to engage with local communities when
making changes to health and social care services
76. We have previously reported that the NHS in Scotland needs to be more
open, by improving public reporting and the way that the community is involved
in planning and designing changes to services.
77. In 2019, NHS boards completed the blueprint for good governance selfassessments.23 These identified that engagement with stakeholders required
further development across several boards. It found that boards need to develop
more effective communication and engagement strategies. The approach to
community engagement was inconsistent, with some boards reporting that they
needed more clarity around expectations. Some boards reported that improved
guidance was needed to support better dialogue and inclusion of the community
in decision-making.
78. The Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015 sets the requirement
for all public bodies to work alongside their stakeholders when making decisions
about what services are delivered and where.24 Working in partnership with the
community aims to support the co-design of services and improve outcomes.
This is particularly important for marginalised community groups. There is still
much work to be done to meet the requirements
of 114
the Act with many boards
Page
still developing engagement strategies.

Part 2. Achieving a sustainable NHS | 35

79. The Place Principle, recently introduced by the Scottish Government
and COSLA, aims to support collaboration and co-design of places in the
community.25 It supports inclusiveness and sustainable outcomes. Planning
and working together with the community is vital to ensure a positive, shared
understanding and agreement on future community developments.
80. In November 2018, the Scottish Government commissioned an independent
review of how NHS Lanarkshire had planned for the redevelopment of Monklands
Hospital. Concerns had been raised by elected representatives and members
of the public about the level of community engagement and consultation. There
were also concerns about the quality of the information used in the planning
process, particularly around identifying possible new sites for the hospital. The
review found that NHS Lanarkshire had carried out their planning and consultation
process well, and in line with existing guidance. Nonetheless, to restore public
confidence and trust, it recommended that for the redevelopment, they should
follow the Place Principle to create a shared vision with the local community.26
81. NHS boards should incorporate the Community Empowerment Act principles
into their communication and engagement strategies.27 This will enable a more
mature approach to involvement and improve trust and confidence within the
community. Providing a range of community groups with a voice will allow a
more informed and open conversation about the design and delivery of public
services to meet local needs.
The development of a national, integrated health and social care
workforce plan is overdue
82. Between June 2017 and April 2018, the Scottish Government published
three workforce plans, covering the NHS, social care and primary care.28,29,30 It
also intended to develop, with COSLA, a national integrated health and social
care workforce plan. This was due to be published in 2018 but has been delayed
until 2019.
83. IAs have been expected to provide health and social care workforce plans
since 2017/18. These should include information about the existing workforce
across their health and social care partnership, the expected workforce required
in the future and an analysis of workforce supply and demand trends. Not all IAs,
however, have produced a plan.
84. Health and social care reform incudes changes in the way that care is
delivered and by whom. To support planning for a different type of workforce,
broader analysis is required. This should identify:
• what roles will be needed and how many
• where they are needed and what skills and training are necessary
• what these changes to the workforce will cost.
85. Acute hospitals and primary and community care services continue to face
increasing workforce shortages. It is unclear if commitments to increase the
number of GPs and create new multidisciplinary primary care teams can be
achieved in the timescales expected. This is in addition to maintaining acute
hospital services and establishing new elective centres. The Scottish Government
needs to publish the national, integrated health and social care workforce plan and
guidance to inform workforce planning.
Page 115

36 |

The Scottish Government should develop a new strategy for
health and social care that identifies priorities to support largescale, system-wide reform
86. The Scottish Government’s 2020 Vision is to provide more care closer to
home and reduce demand for acute hospital services. This aims to improve
patient experience and help achieve the longer-term financial sustainability of
the NHS. The successful integration of health and social care is essential for
achieving this vision. However, progress has been slow, and the aims of the 2020
Vision are unlikely to be achieved by 2020. NHS boards have been working on
a significant number of local improvement projects that may or may not have
contributed to these aims.
87. The Scottish Government should identify and prioritise which initiatives
are most likely to achieve the level of large-scale reform needed. It should use
this information to develop a new strategy for health and social care for 2020
onwards. Spreading successful improvements to support the delivery of a new
strategy is not always straight forward. NHS boards need to consider how these
initiatives will fit within their local circumstances. This can include the need for
additional skills and the development of new relationships. Cultural change may
also be required to accept new ways of working.31 NHS boards should be able to
demonstrate how they are meeting the priorities of the new strategy and should
report progress regularly to the Scottish Government.

The Scottish Government and boards still have work to do to
improve NHS governance
88. Each NHS board is responsible for ensuring that health services are delivered
safely, efficiently and effectively. To support this, NHS boards must have good
governance arrangements in place that provide sufficient scrutiny and assurance
of financial and operational performance. This year, external auditors found that
most NHS boards had adequate governance arrangements in place but found
recurring areas of concern. These included the capability and capacity of board
members, commitment to transparency, and the quality and timing of information
provided for board committee meetings. The Scottish Government is carrying
out a range of work aimed at strengthening governance arrangements in NHS
boards. This includes piloting a standardised review of corporate governance –
NHS Scotland’s A Blueprint for Good Governance – published in February 2019.32
89. The blueprint for good governance intends to provide support for NHS board
directors to better fulfil their oversight and decision-making role. It aims to create
stronger systems and processes for effective scrutiny of performance. The first
step in the framework was for NHS boards to conduct a self-assessment to
provide a baseline of performance and to identify where improvements were
needed. The self-assessment covered five functions of good governance.
These are setting the direction, holding to account, assessing risk, engaging
stakeholders and influencing culture.
90. Results showed that most boards scored themselves as performing well or
exceptionally well across all five functions. Boards have developed action plans to
address areas for improvement. NHS boards will provide six-monthly reports to
the Scottish Government on progress against their agreed action plans. Themes
for improvement include:

Page 116

Part 2. Achieving a sustainable NHS | 37

• board member induction, skills and ongoing training and development
• strengthening risk management arrangements
• standardising corporate governance documents
• improving the timing and quality of reports that are submitted to the board.
91. The national-level work to support improvement is being managed via three
workstreams:
• corporate governance systems
• attraction and recruitment
• retention and development.
92. The blueprint recommends the independent validation of NHS boards
in addition to the self-assessments. It is expected that all boards will be
independently reviewed over a three-year period. The Scottish Government
is currently considering options for the most appropriate way for this to be
conducted. The Scottish Government Corporate Governance Steering Group is
overseeing activity relating to the framework and workstreams.

The lack of stable leadership in the NHS is impeding reform
93. There has been a significant turnover of senior leadership positions during
2018/19. Exhibit 15 outlines some of these key changes.

Exhibit 15

Changes in senior leadership appointments across the NHS in Scotland 2018/19

22 NHS boards

5 chief executives

NHS Grampian, Highland, Orkney, Tayside, and National Waiting
Times Centre

26 new

9 board chairs

senior leadership positions

6 new directors of finance

appointments

NHS Borders (interim), Grampian, Highland (interim), Shetland,
Tayside (interim), Western Isles, Scottish Ambulance Service,
NHS Education for Scotland and National Waiting Times Centre

NHS Forth Valley, Highland (interim), Orkney (interim), Tayside,
Western Isles and Scottish Ambulance Service

6 new medical directors

NHS Fife, Lanarkshire, Shetland (interim), Tayside (interim),
National Services Scotland and NHS 24
Source: NHS boards' annual audit reports, 2019

Page 117

38 |

94. At October 2019, over half of NHS boards in Scotland have senior leaders
holding dual positions. Typically, this involves only one member of each board’s
senior leadership team, although three members of the NHS Grampian Executive
Team held positions at NHS Tayside during 2018/19. At NHS Shetland, auditors
were concerned that three members of the leadership team found managing dual
roles challenging, as responsibilities continue to increase.
95. NHS boards are finding it difficult to recruit future leaders. It often takes a
long time to appoint people to these positions. Vacancies, interim roles and short
tenure can lead to short-term decision-making. This can affect the level of reform
and the effective working relationships needed across NHS Scotland. The NHS
Leadership Academy suggests that chief executives should stay in post for at
least five years, to give organisations the stability they need for effective strategic
planning. It is also considered that new chief executives can take 15-32 months
to transition into their role.33
The Scottish Government has improved its approach to senior leadership
recruitment and development
96. Greater collaboration and partnership working are needed to support health
and social care integration and to improve staff engagement and workplace
culture. The Scottish Government recognised that to achieve this, a different style
of leadership was required. This was an important factor in the creation of its
new leadership development programme called Project Lift.
97. Project Lift has introduced a series of changes that have been progressed
over the past two years.34 Project Lift focuses on building positive relationships,
respect and kindness. It intends to help people work together more effectively
across health and social care services, communities, local authorities and the third
sector to improve outcomes. The changes include the following:
• Values-based recruitment: this is a multi-stage recruitment process that
includes a competency-based application form, and psychometric tests that
are independently analysed and used to set questions for interview and role
play. A one-year evaluation is under way and will include feedback from
candidates. This process has been extended from only the recruitment of
board chairs to now include board members and executive directors.
• A new approach to appraisal: for chairs and deputy chairs, this aims to
include 360-degree appraisal by March 2020. The Scottish Government
is planning to extend this to non-executive directors. This process aims to
support improvements recommended in A Blueprint for Good Governance
and the Sturrock review.
• A stronger process for induction and professional development: this has
been introduced for new non-executive directors and chairs, and NHS
Education for Scotland provides mentoring and coaching opportunities.
• A new talent management process: this has been established to help
identify and develop future leaders. Individuals complete an online selfassessment and are invited to participate in a supported process of
personal and leadership development. Over 1,500 staff from across
Scotland have registered with this programme since its launch in 2018.
• Improved engagement across health and social care and the wider public
sector: this has included leadership learning events and support to build
relationships and cross system, collaborative working.

Page 118

Part 2. Achieving a sustainable NHS | 39

98. Project Lift aims to resolve future recruitment challenges. The Scottish
Government should continue to monitor the effectiveness of the initiatives and
their impact on recruitment and retention of senior healthcare leaders. However,
this is a medium- to long-term solution and there is an immediate need to fill
existing senior leadership vacancies on a substantive basis.

The NHS needs to improve its workplace culture
99. In 2013, the Scottish Government published its Everyone Matters: 2020
Workforce Vision. It set out the commitment to put people at the heart of
delivering high-quality care, to value the workforce and to treat people well .
100. In September 2018, four senior doctors from NHS Highland publicly
reported problems with bullying and harassment. They reported a long-standing
culture of fear and intimidation and an environment where concerns could not be
raised in an open and transparent way. As a result of this the Cabinet Secretary
for Health and Sport commissioned an independent review to further explore the
matters raised.
101. John Sturrock QC published his review in April 2019.35 There was extensive
engagement, with input from around 300 NHS Highland staff. Many reported
that they had experienced some form of bullying, harassment or inappropriate
behaviour that was considered significant and harmful. The review made
important immediate and longer-term recommendations that also have wider
implications for the NHS in Scotland. We expect all boards and the Scottish
Government to respond actively and positively. The recommendations included:
• a requirement for person-centred leadership
• working in partnership and engaging with staff at all levels
• improvements in governance
• improvements in the management of human resources processes.
102. The Scottish Government has committed to supporting improvements
across NHS Scotland as a result of the Sturrock review.36 Several initiatives are
being put in place to support a safe, open and honest workplace culture. These
include the following:
• The establishment of a ministerial-led short-life working group to ensure
that the recommendations from the report are implemented.
• A review of all workplace policies, including bullying and harassment,
conduct, and grievance and the development of a single workforce
investigation policy.
• The formation of new legislation to establish an Independent National
Whistleblowing Officer for NHS Scotland. This will form part of the
Scottish Public Services Ombudsman role and will have the authority to
investigate the way that whistleblowing complaints are handled and will
make recommendations and report to the Scottish Parliament.
• Each NHS board appoints a whistleblowing champion as part of the role of
one of their non-executive directors. Page 119

NHS Scotland
values
– Care and
compassion
–D
 ignity and respect
–O
 penness, honesty
and responsibility
–Q
 uality and
teamwork

40 |

103. The Scottish Government is seeking assurance that all boards are
considering the outcomes and recommendations from the Sturrock review. Given
the importance of this issue across NHS Scotland, the Scottish Government
should ensure that all NHS boards:
• provide evidence that they actively promote positive workplace behaviours
and encourage reporting of bullying and harassment
• have action plans in place to improve culture, address any issues identified
and use the findings of the Sturrock review to inform continual cultural
improvement.
104. The Scottish Government should consider what it can do to support NHS
boards with this and whether a national cultural reform programme is required.
Senior leaders should consider how they can improve engagement with
front-line staff
105. The everyone matters: 2020 workforce vision led to the introduction of the
iMatter survey in 2015.37 This staff experience survey was designed to help
individuals, teams and health boards understand the extent to which employees
feel motivated, supported and cared for at work.
106. The response rate for the 2018 survey was 59 per cent.38 This was less than
the response rate in 2017, at 63 per cent. An employee engagement index (EEI)
score is provided when there is a response rate of 60 per cent. Therefore, a national
EEI score for health and social care was not published as part of the national report.
In 2018, 13 boards, only five of which were territorial, received an organisational EEI
score compared with 19 in 2017. The Scottish Government has commissioned an
independent academic review to identify reasons for the reduction in response rate
and to recommend ways to improve participation.
107. The results of the 2018 national report showed that staff were clear about
their work and had confidence in their line manager. Areas that were rated lower
included how well staff were involved in decision-making and the visibility of
senior leaders. The areas where responses scored lowest align with some of the
important leadership and cultural issues discussed in this report.
108. The iMatter survey does not contain questions specifically relating to
culture such as bullying and harassment. This is covered in the biennial Dignity
at Work Survey, last conducted in 2017.39 Those results showed an increase in the
proportion of staff experiencing bullying. Nine per cent of staff experienced bullying
from their manager compared with eight per cent in 2015. Fifteen per cent of staff
experienced bullying from a colleague compared with 13 per cent in 2015.
109. The Scottish Government should consider incorporating questions relating to
organisational culture and behaviour within a single annual staff survey. This will
enable the Scottish Government to monitor staff experience and the status of
organisational culture and behaviour across the NHS. This will also avoid the
requirement to conduct, analyse and report on two separate surveys. There are
examples of public-sector surveys that include a combination of such questions.

Page 120

Endnotes | 41

Endnotes
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39

Audit Scotland using the draft budget for 2019/20, Scottish Government, December 2018; Mid-year population estimates,
National Records of Scotland, April 2019.
Draft budget for 2019/20, Scottish Government, December 2018.
Scottish Government Medium-Term Health and Social Care Financial Framework, Scottish Government, October 2018.
The 2020 Vision published by the Scottish Government set out the aim that everyone is able to live longer and healthier lives at
home or in a homely setting.
Audit Scotland using NHS consolidated accounts for financial years 2016/17-2018/19, Scottish Government, 2019.
NHS board local delivery plans and annual operational plans 2015/16-2019/20.
NHS consolidated accounts for financial year 2018/19, Scottish Government, 2019.
NHS Scotland 2018-19 consolidated financial reporting to 31 March 2019, Scottish Government, May 2019.
Based on data reported in NHS in Scotland 2018 , Auditor General, October 2018.
New facilities will be established in Golden Jubilee National Hospital, NHS Highland, NHS Lothian, NHS Grampian, NHS Tayside
and NHS Forth Valley.
NRAC parity status, Technical Advisory Group on Resource Allocation, 2019.
Scottish Budget 2019-20: Level 4 data, Scottish Parliament Information Centre (SPICe).
Waiting Times Improvement Plan, Scottish Government, October 2018.
Inpatient Experience Survey, Scottish Government, January 2019.
www.scottishpatientsafetyprogramme.scot.nhs.uk/
Reducing surgical mortality in Scotland by use of the WHO Surgical Safety Checklist. BJS 2019; 106: 1005-1011.
Deteriorating patient workstream update, ihub, Healthcare Improvement Scotland, March 2019.
Healthcare Associated Infection Annual Report 2018, Health Protection Scotland, May 2019.
Generic prescribing, ISD Scotland, July 2019.
NHS Scotland workforce , ISD Scotland, June 2019..
The Ministerial Strategic Group for Health and Community Care: Review of progress with integration of health and social care –
Final Report, Scottish Government and COSLA, February 2019.
Scotland’s digital health and care strategy, Scottish Government, April 2018.
A Blueprint for Good Governance, NHS Scotland, January 2019.
Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015.
Place Principle introduction: www.gov.scot/publications/place-principle-introduction/
An independent review of the process followed by NHS Lanarkshire Monklands Replacement /Refurbishment Project, Institute
of Health and Wellbeing, University of Glasgow, June 2019.
Principles for community empowerment , Auditor General, July 2019.
National health and social care workforce plan: part 1, Scottish Government, June 2017.
National health and social care workforce plan: part 2, Scottish Government, December 2018.
National health and social care workforce plan: part 3, Scottish Government, April 2018.
The spread challenge, The Health Foundation, September 2018.
A Blueprint for Good Governance, NHS Scotland, January 2019.
Leadership in today’s NHS: delivering the impossible, The Kings Fund, July 2018.
Putting people at the heart of leadership in health and care in Scotland: Project Lift Progress Report, Scottish Government, June 2019.
Report to the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport into cultural issues related to allegations of bullying and harassment in NHS
Highland, John Sturrock QC, April 2019.
The Scottish Government response to the Sturrock Review into cultural issues related to allegations of bullying and harassment in
NHS Highland, Scottish Government, May 2019.
Everyone matters: 2020 workforce vision, Scottish Government, 2013.
Health and social care staff experience report 2018, Scottish Government, February 2019.
Page
121 March 2018.
Health and social care staff experience: report 2017, Scottish
Government,

42 |

Appendix 1
Audit methodology

This is our annual report on how the NHS in Scotland is performing. Our audit
assessed how well the NHS managed its finances and performance against
targets in 2018/19 and how well the NHS is adapting for the future.
Our findings are based on evidence from sources that include:
• the audited annual accounts and auditors' reports on the 2018/19 audits of
the 22 NHS boards
• Audit Scotland's national performance audits
• NHS boards' Annual Operational Plans which set out how boards intend to
deliver services to meet performance indicators and targets, and indicative
spending plans for the next three years
• activity and performance data published by ISD Scotland, part of NHS
National Services Scotland
• publicly available data and information on the NHS in Scotland including
results from staff and patient surveys
• interviews with senior officials in the Scottish Government and a sample of
NHS boards.
We reviewed service performance information at a national and board level. Our
aim was to present the national picture and highlight any significant variances
between boards. We focused on a sample of key targets and standards,
covering some of the main activities of the NHS. Where we have used trend
information, we have selected a time period where information is most
comparable. Information about the financial performance of the NHS is included
in Appendix 2 (page 43).

Page 122

Appendix 2. Financial performance 2018/19 by NHS board | 43

Appendix 2
Financial performance 2018/19
by NHS board

Core revenue
outturn
(£m)

Total savings
made –
Annual Audit
Report (£m)

Non-recurring
savings in
Annual Audit
Report (%)

Ayrshire and Arran

796.6

32.0

43

-0.8

Borders

237.7

15.2

56

1.1

Dumfries and Galloway

343.2

17.3

74

2.8

Fife

706.8

20.0

80

-0.8

Forth Valley

568.8

18.4

38

-0.8

Grampian

1,035.1

17.3

72

-0.8

Greater Glasgow and Clyde

2,404.3

93.0

60

1.8

714.6

26.2

36

-0.8

Lanarkshire

1,271.9

28.8

40

-0.8

Lothian

1,535.1

27.1

44

-0.8

Orkney

58.7

2.9

98

-0.4

Shetland

59.3

3.8

58

-0.4

Tayside

848.7

32.0

34

-0.8

Western Isles

83.8

2.2

55

11.3

National Waiting Times Centre

71.1

4.3

35

NHS 24

65.0

2.1

35

464.4

14.6

52

19.5

0.4

0

466.9

18.5

23

29.4

2.6

78

251.8

9.9

29

32.8

1.8

80

Board

Highland

NHS Education Scotland
NHS Health Scotland
NHS National Services Scotland
Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Scottish Ambulance Service
The State Hospital

NRAC: distance
from parity
(%)

Source: Scottish Government Consolidated accounts, 2019. Annual Audit Reports and Financial Performance Reports, 2019. Information
on NRAC parity by board, Technical Advisory Group for Resource Allocation, 2019

Page 123

44 |

Appendix 3
Annual performance against key waiting
times standards in 2018/19 by NHS board

18 weeks
referral to
treatment time

A&E attendees
seen within
four hours

CAMHS patients
seen within
18 weeks

Patients
starting cancer
treatment
within 31 days
of decision

standard = 90%

standard = 95%

standard = 90%

standard = 95%

Ayrshire and Arran

79.0

92.2

92.3

98.9

Borders

90.4

93.6

56.9

100.0

Dumfries and Galloway

89.0

92.6

85.1

96.8

Fife

79.0

95.2

76.0

95.6

Forth Valley

83.4

86.1

70.8

96.8

Grampian

65.0

94.4

44.3

91.6

Greater Glasgow and Clyde

84.4

90.3

80.7

94.6

Highland

80.7

96.5

82.3

93.9

Lanarkshire

85.7

90.8

70.9

98.6

Lothian

72.0

85.9

62.8

94.3

Orkney

93.1

95.7

95.0

96.2

Shetland

83.6

96.3

95.0

98.5

Tayside

76.3

97.5

43.5

92.7

Western Isles

90.7

98.9

95.0

100.0

Scotland

80.2

91.2

70.7

95.0

Health board

Standard met

Standard missed

Page 124

Appendix 3. Annual performance against key waiting times standards in 2018/19 by NHS board | 45

Patients
starting cancer
treatment
within 62 days
of referral

Outpatients
waiting less
than 12 weeks
following first
referral

Day case or
inpatients who
waited less than
12 weeks for
treatment

Drug and
alcohol patients
seen within
three weeks

standard = 95%

standard = 95%

standard = 100%

standard = 90%

Ayrshire and Arran

84.6

82.4

83.9

98.6

Borders

93.3

96.8

78.4

95.3

Dumfries and Galloway

92.0

95.9

83.7

94.6

Fife

85.4

98.2

70.5

96.5

Forth Valley

81.8

88.2

60.3

98.4

Grampian

78.9

64.9

54.7

91.4

Greater Glasgow and Clyde

77.1

74.6

77.3

94.8

Highland

80.3

84.7

57.7

87.8

Lanarkshire

95.9

89.7

63.3

97.9

Lothian

81.0

65.1

77.2

80.5

Orkney

89.2

78.9

83.0

97.9

Shetland

78.2

71.2

88.1

96.0

Tayside

84.8

62.7

67.5

90.6

Western Isles

83.3

91.6

100.0

89.3

Scotland

82.5

75.0

72.2

93.6

Health board

Standard met

Standard missed

Sources: Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services: waiting times, workforce and service demand, ISD Scotland, June 2019;
National drug and alcohol treatment waiting times, ISD Scotland, June 2019; 18 weeks referral to treatment: ISD Scotland, May 2019;
New outpatient appointment: waiting times for patients waiting at month end, census date at 31 March 2019, ISD Scotland, May 2019;
Inpatient or day case admission: waiting times for patients seen, ISD Scotland, May 2019; Accident and emergency: attendances and
time in department, ISD Scotland, June 2019; Performance against the 62-day standard from receipt of an urgent referral with suspicion
of cancer to first treatment by NHS board, ISD Scotland, June 2019; Performance against the 31-day standard from date decision to treat
to first cancer treatment by NHS board, ISD Scotland, June 2019

Page 125

NHS in Scotland 2019
This report is available in PDF and RTF formats,
along with a podcast summary at:
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk
If you require this publication in an alternative
format and/or language, please contact us to
discuss your needs: 0131 625 1500
or info@audit-scotland.gov.uk
For the latest news, reports
and updates, follow us on:

Audit Scotland, 4th Floor, 102 West Port, Edinburgh EH3 9DN
T: 0131 625 1500 E: info@audit-scotland.gov.uk
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk
ISBN 978 1 913287 10 8

AGS/2019/7

Page 126

